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18 February 2019 NOTICE
PDN(2019)0006

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE NOTICE

Public Disclosure of Current NATO Information
IBAN Audits of Financial Statements of
the New NATO Headquarters

Reference: (a) C-M(2018)0076-AS1

1. On 21 December 2018, the Council approved, under silence procedure in reference
(a), the public disclosure of the Resource Policy and Planning Board (RPPB) report
attached to C-M(2018)0076, the redacted 2017, 2016 and 2015 financial
statements of the new NATO Headquarters and the associated IBAN audit reports
(IBA-A(2018)0092; IBA-A(2018)0008, and IBA-A(2018)0007).

(Signed)
Ineke Deserno
NATO Archivist

Action Officer: Nicholas Nguyen
Original: English
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10 December 2018 NOTICE
AC/335-N(2018)0050-AS1

RESOURCE POLICY AND PLANNING BOARD

IBAN AUDIT ON THE 2017, 2016 AND 2015 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE NEW
NATO HEADQUARTERS (NNHQ)

ACTION SHEET

Note by the Secretary

On 10 December 2018, under the silence procedure, the RPPB approved the report
at Annex 1 to AC/335-N(2018)0050 for consideration by the Council.

(Signed) L. HAYES

Note:  This Action Sheet is part of and should be attached to the subject Notice as the top sheet.

Original: English
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03 December 2018 NOTICE
AC/335-N(2018)0050

Silence Procedure ends:

10 Dec 2018 17:00

RESOURCE POLICY AND PLANNING BOARD

IBAN AUDIT ON THE 2017, 2016 AND 2015 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE NEW
NATO HEADQUARTERS (NNHQ)

Note by the Chairman

1. | attach a draft RPPB report on the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN)
audits of the 2017, 2016 and 2015 financial statements of NNHQ. The IBAN audits set out
unqualified opinions on both the 2017 financial statements and compliance for NNHQ and
gualified opinions on the financial statements and compliance for financial years 2015 and
2016.

2. | do not believe this report requires formal discussion in the RPPB. Agreement to
this report will therefore be assumed unless comments to the contrary are received by 17:00
on Monday 10 December 2018 after which it will be submitted to Council for notation and
approval of the RPPB’s recommendations on public disclosure.

(Signed) Marek Powalski

1 Annex Action Officer: R. Green, Ext. 4324
Original: English
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IBAN AUDIT ON THE 2017, 2016 AND 2015 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE NEW
NATO HEADQUARTERS (NNHQ)

Report by the Resource Policy and Planning Board (RPPB)

References:

A. IBA-A(2018)0092 IBAN Audit on the 2017 Financial Statements of NNHQ

B. IBA-A(2018)0008 IBAN Audit on the 2016 Financial Statements of NNHQ

C. IBA-A(2018)0007 IBAN Audit on the 2015 Financial Statements of NNHQ
INTRODUCTION

1. This report covers the audits of the 2017, 2016 and 2015 financial statements of

NNHQ submitted by the IBAN (reference A-C) which set out unqualified opinions on the
financial statements and compliance for financial year 2017 and qualified opinions on the
financial statements and compliance for financial years 2015 and 2016.

OBSERVATIONS

2. 2017 Audit Report: The IBAN found that significant progress was made by NNHQ
in 2017: only one observation was identified by IBAN and all four observations from previous
years were settled. The new observation in 2017 was that estimates of accrued expenses
provided by Belgium’s Project Management Team (PMT) were unreliable. The IBAN noted
the amount initially reported by the PMT, €40.8 million of expenses incurred during 2017,
but not yet billed to NNHQ, was incorrect. The amount was later reduced by the PMT to
€28.8 million and corrected by the International Staff (IS) Office of the Financial Controller
(OFC). The IBAN recommends the OFC obtain supporting documentation to substantiate
the estimates of accrued expenses provided by the PMT.

3. The IS FC projects this observation will be settled with the issuance of the 2018
financial statements.

4, 2016 and 2015 Audit Reports: The IBAN did not identify any new observations in its
audit on the 2016 financial statements. The audit opinion on the 2016 restated financial
statements was qualified due to the lack of reliability and comparability of the 2015 financial
data included in the 2016 financial statements. Four observations remained outstanding
and two of these continued to impact the audit opinion on compliance. The IS Financial
Controller agreed with all the recommendations proposed by the IBAN.

4.1. During the audit on the 2015 financial statements the IBAN made five observations;
one of which affected the audit opinion on both the financial statements and on compliance;
three other observations impacted the audit opinion on compliance; and one observation did
not impact the audit opinion.

4.2. The main problem the IBAN encountered during the audit on the 2015 financial
statements, and the observation that impacted the audit opinion on the financial statements
and on compliance, was the inability to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to
enable the IBAN to conclude that the financial statements were free from material
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misstatement. The IBAN also found material differences between the financial statements
and the balances reported in the new Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system that was
just being introduced by the IS at the time. The IBAN was provided with better details and
information for the 2016 financial statements but highlighted that problems remained with
the lack of full transparency and availability of the accounting data for all accounting
transactions in the ERP system. In particular, the IBAN found that there was no multi-level
review process to ensure overall quality of the financial statements and their compliance
with applicable reporting frameworks.

4.3. The specific accounting issues identified by the IBAN in the audit on the 2015
financial statements were largely due to challenges encountered during the first months of
use of the new ERP system. The issues identified by the IBAN were taken into account by
the IS OFC and adjustments were made in 2016 and 2017.

4.4, The IBAN identified three observations that impacted the audit opinion on
compliance on the 2015 financial statements. Firstly, the financial statements were not
issued within the timeframe required in the NATO Financial Regulations. The 2016 financial
statements were also issued late. Secondly, no statement of internal control (SIC) was
issued with the 2015 financial statements; this observation was settled as a SIC was issued
with the 2016 financial statements. Thirdly, the IBAN found the IS did not perform monthly
reconciliations of cash balances between the accounting system and bank statements
during 2015; this continued to be an audit observation and a basis for qualification on
compliance on the 2016 financial statements.

4.5. Additionally, the IBAN found significant delays in providing required information for
the conduct of the audit. This observation did not impact the audit opinion.

DISCUSSION

5. The RPPB is pleased with the progress made by NNHQ from 2015 to 2017. The IS
OFC has come a long way: implementing the ERP system, training and recruiting the
appropriate staff, and effectively updating the financial reporting processes. The RPPB
notes the improvements made in several areas in comparison with the weaknesses outlined
in the audits on the 2015 and 2016 financial statements (reference B and C).

CONCLUSION

6. The issues identified by the IBAN in their audit on the 2015 and 2016 financial
statements of the New NATO Headquarters were primarily due to challenges involved in
ERP implementation and persistent staffing issues in the Office of the Financial Controller.
The challenges associated with ERP implementation were steadily addressed. No new
audit issues were identified by the IBAN in the 2016 financial statements which present fairly
the financial position of the New NATO Headquarters as of 31 December 2016, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended. One new observation was
identified in 2017, but it did not impact the audit opinion and was largely out of the control of
the Office of the Financial Controller. The IBAN issued NNHQ unqualified opinions on the
financial statements and on compliance for financial year 2017.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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RECOMMENDATIONS

7. The RPPB recommends that Council:

7.1. note the IBAN reports at references A-C;
7.2. endorse the conclusion at paragraph 6; and,

7.3. agree to the public disclosure of this report, the redacted 2017, 2016 and 2015
financial statements of NNHQ and associated IBAN audit reports.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS
COLLEGE INTERNATIONAL DES COMMISSAIRES AUX COMPTES
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OTAN |BA-A(2018)0632

27 August 2018

To: Secretary General
(Attn: Director of the Private Office)

Cc: Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division
Financial Controller, International Staff (IS)
Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board (RPPB)
Branch Head, Plans and Policy Branch, NATO Office of Resources (NOR)
Private Office Registry

Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) Auditor’s Report and
Letter of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the New
NATO Headquarters (NNHQ) Restated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2017 - IBA-AR(2018)0026

The Board submits herewith its approved Auditor’'s Report (Annex 2) and Letter
of Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to
the Council (Annex 1).

The Board’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the restated financial
statements of the New NATO Headquarters and on compliance for the financial year 2017.

Yours sincerely,

(Signed) Hervé-Adrien Metzger
Chairman

Attachments: As stated above.

Boulevard Léopold T1I - B-1110 Bruxelles - Belgique
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 41 11
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Summary Note for Council
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board)
on the audit of the Restated Financial Statements of the
New NATO Headquarters (NNHQ)
for the year ended 31 December 2017

At the Washington Summit, in April 1999, the Heads of State and Government of NATO
countries formally decided to build a new NATO Headquarters in Brussels to meet the
Alliance’s needs in the twenty-first century. The North Atlantic Council, upon
recommendation of the Civil Budget Committee, approves the budget for the new NATO
Headquarters. It is funded from national contributions based on a specific cost-share
agreement among the NATO nations.

The total overall budget is EUR 1.179 billion

Budget authorisations for 2017 totalled EUR 148.5 million, of which EUR 86.2 million
relates to the 2017 budget and EUR 62.4 million relates to credits brought-forward from
prior year budgets.

The total valuation of the New NATO Headquarters under construction as of 31 December
2017 was recorded for an amount of EUR 1,060 million.

The Board issued an unqualified opinion on the New NATO Headquarters Restated
Financial Statements and on compliance for the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the audit, the Board made one observation with recommendation. This
observation does not impact the audit opinion.

1. Unreliable estimate of accrued expenses from Host Nation.

The Board also followed up on the status of observations from previous years’ audits and
noted that all observations were settled.

The Auditor's Report (Annex 2) and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations
(Annex 3) were issued to the International Staff, who had no factual or formal comments.
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27 August 2018

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE RESTATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE

THE NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

(NNHQ)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
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REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS
FOR NATO TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL

Report on the Restated Financial Statements

The International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) audited the accompanying
Restated Financial Statements of the New NATO Headquarters (NNHQ), which
comprised the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2017, the Statement
of Financial Performance, the Statement of Change in Net Assets and the Cash Flow
Statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes. The Board also audited the Budget Execution Statement for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Financial
Statements in accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework and the requirements
of the NATO Financial Regulations as authorized by the North Atlantic Council (NAC).
This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our
audit, which is conducted in accordance with our Charter and international standards on
auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial
Statements, due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and presentation of Financial Statements is considered
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Opinion on Restated Financial Statements

In our opinion, the restated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of NNHQ as at 31 December 2017, and of its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the NATO Accounting
Framework.

Report on Compliance
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance

In addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the Financial
Statements described above, management is also responsible for ensuring that the
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel
Regulations as authorized by the North Atlantic Council (NAC).

Auditor’s Responsibility

In addition to the responsibility to express an opinion on the Financial Statements
described above, our responsibility includes expressing an opinion on whether the
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are, in all
material respects, in compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO
Civilian Personnel Regulations. This responsibility includes performing procedures to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the funds have been used for the settlement
of authorized expenditure and whether their operations have been carried out in
compliance with the financial and personnel regulations in force. Such procedures
include the assessment of the risks of material non-compliance.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion on Compliance
In our opinion, in all material respects, the financial transactions and information reflected
in the restated financial statements are in compliance with the NATO Financial

Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations.

Brussels, 27 August 2018

(Signed) Hervé-Adrien Metzger
Chairman
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27 August 2018

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
FOR THE NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

(NNHQ)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
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Introduction
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) audited the New NATO

Headquarters (NNHQ) Restated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December
2017, and issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and on compliance.

Observation and Recommendation
The Board’s audit resulted in one observation and recommendation.
This observation does not impact the audit opinion:
1. Unreliable estimate of accrued expenses from Host Nation.
The Board also followed up on the status of the observations from the previous year’s
audit and found that all four observations were settled.
The Board also issued a Management Letter (reference IBA-AML(2018)0014) to the
Assistant Secretary General Executive Management Division of the International Staff

with observations for management’s attention.

This Letter of Observations and Recommendations was formally cleared with the
International Staff who had no factual or formal comments.
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OBSERVATION AND RECOMMENDATION
1. UNRELIABLE ESTIMATE OF ACCRUED EXPENSES FROM HOST NATION
Reasoning

1.1 According to Article 34 of the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), NATO bodies
shall prepare financial statements on an accrual basis of accounting. Appropriated funds
which were committed and for which goods and services were rendered, but the invoice
was not received by the end of the financial year, shall be recorded as an accrued liability
and the commitment shall be reduced.

1.2 For the NNHQ, accrued expenses relates to work completed up to 31 December
2017 under the responsibility of the Host Nations - Belgium and its Project Management
Team (PMT) and the NATO Communication Information Agency (NCIA).

1.3 For Financial purposes, Host Nations must provide to the International Staff (IS)
an estimate of expected invoices for work completed in 2017 but not yet invoiced and
paid.

Observation

1.4 In its annual letter, dated 21 March 2018, PMT reported a total amount of EUR
40.8 million related to invoices to be received for work completed before 31 December
2017 (construction work, Audio-visual equipment etc.). A total amount of EUR 40.8 million
of accrued expenses was recorded as part of the value of assets under construction in
the 2017 NNHQ Financial Statements.

15 The Board found that as of March 2018, an amount of only EUR 2.3 million was
invoiced related to work completed in 2017. Three months later, as of end of June 2018,
the total invoices paid for 2017 work amounted to EUR 15.5 million. This led to an
overestimation of accrued expenses by EUR 25.3 million.

1.6 Following the Board’s concern over the lack of substantiated, auditable
documentation for the initial estimated figure of EUR 40.8 million, the PMT reduced the
estimated amount of accrued expenses from EUR 40.8 million to EUR 28.8 million.
Therefore, the IS issued Restated NNHQ Financial Statements on 18 July 2018
(FC(2018)0049-REV2).

Recommendation

1.7 The Board recommends the IS obtains documentation and substantiation for the
estimates of accrued expenses provided by the PMT.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEAR’S OBSERVATIONS

The Board reviewed the status of the observation and recommendation arising from the
previous report. The observation and its status are summarised in the table below.

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION

ACTION TAKEN

STATUS

(1) NEW NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 1

INABILITY TO OBTAIN SUFFICIENT
APPROPRIATE AUDIT EVIDENCE

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends using a trial balance,
generated by the ERP system, as a main
source for the preparation of the financial
statements. The preparer of the financial
statements should keep detailed supporting
working papers in order to be able to support
any balance presented or information disclosed
in the financial statements (e.g. EUR 280.7
million balance in Note 16 to the financial
statements). Moreover, the IS must be able to
provide for each asset / liability account in the
ERP system a breakdown of detail in order to
properly follow-up the balance.

The Board recommends improving the
transparency and availability of the accounting
data by recording all individual accounting
transactions in the ERP system and using
standard workflows for routine transactions. In
situations when aggregated data is entered in
the accounting program, underlying supporting
details (summaries, listings, calculations, etc.)
should be available within the ERP and should
be subject to proper verification and approval
within the system.

The Board recommends implementing the
multi-level financial statements review process
in order to ensure the overall quality of the

issued financial statements and their
compliance  with applicable reporting
frameworks.

Better details and information
was provided for the 2017
Financial Statements.

The Board found documented
multi-level review process to
ensure overall quality of the
financial statements and their
compliance  with  applicable
reporting frameworks.

Some transactions were
related to the clean-up of 2016
financial year, but with clear
explanation and/or justification.

Observation
Settled.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION

ACTION TAKEN

STATUS

(2) NEW NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 2

LATE ISSUANCE OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends that, in future, the
financial statements be submitted by 31 March,
in accordance with the deadline in the NFR’s.

The 2017 initial financial
statements were issued on 31
March 2018 as required by the
NFR’s.

Observation
Settled.

(3) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 4

NO REGULAR RECONCILIATION ON BANK
BALANCES

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends performing and
documenting regular monthly cash
reconciliations, which will help to identify
misstatements (if any) on a timely basis. This
should include signatures of the preparer and
the reviewer.

Bank balances were regularly
reconciled during 2017.

Observation
Settled.

(4) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 5

SIGNIFICANT DELAYS IN PROVIDING
INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR THE AUDIT

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends that the IS Office of
Financial Control provide required information
to the Board in a timely manner. In order to meet
the Board’s deadlines, less flexibility will be
provided in future audits.

Complementary information
and clarification were provided
in a timely manner.

Observation
Settled.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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FC(2018)0049- REV2

NATO NEW HQ
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended
31 December 2017

Annexes
i Statement of financial position
2 Statement of financial performance
3 Cash flow statement
4 Statement of changes in net assets
5 Budgetary execution statements
6 Explanatory notes to the financial statements
(Signed) Jens STOLTENBERG Stephane CHAGNOT

Secretary General (Signed) Financial Controller
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Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Short term investments
Receivables

Prepayments

Other current assels
Inventories

Non-current assets
Receivables

Property, plant & equipment
Intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabiiities
Payables
Deferred revenue
Advances

Short term provisions
Other current liabilities

Non-current liabllities
Payables

Long term provisions
Deferred revenue

Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Capital assets
Reserves

Current year Surplus / (Deficits)
Accumulated surpluses / (deficits) prior year

Total net assets/ equity

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

NATO NEW HQ

Statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2017

(All amounts in EUR)

ANNEX 1 1o

FC(2018)0049- REV2

Current Year Prior Year Variance
Notes 2017 2016 CY-PY
3&4 46,271,773.49 47.,467,999.34 -1,196,225 85
384 45,600,731.22 45,300,001.11 300,730.11
5 16,046,108.33 774,888.19 15,271,220.14
5 35,452,140.82 64,008,770 .31 -28,556,625.49
7 870,972.38 9,368,142.14 -8,497,169.76
2 .00 0.00 0.00
144,241,726.24 166,919,801.09 -22,678,074.85
B 1,060,427,743.29 §32,220,757.26 128,206,986.03
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
1,060,427,743.29 932,220,757.26 128,206,986.02
1,204,669,469.53 1,099,140,558.35 105,528,911.18
9 3,561,765.19 2,187,871.71 1,373,883.48
10 82,491,855.79 134,034 ,498.80 -51,542,643.01
1 28,818,516.39 20,266,158.50 8,552 357 89
13
12 29,369,588 .87 10,431,272 08 18,938,316.79
144,241,726,24 166,919,801.09 -22,678,074.85
13 0.00 0.00
14 1,060,427,743.29 932,220,757.26 128,206,986.03
000 0.00
1,060,427,743.29 932,220,757.26 128,206,986.03
1,204,669,469,53 1,099,140,558.35 105,528,911.18
0.00 000 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00
17 0.00 0.00 0.00
NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Revenue
Non exchange revenue

Exchange revenue

Other revenue
Financial revenue

Total revenue

Expenses
Personnel

Contractual supplies and services
Depreciation and amortization

Impairment
Provisions
Other expenses
Finance costs

Total expenses

Surplus/{Deficit} for the period

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

NATO NEW HQ

Statement of financial performance

As at 31 December 2017
(All amounts in EUR)

ANNEX 2 1o
FC(2018)0049- REVZ2

Current Year Prior Year Variance
Notes 2017 2016

15

8,896,116.28 3,560,762.23 5,335,354.05

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

8,896,116.28 3,560,762.23 5,335,354.05
i6

1,721,386 46 2,854,865.78 -1,133,479.32

7.057.25547 671,008.14 6,386,247.33

8,923.91 0.00 8,923.91

0.00 0.00 0.00

32,835.72 0.00 32,835.72

0.00 0.00 0.00

75,714.72 34,888.31 40,826.41

8,896,116.28 3,560,762.23 5,335,354.05

17 0.00 0.00 0.00
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ANNEX 3to
FC(2018)0049- REV2

INTERNATIONAL STAFF

Statement of cash flow
As at 31 December 2017
{All amounts in EUR)

Notaes 2017 2016
Cash flow from operating activities 18
Surplus/{Deficit)
Non-cash movements
Depreciation/ Amortisation -
Impairment -
Increase /(decrease) in payables 1,373.893.48 (608,171.21)
Increase/ (decrease) in other current liabilities {24.051,968.33) (62.585,021.45)
Increase/ (decreasa) in provisions - -
(Gains)losses on sale of property, plant and aguipment - -
Decrease/ {increase} in receivables (15.271.220.14) 225.321.96
Decrease/ {increase} in other current assels 37.053.798.25 (44,535,400.18)
Increase/ (decrease) in other non-current tiabilities 128,206,986.03 184,663 149.03
Net cash flow from operating activities 127,311,490.29 77,159,878.15
Cash flow from Investing activities 18
Purchase of property plant and equipment / Intangible assets (128,206,986.03) (184,663,149.03)
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment
Net cash flow from investing activities (128,206,986.03) (184,663,149.03)
Cash flow from financing activities 18
Net cash flow from financing activities - :
Net increasel{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 18 (895,495.74) (107,503,270.88)
Cash, cash equivalent and short term investments at the
beginning of the period 92,768,000.45 200.271.271.33
Cash, cash equivalent and short term investments at the
end of the period 91,872,504.71 92,768.000 45

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

ANNEX 4 to
FC{2018)0049- REV2

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AS AT 31/12/2017

{in EUR)
Accumulated surpluses/(deficits)
Balance at 31 December 2015 0.00
Deficit on revaluation of property 0.00
Surplus on revaluation of investments (1) 0.00
Currency translation differences 0.00
Net gains and losses not recognized in the statement of financial performance 0.00
Net for the period 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2016 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2016 0.00
Deficit on revaluation of property 0.00
Surplus on revaluation of investments (1) 0.00
Currency translation differences 0.00
Net gains and losses not recognized in the stalement of financial performance 0.00
Net for the period 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2017 0.00

(1) fixed assels in progress
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6-1 ANNEX 6 to
FC(2018)0049-REV2

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS PROJECT
2017 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION

In 1999, Heads of State of the NATO member countries decided at the Washington Summit to build a
New NATO Headquarters (HQ) to meet Alliance requirements for the 21% century. For this New NATO
HQ Project a separate budget was established in 2000.

The budget for the common funded part is approved on an annual basis by the North Atlantic Council,
further to screening and recommendation by the Budget Committee and the Resource Policy and
Planning Board (RPPB). The project is managed following NSIP procedures,

The main construction project, the electronic security services and the audio-visual infrastructure
contracts are managed by the Belgian Ministry of Defence Host Nation Project Management Team
{PMT) under the provisions of the NATO/Belgium MOU, signed on 8 December 2004.

NCIA acts as Host Nation for the Active Network Infrastructure contract. NATO-International Staff (15)
is the Host Nation for the Furniture contract and for the Business Data and Applications Migration
Project (BDAM).

NATO is represented by the IS Defence Investment Division Headquarters Project Office (HQPO),
which is in charge of programme management, coordination, approval procedures and the definition of
requirements. HQPQO also represents the interests of Nations in all dealings with the Host Nation.

A Transition Office within the 1S Executive Management Division was created in 2011 to manage the
practical and organisational aspects of the transition from the current headquarters to the new one.

NATO member nations maintain oversight of the project through the Deputies Committee (DPRC), a
Board comprised of the Deputy Permanent Representatives. HQPO is responsible for financial
management and for coordination with the DPRC, the Budget Committee, the RPPB, and the North
Atlantic Council.

The overall programme budget ceiling is EUR 1,179 million.
NOTE 2; ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below.

Declaration of conformity

The New NATO Headquarters financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the NATO
Accounting Framework as approved by nations under C-M(2013)0039 on 26 July, 2013 (which adapts
a small number of IPSAS standards to better suit the specific requirements of the Alliance) and with the
NATO Financial Regulations (NFR), the Financial Rules and Procedures (FRP),

Basis of preparation

These statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the amounts shown in these
financial statements are presented in EUR, The New NATO Headquarters Project will continue in
operation for the foreseeable future.

The following IPSAS have no material effect on the 2017 financial statements of the New NATO
Headquarters Project Office:

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
6-1



NATO UNCLASSIFIED

6-2 ANNEX 6 to
FC(2018)0049-REV2

IPSAS 5; Borrowing Costs.

IPSAS 6. Consolidated and Separate Financial
IPSAS 7: Investments in Associates.

IPSAS 8. Interests in Joint Ventures

IPSAS 10: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
IPSAS 11: Construction Contracts

IPSAS 18: Investment Property

IPSAS 18: Segment reporting

IPSAS 21: Impairment of non-cash generating assets
IPSAS 26: Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets
IPSAS 27: Agriculture

IPSAS 32: Service Concession Arrangement: Grantor

The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.

Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which it is appropriate to separately
report financial information. No segments are identified in this project and are therefore not reported in
these financial statements.

Changes in Accounting Policy

None to report.

Reclassification of financial statements of previous years

None to report.

Use of estimates

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements include amounts
based on estimates and assumptions by management, according to the most reliable information
available, judgement and assumptions. Estimates include work in progress, provisions, accrued
revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are
reflected in the period in which they become known.

Foreign currency transactions

The New NATO Headquarters Project’'s budget is authorized and managed in EUR so contribution calls
are made in EUR. Foreign currency transactions as required are accounted for at the NATO parity
rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end which were
denominated in foreign currencies were converted into EUR using the NATO parity raies applicable at
31 December.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the revaluation at the reporting dates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in Non-Current Liabilities.

Financial risks
The New NATO Headquarters Project Office uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part of

its normal operations. These financial elements include cash, bank accounts, deposit accounts,
accounts receivable and Funds Managed for Third Parties.
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All the financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair value.

The New NATO Headquarters Project is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign
exchange risk, credit risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

Foreign currency exchange risk

The exposure to foreign currency risk is limited as the majority of the New NATO Headquarters Project's
expenditures are made in EUR, the currency of its budget. All bank accounts are held in EUR.

Credit risk

The New NATO Headquarters Project incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks
and from receivables.

The maximum exposure as at 31 December is equal to the total amount of bank balances, short term
deposits and receivables. There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these
elements.

Concerning cash and cash equivalent the New NATO Headquarters Project credit risk is managed by
holding current bank accounts and short term highly liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash held with ING Bank (Belgium) which has the following short term credit ratings:

ING Bank Credit Ratings as at 22/02/2018
Fitch Moody's S&P
Short term F1 NA A2

The New NATO Headquarters Project’s outstanding accounts receivable are managed by maintaining

control procedures over receivables. Most cash receivables are due from NATO member nations, which
are considered credit worthy.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is based on the assessment as to whether the New
NATO Headquarters Project will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. A liquidity risk could arise from a short term liquidity requirement. There is a very limited
exposure to liquidity risk because of the funding mechanism which guarantees contributions in relation
to the approved New NATO Headquarters Project budget. Some limited risk could be due to the
accuracy of budget forecasts or to late payment of Nations’ contributions.

Interest rate risk

Except for certain cash and cash equivalent balances, the New NATO Headquarters’ financial assets
and liabilities do not have associated interest rates. The New NATO Headquarters is restricted from
entering into borrowings and investments, and, therefore, there is an insignificant intérest rate risk.
Interest earned is not a budgetary resource but contributes to the surplus owed to Nations.

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include cash in hand, deposits held
with banks, other short term highly liquid investments.

Cash held on behalf of third parties carresponding to amounts called and received in relation to the
nationally funded elements and the fit-out of delegations, and amounts corresponding to anticipated
contributions, are reported separately.
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Receivables
Receivables are stated at net realisable value, after provision for doubtful and uncollectable debs.

Contributions receivable are recognised when a call for contribution, based on the approved budget,
has been issued to the funding Nations. These receivables represent the uncollected contributions from
Member Nations. The same policy applies for contributions related to the nationally funded elemenis
and to the fit-out of delegations. No allowance for loss is recorded with respect to Member countries’
assessed contributions receivable,

Prepayments

A prepayment is a payment in advance of the period to which it pertains and is mainly in respect of
advance payments made to third parties. In the case of the New NATO Headquarters Project, advance
payments are essentially related to the pre-financing of PMT and NCIA expenses. The terms of the
MOU prevent Host Nation Belgium (PMT) from pre-financing any aspect of the project.

Inventories

NATO's adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
12 Inventeries. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO Inventories was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of
control of an asset. A positive response on six of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalised in
the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold.

Criteria that may indicate control of an asset

The act of purchasing the asset carried out (or resulted from instructions given) by the NATO
Reporting Entity.

The legal title is in the name of the NATO Reporting Entity.

The asset is physically located on the premises or locations used by the NATO Reporting Entity.

The asset is physically used by staff employed by the NATO Reporting Entity or staff working under
the NATO Reporting Entity's instructions.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide on an alternative use of the asset.

The fact that the NATO Reporiing Entity can decide to sell or o dispose the asset.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity, if it has to remove or destroy the asset, can take the decision
to replace it.

The fact that a representative of the NATO Reporting Entity regularly inspects the asset to determine
its current condition.

The fact that the asset is used in achieving the objectives of the NATO Reporting Entity.

The fact that the asset will be retained by the NATO Reporting Entity at the end of the activity.

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow:

Category Threshold Basis

Consumables €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Spare Parts €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Ammunition €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Strategic stocks €50,000 Per location/warehouse

Slow moving inventory — Assuming turnover of stock is over a 12 month period, any items not used
over a 36 month period will be deemed to be slow moving.

Strategic stock — Some complex elements of slow moving stock can be identified as strategic if they
are deemed essential to the effective operation of an asset and cannot be readily replaced by
commercial off the shelf items or cannot be purchased due to market decisions to close production lines
of key inventory items due to the advanced age of the strategic asset to which the stock relates
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The NNHQ Project will capitalise inventory which it controls in its financial statements. Where there is
a conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of inventory, only the end-
user entity will report the inventory in its financial statements, based on reliable information provided by
the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two entities.

The NNHQ Project will include transportation costs involved in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition in the initial valuation of inventory. These costs will be measured on the actual
cost of transportation per item of inventory or by using an apportionment of the global transportation
costs of bringing the inventories to their present location and condition across all inventory items in the
period. Transportation costs involved in the subsequent movement of inventory which brings them into
operational use will not be included in the value of inventory. The method of measuring these costs will
be disclosed.

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation shall apply. For the
remainder, IPSAS 12 shall apply.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 12 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented. The value of NNHQ inventories is immaterial both in value and in terms of the nature of
the items held. Consequently, inventory is fully expensed when goods are received,

Non-Current Assets (Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets)

2012 was the first year during which construction works related to the nationally funded elements were
performed. These works are recognized as non-current assets (PPE: Property, Plant and Equipment)
held on behalf of third parties, at least during the construction period. The reasoning stems from a
number of factors. The NHQ building constitutes a coherent and global building whose purpose is to
bring together member nations in order to enable an efficient and effective consultation process. This
situation whereby dedicated National Representations are present on site is very specific to NATO and
does not really exist in other comparable international organizations, The member nations are not
considered, from a legal perspective, as having direct property rights on the parts of the building
corresponding to their own delegation premises, but rather having an exclusive right of use. In this
respect the different funding cost shares cannot be deemed a factor justifying a specific accounting
treatment. The situation also carries certain restrictions, such as the inability to execute works affecting
or altering the basic structure of the building, or to sell their premises. Additionally, at this stage of the
project it is difficult to accurately distinguish the value between these common and naticnally funded
components. However, their inclusion provides useful and clear information which contributes to
financial transparency.

In the future, an ability to limit physical access may justify an exclusion from NATO PPE. Until then, as
currently, common funded and nationally funded construction works will be managed as a single
project. Atthis point, and from an accounting standpoint, the fact remains that the economic benefit or
the service potentia! is measured by the contribution to consensus building and therefore it cannot be
separated from NATO's purpose. Therefore, this would not justify a separate accounting treatment until
such a time as the building is operational and the related building parts are handed over to the nations
concerned. It should be noted that this approach does not apply to the national fit-out segment, for
which four nations have decided to act separately. The impact on previous years’ financial statements
is not material as no related works had been performed and therefore no fixed assets were recognised.

NATO'’s adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
17 Property Plant and Equipment. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO PPE was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of control
of an asset — they are the same as mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on six of the
criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization
threshold.

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow:
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Category Threshold Depreciation life Method
Land €200,000 N/A N/A
Buildings €200,000 40 years Straight line
Other infrastructure £200,000 40 years Straight line
Installed equipment € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Machinery € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Vehicles € 10,000 5 years Straight line
Aircraft €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line
Vessels €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line
Mission equipment € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Furniture € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Communications € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Automated information € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Systems

In the case of the New NATO Headquarters Project to date, PPE is work in progress. Depreciation will
start after acceptance of the completed work.

The principles of valuing and depreciating fixed assets are the following;

Buildings are shown at fair value based on internal valuations at the reperting date. Vazluation is done
based on judgment using the best available information from relevant sources. With regard to land on
which the buildings are erected, see note on Leases.

All other non-current assets, Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and intangible assets are recorded
at their historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 17 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented. Although the adaptation to IPSAS allows one to consider PPE acquired prior to 1
January 2013 as fully expensed, it was decided not to do so: amounts considered as PPE work in
progress prior to 1 January 2013 remain capitalized in the interest of disclosing relevant and complete
information regarding the value of the future NNHQ.

Intangible Assets:

NATO's adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
31 Intangible Assets. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO Intangible Assets was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level
of control of an asset — they are the same as mentioned above under inventory. A positive response on
six of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the
capitalization threshold. This is applied from January, 2013.

NATO Intangible Assets Capitalization Thresholds - the NNHQ Project will capitalize each intangible
asset item that is above the following agreed NATO thresholds:

Category Threshold Depreciation life Method
Computer software {commercial €50,000 4 years Straight line
off the shelf)

Computer sofiware (bespoke) €50,000 10 years Straight line
Computer database €50,000 4 years Straight line
Integrated system €50,000 4 years Straight line

The NNHQ Project will capitalize all controlled intangible assets above the NATO Intangible Asset
Capitalization Threshold. For anything below the threshold, the NNHQ will have the flexibility to expense
specific items.
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The NNHQ Project wili capitalize integrated systems and include research, development,
implementation and can include both software and hardware elements. But the NNHQ Project will not
capitalise the following types of intangible assets in its financial statements:

rights of use(air, land and water);
landing rights;

airport gates and slots;

historical documents; and,
publications

The NNHQ Project will capitalize other types of intangible assets acquired after 1 January 2013
including:

e Copyright
» Intellectual Property Rights
» Software development

The NNHQ may consider Intangible Assets acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed.

The NNHQ Project will report controlled Intangible assets in its financial statements. Where there is a
conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of intangible assets, only the
end-use entity will capitalize the intangible asset in its financial statements based on reliable information
provided by the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two
entities.

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation will apply. For the
remainder, IPSAS 31 shall apply. This adaptation is effective for financial reporting periods beginning
on 1 January 2013.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 31 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented.

Impairment of fixed assets:

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes of circumstances
indicate that they may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the impairment loss. Any provision for impairment losses is
charged against the Statement of Financial Position {during the construction process) in the year
concerned.

Current liabilities
Payables

Payables are amounts due to Nations in relation with budget rules and services provided, or to third
parties based on goods received or services provided but unpaid. This includes an estimate of accrued
obligations to third parties for goods and services received but not yet invoiced.

Payabiles due to Nations include in particular the surplus as per the NATO Financial Regulations. In
authorizing the New NATO Headquarters Project budget, Nations agreed that it would be a special
budget extending over several years. Nations agreed that financial closure would take place only when
the Project has been fully realised. Consequently, it was agreed that credits and the refundable surplus
can be maintained with the entity until the Project's completion {C-M{2000)36). Amounts which would
have been normally returned to contributing Nations in the framework of the standard NATO Financial
Regulations’ provisions — such as net interest earned, miscellanecus receipts, lapsed credits,
accumulated surplus - remain on the entity’s accounts.
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Funds Managed for Third Parties (National Funds)

Funds managed on behalf of third parties (national funds) are held in cash or as receivables if they
correspond to an unpaid non-budgetary contribution in relation to nationally funded elements. In case
of an anticipated/voluntary contribution, they are accounted for when cash is effectively received. The
corresponding amounts are presented as a current liability under funds managed for third parties
(national funds).

As a consequence of the recognition of the nationally funded elements as non-current assets,
contributions called from the Nations with regard to the nationally funded elements are treated in a way
comparable to that of budgetary contributions. Amounts called and amounts not converted to unearned
revenue, which fund the related works, are included as liabilities under funds managed for third parties.
The uncollected amount appears as a receivable.

Advances and Deferred Revenue

Deferred Revenue represents participating Nations’ contributions related to approved annual budgets
that have not yet been recognised as revenue in the absence of matching expenses, but which have
been called for current common funded budgets and for nationally funded construction works. Funds
are called in advance of requirements because the New NATO Headquarters Project has no capital
that would allow it to pre-finance any of its activities.

Advances are contributions called related to future years' budgets. Voluntary advances made by
outside of the call for contributions process are accounted as funds managed for third parties.

Revenue and expense recognition

All the costs incurred under the New NATO Headquarters Project since its inception, except those
related to the Transition Office, qualify to be capitalized as PPE Work in Progress. This includes
personnel and operating costs. The matching budget resources provided by Nations to fund these
Works in Progress are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position as Long Term
Unearned Revenue. No revenue is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance, except for
the part attributable to the Transition Office.

The task of the Transition Office is to plan and execute the transition from the current NATO HQ to the
new NATO HQ. Its purpose is to transform the way NATO HQ operates to make best use of the facilities
and technologies in the new NATO HQ; to relocate staff, NATO agencies and naticnal delegations; and
to return the current NATO HQ campus to Belgium. Transition Office related costs consist mainly in
salaries of its staff and the costs of consultancy services to determine the best ways to conduct
operations in the new building. Therefore they do not fulfil the criteria set by IPSAS 17 to qualify as
directly attributable costs of the asset under construction. As a consequence Transition Office costs are
expended rather than capitalized.

In the future, after the transfer of the building to the NATC International Staff, earned revenue will be
progressively recognised from this long term unearned revenue, in an amount equal to annual
depreciation of the related PPE, Intangible Assets etc. of the building, as future economic benefits and
service potential will flow to the NATO International Staff when the building is operaticnal.

Non-budgetary contributions called from Nations corresponding to the nationally funded construction
works are treated as Long Term Unearned Revenue in an amount equal to the estimation of works
completed.

Revenue from exchange and non-exchange transactions
There is no revenue from exchange transactions, as the contributions by Nations are based on a fixed

cost-share of reimbursable costs for the construction of the New NATQO Headquarters Project. They are
considered as a liability for long term unearned revenue funding assets in progress.
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NOTE 3: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The current bank accounts are held in EUR. Deposits are held in interest-bearing bank current
accounts, immediately available.

Derogations to NATO Financial Regulations were approved by the Council (C-M(2000)36 and
BC-D(2000)20). In particular paragraphs 4.4 of the latter document introduce flexible arrangements for
national contributions to allow Nations to make anticipated contributions. No ceiling is applicable to the
amount of cash holdings other than what is needed for the project.

NOTE 4: CASH MANAGED FOR THIRD PARTIES

To meet the Project’s payment for the fit-out and nationally funded elements under the NSIP rules and
procedures, the IS Office of Financial Control has issued separate contribution calls for the fit-out and
for nationally funded parts of the Project. The planning foresees that the Nations make payments in
advance of the quarterly payment request. A matching liability is posted against the amount of cash
held on behalf of the Nations concerned and of the amount of uncollected related contributions called
for the nationally funded construction works.

These funds also includes amounts relating to anticipated contributions made by some nations.

There are also funds from Eurocontrol as its contribution to works for a secure pedestrian access
between its headquarters and the NNHQ site.

NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Contributions receivable from member Nations are funds requested from the Nations to finance the
Common Funded Budget, the Nationally Funded component and the Fit-Out. Usually a single call is
issued at the beginning of the year for each component,

Other Receivables from Nations concern amounts due for cases other than contributions to the NNHQ
budget or nationally funded elements.

Other Receivables relate to miscellaneous amounts due to the Project (e.g. reimbursement of operating
costs, insurance claims, advances to staff for education allowances etc.).

The increase in receivables is due to the issuance at the end of 2017 of an additional call for
contributions linked to the increase in the planning ceiling.

NOTE 6: PREPAYMENTS

Receivables from the PMT relate to advance payments made to the PMT which are not regularised at
year end as they do not correspond to works completed. The terms of the MOU prevent the Host Nation
from pre-financing any aspect of the Project. On a cash basis, at year end 2017, PMT held
EUR 33,913,997.37 received from NHQPO as advance payments (EUR 62,366,505 at year end 2016).
On an accruals basis, including provisions, taking into account amounts due by PMT, the net advance
to be regularised amounted to EUR 31,278,209.37 (EUR 47,843,960 at year end 2016).

Similarly, at year end 2017, NHQPO has advanced funds to the NCIA in an amount of
EUR 4,173,931.45 (EUR 16,164,810.31 at year end 2016) on an accruals basis.

Prepayments to suppliers {i.e. other than the two Host Nations mentioned above) amounted to EUR 0
(EUR O at year end 2016).

NOTE 7: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Corresponds essentially to reciprocal bank transactions between the New NATO HQ Project and NATO

International Staff accounts, and transactions to be regularised. There is also a provision related to the
potential receivable side of staff untaken leave (EUR 32,835.72).
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NOTE 8: NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Costs charged as PPE Work in Progress cover the common funded PPE and the nationally funded
construction works held on behalf of the member Nations which at this stage of the project are
considered not separable from the overall amount of fixed assets.

Although parts of the building and its systems have been handed over from the PMT to NATO
International Staff during 2017, the hand over process was not complete by end 2017; elements still
remained in the hands of the PMT and of the NCIA. NATO International Staff did not yet benefit from
the service potential of the building at year end 2017. The final acceptance of the building is supposed
to take place on 30 November 2018. Therefore the related PPE valuation remains on the books of the
NNHQ as Work In Progress. The transfer to the International Staff books will be done when the hand
over is complete or when depreciation begins which is considered to be as from date of the first official
meeting in the new premises. This approach also ensures greater visibility and completeness of
information, as it can be connected to the budgetary process of the NNHQ..

The following {ables reconcile works related PPE amounts at the beginning and at the end of 2017 (and
of 2016).

{amounts in EUR) Canz:;gzgqgmnl Additions |Disposals| Depreciation Ct?al::;;s Can:rn;g;}:r;ounl
COMMON FUNDED
Perscnnel (chapter 1) 20.756 606 1.655.603 22.412 209
Operating Costs (chapter 2) 49.055 622 1.784 553 50.840.175
Professiona! fees {chapter 3) 126.827.696 | 10.502.778 137.330.474
Waorks (chapter 4) 567.966.416 | 68.864.412 636.830.828
Special Equipment (chapter 5) 7.384.627 4.190.509 11.575.136
SUB-TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 771.990.967 B86.997.855 0 0 0 858.988.822
NATIONALLY FUNDED 0
Works _ 95.840.593 3.184.723 99.025.316
SUB-TOTAL NATIONALLY FUNDED 95.840.593 3.184.723 0 0 0 99.025.316
TOTAL t 867.831.560 | 90.182.578 | (] [ 0 958.014.138

{amounts in EUR) Carr::;gngsount Additions |Disposals| Depreciation cg:;; A Carrzrl‘r;gzggr‘lsounl
COMMON FUNDED
Personnel {chapter 1) 18,835,664 1,920,942 20,756,606
Operating Costs {chapter 2) 37,335,984] 11,719,638 49,055,622
Professional fees {chapter 3) 116,949,744 9,877,952 126,827,696
Works (chapter 4) 465,517,971] 102,448,445 567,966,416
Special Equipment {chapter 5) 648,180 6,736,447 7,384,627
SUB-TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 639,287,542| 132,703,425 0 0 0 771,990,967
NATIONALLY FUNDED 0
Works 77.666,447] 18,174,146 95,840,553
SUB-TOTAL NATIONALLY FUNDED 77,666,447| 18,174,146 0 0 0 95,840,593
TOTAL ] 716,953,989 150,877,571] ol o 0] 867,831,560

For 2017, included is an amount of EUR 29,112,000 corresponding to accrued costs estimated by the
PMT for invoices it had not yet received but relating to completed works end 2017,

The following table reconciles the ANWI Assets amounts at the beginning and at the end of 2017 (and
of 2016).
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{amounts in EUR) Can:rl‘r;gz?):;ounl Additions |Disposals| Depreciation Csa‘:;;s Can:r:;ng(\)TTount
COMMON FUNDED
Personne! (chapter 1) 0 0 0
Operaling Costs (chapter 2) 0 0 _ 0
Professional fees (chapter 3) 12,222,447 2,853,557 15,076,004
Works (chapter 4) 0 0 0
Special Equipment (chapler 5) 52,166,751 35,170,851 87,337,602
TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 64,389,198| 38,024,408 0l 0 0 102,413,606
(amounts in EUR) Can:l:r;gzgq:juunt Additions | Disposals | Depreciation Cr?at :;;5 Can:rl‘r;ngO%ount
COMMON FUNDED
Personnel (chapler 1) 0 0 0
Operating Cosls {chapter 2} 0 0 0
Professional fees (chapter 3) 10,633,566 1,588,881 12,222,447
Works (chapter 4) Q 0 0
Special Equipment (chapter 5) 19,970,053 32,156,698 52,166,751
TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 30,603,619 33,785,579 0 1] "] 64,389,198

A series of contracts have been entered into in relation to non-current assets, mainly by the PMT and
the NCIA as Host Nations, and for smaller amounts by NHQPQO. The main open contractual
commitments, excluding short term non-works related contracts (such as for security and guard
services), are the following.

The main construction contract including Passive Network Infrastructure was let in June 2010, at the
price set in January 2010 of approximately MEUR 360 (MEUR 438 including National Funding). This
base price does not include adjustments for price revisions. Further to a claim introduced end 2013 and
settled in 2014, an agreement was reached to pay additional MEUR 85 and to extend the construction
period by 4.5 months. In 2017, further to the revised financial assessment for the completion of the
NNHQ the amount was increased by MEUR 20. This takes the total of authorised contingencies
approved to PMT for the main construction contract including passive network to MEUR 194.

The main construction contract was let in June 2010, at the price set in January 2010 of approximately
MEUR 360 (MEUR 438 including Nationa! Funding). This base price does not include adjustments for
price revisions. Further to a claim introduced end 2013 and settled in 2014, an agreement was reached
fo pay additional MEUR 85 and to extend the construction pericd by 4.5 months.

The Concept Design Team contract was transferred to the PMT and has an LTPB planned cost of
MEUR 85,845 which represents a reduction of MEUR 1.9 from the previous LPTB.

The PMT awarded in 2013 the contract for the Electronic Security System in an amount of MEUR 14.9
(2013 value). The 4.5 month extension agreed with the general construction contractor implied an
estimated EUR 1.54 million additional cost and further to the revised cost to complete exercise an
additional MEUR 1.99 was authorised in 2017 . Regarding the contract for the Audio Visual
Infrastructure in an initial amount of MEUR 26.4 {2013 value}), estimated additional costs of MEUR 1.280
were agreed to compensate the 4.5 months delay and additional MEUR 1.8 in 2017 further to the
revised cost to complete assessment .

in 2013, NCIA awarded the contract for the Active Network Infrastructure in the amount of MEUR 79.766
and MEUR 2.010 for Independent Validation and Verification Services. In order to achieve savings, a
reduction in scope of KEUR 500 was agreed by the DPRC and an estimated additional cost of MEUR
1,500 was agreed to compensate the 4.5 months delay. As a consequence of the delays and the
revised cost to complete, the amount of the Active Network Infrastructure contract is now MEUR 84,507.

Contracts were awarded by NHQPQ for Furniture Supply (MEUR 8.9) and for Business Data and
Applications Migration (MEUR 5.4 in the revised LTPB).

There are Project Support and Engineering Fees for NCIA in relation to the Active Network
Infrastructure, in an estimated amount of MEUR 18 and MEUR 0.9 respectively.
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The MOU between NATO and the Host Nation provides that management fees (National Administrative
Expenses, NAE) equal to 3% of the works will be paid (LTPB total amount: MEUR 22.434).

NOTE 9: PAYABLES

Payables and accrued expenses may be to commercial suppliers, staff, Member Nations and other
NATO bodies.

Payable to suppliers

Payable to suppliers relates to goods and services for which an invoice has been received, checked,
and queued for payment but for which payment was still pending at year-end.

Payable to personnel

Payable to personnel relates to amounts due to staff in relation to remuneration of interns or temporary
staff, trave! expenses and hospitalities (EUR 1,372.47 end 2017; EUR 4,392.75 end 2016).

Payable to Nations

End 2017, payables to Nations due for the Construction Surveillance Technical Team relating to
reimbursement to those Nations who provided personnel to the Team during the year were EUR 0
{EUR 80,105 end 2016). Most of those Nations have opted for direct payment, one has opted for
deductions from its contributions.

A payable of EUR 1,513,305.90 (EUR 1,513,305.90 end 2016) is in relation to the reimbursable salaries
due to the United States for a civilian staff member who is paid directly by the United States government.
This amount can be used by the United States by applying it against its annual Project contribution.

Payable to other NATO bodies

This includes amounts received from NATO bodies in support of projects funded by the Civil Budget.

Accruals

Accrued expenses correspond to the estimated accrual obligation to third parties for goods and services
received but not yet invoiced

NOTE 10: DEFERRED REVENUE
Deferred Revenue from Budgetary Appropriations

Deferred Revenue from budgetary appropriations corresponds to contributions called in relation to
approved budgets up to 2017 but for which corresponding expenses will be incurred after the reporting
date of 31 December 2017. The Unearned Revenue includes principally those amounts of contributions
which will be spent in subsequent years on the New NATO Headquarters Project budget as credits
carried-forward resulting from the budget execution in accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations
(and the specific waiver thereto applicable to this project) and advances made to the PMT and the
NCIA.

Other Deferred Revenue

There are also Naticnal Funds corresponding to funds managed on behalf of Nations outside of the
standard call for Common Funded hudgetary contributions process which are the counterpart of specific
contributions called from Nations to meet the Project's payment for the Fit-Out or for Nationally Funded
elements.
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NOTE 11: ADVANCES
Advances Related to the Budgetary Process

Up to 2013 there were no such advances received as there had not been calls for advance budgetary
contributions. However, when setting up the funding framework related to the settlement of the claim
introduced end 2013, it was agreed that Nations could opt for providing funding beyond what was
needed for the part corresponding to the 2014 budget. This has resulted in EUR 20,768,632 being
called. This amount was allocated to the calls issued in 2017, 2016 and in 2015 and to additional
contributions.

At the time of the call for contributions related to the 2017 Revised Budget, some Nations requested to
pay advances (total amount EUR 18,814,083.00).

Other Advances

Nations may, in addition, make ad hoc voluntary additional contributions in relation to the Common
Funded budget (EUR 316,924.50 end 2017), to their Nationally Funded component (EUR 9,245,856.12
end 2017; end 2016 EUR 20,526,852.92) or to their Fit-Out.

NOTE 12: OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Other Current Liabilities linked to the budget process

Lapsed credits are budget funds for which no legal liability exists, They cannot be spent in subsequent
years. Lapsed credits are normally deducted from the contributions due from Nations in the call of the
following year.

Receipts linked to interest, foreign exchange difference gain and bank charges are normally deducted
from the contributions due by Nations in the following year.

The standard budgetary process provides that amounts corresponding to the current year budgetary
surplus (lapsed credits + net interests + miscellaneous income) are considered a liability towards the
contributing nations. The settlement does not follow the normal accounts payable process, since the
standard approach is to return them to contributing nations via a deduction of the following year's call
for budget contributions. Nations may also decide that part or all of the budgetary surplus is made
available for use in future years. In the case of the NNHQ Project member nations have decided that
this rule would not apply until completion of the project and that ali available appropriations at the end
of each year would be carried forward. Consequently calls for contributions are equal to the gross
amount of the approved budget with no deductions for any surplus.

Project Accumulated Surplus

Project Accumulated Surplus resulting from previous years' budget execution, which amounted to
EUR 13,339,622.00 end 2013, remained until then in the entity's accounts in accordance with the
specific budget funding rules approved by Nations, according to which surpluses are not returned to
contributing Nations before the completion of the project.

This amount can be broken down into the following components:

cumulative amounts since the beginning of the project until 2013)

lapsed credits (including frozen) 12,213,702.50
net overcall {(minus = undercall) -4,588,528.69
interest earned 5,700,330.32
miscellaneous income 14,117.87
Total 13,339,622.00

When assessing, end 2014, the funding impact of the settlement of the claim with the contractor and
related additional costs, Nations decided to use the surplus as of end 2013 and to allocate it as a
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resource in order to reduce contributions to be called in this respect. As a consequence, end 2014, the
surplus available from previous years was nil.

Since then the surplus is limited to net financial revenue and miscellaneous revenue.

Other Current Liabilities linked to Accrued Costs

An amount of EUR 29,112,000 corresponds to accrued costs incurred by the PMT to completion of the
works and for which no budget transactions have been registered yet, nor payments claimed by the
PMT to the NHQPO.

NOTE 13: NON CURRENT LIABILITIES: PROVISIONS

Provisions end 2016 related to design fees. There were no provisions end 2017.

Concerning design fees, the provision related to additional studies and/or modifications done by the
CDT in 2009, at the request of the PMT. An original estimate was made for EUR 2 million concerning
2008. Further to various settlements and minor adjustments, the related provision was assessed at
EUR 1.000 million at year end 2015. The remaining settlement finally amounted to EUR 582,358.60.
NOTE 14: LONG TERM UNEARNED REVENUE

This revenue corresponds to the contributions, budgetary and non-budgetary, that funded fixed assets
work in progress.

For common funded PPE and Intangible Assets, the amount originates from budget contributions.
Funding provided for the nationally funded elements matching completed related works is also
considered long term unearned revenue during the construction period. A specific accounting treatment
may have to be determined when the related building parts are operational and the corresponding
assets are fransferred to the national delegations.

NOTE 15: REVENUE

Budgetary revenue is matched to recognised expenses relating to the activities of the Transition Office.

Any interest gained is atiributed to the funding of the construction itself and is therefore not recognised
in the statement of financial performance.

NOTE 16: EXPENSES

The only expenses recognised are those related to the Transition Office. They consist mainly of the
salaries of staff, administrative expenses and miscellaneous consultancy studies conducted in order to
optimize the use of the future building. Consultancy services are included under the item “salaries” to
be consistent with the budget breakdown, which explains the changes from year to year (Transition
Office staffing remaining almost unchanged).

Banking costs are not recognised as expenses but are deducted from interests earned.
NOTE 17: NET RESULT OF THE PERIOD

Given that revenue stemming from budgetary resources is recognised in an equal amount to expenses,
the result of the year is nil.

NOTE 18: CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement is presented following the indirect method.
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NOTE 19: BUDGET INFORMATION AND RECONCILIATION WITH CASH FLOWS
Presently, NATO budgets are not publicly available.
Presentation of budget information in the financial statements

Besides NATO Financial Regulations and Financial Rules and Procedures as well as elements of the
NSIP procedure, the New Headquarters Project is governed by the following:

Project Authorization to Ministry of Defense BE: C-M({2007)0076-AS1,

MOU between Ministry of Defense BE and NATO; SG(2004)1220-REV4,

CDT Contract signed between Belgium and CDT in December 2004 (PMT responsibility),
Council derogation to NATO Financial Regulations {(C-M(2000)36) and Budget Committee
derogation to NFR {BC-DS(2007)0005). The derogation concerns, in particular: committed, or
to be committed credits, which may be carried forward until the closure of the Project; the only
limitations to cash holdings being the actual funding requirements.

coown

There are three types of funding:

- NATO Common Funding (CF) for Common Infrastructure requirements: based on an approved
Cost Sharing Formula specific to the New NATO HQ Project (SG(99)1707, C-M(2004)0061 and
BC-D(2009)0008-ADD1).

- National Funding (NF) for Construction of Private Space of Delegations: calculated on the basis
of actual ‘shell and core’ costs based on the number of gross square meters of occupied space,

- National Funding for Fit-Out of Delegations; based on actual costs to fit-out the occupied space
of each Delegation.

The initial budget in NATO corresponds to the credits that are initially authorised by the North Atlantic
Council annually at the end of the previous financial year. During the year the budget is adjusted as
required. The final authorisation is the credit situation as reported at the end of the financial year
including approved budgetary increases/decreases and transfers approved by the IS Financial
Controller {(between Chapters of the New NATO HQ budget up to 5% of the credits initially granted for
the receiving chapter) or by the Budget Committee.

There are two types of credits: Cash Credits (CC) are approved credits against which payments can be
made during the budget year; Contract Authority Credits (CA) are approved credits to enter into a legal
obligation for multi-year contracts. No payment may be made against CA prior to its conversion into
ccC.

The New NATO Headquarters Project 2017 initial budget authorization for the Common Funded part
amounted to EUR 55,335,242, In addition, an amount of EUR 62,363,955 related to credits carried
over from the previous financial years. The National Funding component for 2017 was approved in the
amount of EUR 516,950. The Fit-Out programme was foreseen at EUR 766,290 to which changes
could be done depending on nations’ involvement in the furniture programme.

In December 2017, as a consequence of delays in the delivery of the NNHQ buildings and systems, the
overall budget ceiling was increased from EUR 1.124 million to EUR 1.179. Accordingly the Common
Funded budget was revised to the total amount of EUR 86,171,939, an increase of EUR 30,836,647.
The National Funding component remained unchanged. The Fit-Out programme was increased by
EUR 553,025.

It should be noted that the credits approved for 2017, as for previous budget years, do not correspond
to the full extent of the annual costs, including for Salaries and Operations and Maintenance. Credits
carried forward from previous years were used, with the agreement of Nations, to fund 2017
commitments and expenses.

Budget execution statements for 2017 and 2016 are provided at Annex 4.
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The Revised LTPB 2017-2018 (DPRC-N(2017)0076 and COR1) is shown in Addendum 1 at the end of
these notes.

Reconciliation of the Budget Execution Statement and the Financial Performance Statement

The budget is prepared for the same period (1 January to 31 December) and encompasses the same
entity as these financial statements but the basis and the presentation format are different.

The New NATO HQ Project budget is prepared and executed on a commitment basis. The commitment
of credits is the advance acceptance and recording of the financial consequence resulting from a legal
obligation incurred during the financial year. Unliquidated commitments are carmried forward and added
to the budget of the following financial year to the extent of existing legal liabilities or if a special
agreement is given by the Budget Committee. The balance of unused budgetary credits (not
committed) lapses but is not returned to nations at year-end, in accordance with the derogation agreed
by the NAC.

The budget classification is based on the economic nature of the expenses broken down into five
chapters as follows:

Chapter i Personnel Expenses
Chapter il: Operating Expenses
Chapter III: Intellectual Services

Chapter |V: Demolition/Construction Works
Chapter V. Special Equipment

However, in these financial statements all costs, with the exception of those relating to the Transition
Office, are considered as investing activities.

The New NATO HQ budget, like all the other NATO budgets, contains budget chapters and items
corresponding to capital expenditure. The latter result in increases of non-current assets (essentially
PPE) and in changes to the level of advances made to the Host Nations given the specific operating
model of the NNHQ Project concerning the construction of the building and its IT systems.

All budget expenses related to the Host Nations are, in practice, advances. In this respect, the budget
execution remains largely cash based and, concerning the relation with the Host Nations, does not
correspond to an accruals approach, contrary to the spirit of the changes introduced by the new NATO
Financial Regulations applicable to the other NATO entities as from 2015. The previous approach
continued to be applied to the NNHQ Budget. Prepayments to suppliers, in the context of the standard
accounts payable process, are not taken into account for the purpose of this reconciliation.

Concerning the budget execution statement, it must be noted that the approved budget concerns
exclusively the Common Funded component of the building. The Nationally Funded component is not
strictly speaking a budget (see below) but, the execution of its expenses in a quasi-budget context does
result in increases of the related non-current assets and changes in related cash advances to the Host
Nations.

Also, carried forward credits, in the case of the NNHQ Project, correspond to unused funds (see Council
derogation above); only budget expenses have a financial impact. As a consequence the reconciliation
of the budget execution statement should be made hetween the budget expenses on one side, and, on
the other side, the statement of financial performance, changes in the level of non-current assets and
of advances to Host Nations, taking into account the distinction between the Common Funded and the
Nationally Funded components. Such is the purpose of the table below.

The table below reconciles the budget execution with statement of financial performance for 2017. It
shows that an absolute reconciliation could not be made by an immaterial amount.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Reconciliation of Budget to Financial Performance

ANNEX 6 to
FC(2018)0049-REV2

BUDGET EXECUTION Common Funded | National Funded Total

Total budget (including Carry-forward from Previous year) {a) 148 535.894.20 516.950.00] 149.052.844.20
Credits Carried Forward in Following Yaar {b} 63.735.620.48 0.00] 69.735.620.48
|Budget Execution Expenses (¢} ={a-b) 78.800.273.72| 516.950.00] 79.317.223.72
RECONCILIATION Commaon Funded | National Funded Total I
Financial Performance Expenses {excluding Depreciation and Financial costs)  |{d) 8.778.641.93 8.778.641 93
Increase in Non-Current Assets {e} 125.022.263.03 3.184.723.00| 128.206.986.03
Change in Advances to Host Nations {f) -25.888.856.49 -2.667.773.00| -28.556.629.49
Other Elements 4] -29.112.000.00 -29.112.000.00!
Sub-Total h} = (d+e+i+g) 78.800.048.47 516.950.00| 79.316.998 47|
Difference to Budget Expenses I{c—h) 225.25 0.00 22525

Nationally Funded Component

Although not considered as a common funded budget, specific amounts are approved for the nationally
funded component (excluding Fit-Out). Related expenses are apportioned using physical criteria {such
as surface, number of parking spaces) rather than the cost-shares applicable to the Common Funded
Component. The fable below compares the cumulative approved amounts, related advances io the
PMT and accrued expenses.

{(amounts in EUR)

Up to 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Cumuiative
Approved Amounts 37,790,467| 12,756,605| 25,327,510 21,211,531]  1.422,252 516,950 99,025,315
Cash advances 12,000,000| 27,099,999| 26,500,000| 16,000,000 16,908,366 516,950 99,025,315
Expenses 11,423,370 22,126,329| 22,168,519] 21,948,229| 18,174,145 3,184,723 99,025,315
Fit-Out

Operations related to the Fit-Out of national delegations are not executed in the context of a budget
framework; they result in outflows of cash to the PMT for settlement of related invoices.

NOTE 20: WRITE-OFFS

Nothing to report.
NOTE 21: LEASES

Belgium has granted to NATO by way of concession a plot of land on which NATO is autherized to erect
all necessary buildings and facilities related to the NATO New Headquarters Project. The annual fee Is
EUR 250. NATO is the full owner of all constructions made. Belgium remains the sole and full owner
of the land, which is military public domain. The concession ends 180 days after NATO has left the
buildings and facilities. In such case, if Belgium would decide to use the building and facilities, it shall
pay a fair indemnity to NATO. if Belgium should decide to demolish them, it will not be obliged to pay
an indemnity to NATO neither will NATO have to contribute to demolition costs. At the end of the
concession, there would be no property rights transferred to NATO. As a consequence, given the
indefinite economic life of land and the specific nature of concessions, the use of the land is classified
as an operational lease.

The New NATO Headquarters Project does not have any financial leases.
NOTE 22: RESTRICTIONS ON FIXED ASSETS

There are no restrictions on fixed assets.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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NOTE 23: CONTINGENCY CREDITS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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ANNEX 6 to
FC(2018)0049-REV2

NOTE 24: CONTINGENT ASSETS
Nothing to report.

NOTE 25: EMPLOYEE DISCLOSURE

Accounting for employee benefits is accounting for any liability in relation to all forms of consideration
given by an entity in exchange of service rendered by employees.

At 31 December 2017, New NATO Headquarters Project Office had an approved Personnel
Establishment of 17 positions {24 for 2016) funded by its budget. Seven positions related to the
Transition Office. For administrative and project management purposes the post of Building Z Project
Manager is attached to the HQPO but has a specific funding mechanism with no impact on the New
NATO Headquarters project.

The NATO-IS centrally manages three pension programs, namely the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme
(DBPS), the Provident Fund and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS), as well as the
Retiree Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), covering staff employed by all NATO bodies. NATO wide
financial statements are issued by the NATO-IS Office of Financial Control for the three Pension
Schemes and the RMCF; therefore, no related assets or liabilities are recognised in these financial
statements,

Nine staff members participate in the DCPS administered by NATO (nineteen end 2016). The DCPS
provides that the New NATO Headquarters Project budget makes a 12% monthly matching contribution
to the staff members' contributions for current service. Three employees participate in the DBPS: a
deduction of 9.5% of their salaries is made and contributed to the annual financing of this Plan (four
end 2016). In addition, the New NHQPQ budget makes a monthly matching contribution to the DBPS
equal to 19% of their basic salaries, which in accordance with (BC-WP(83)3(Revised} and C-M(83)34)
is deemed to provide the necessary funds for the subsequent pensions liability of the NHQPO. These
contributions are expensed during the year in which the services are rendered and represent the total
pension obligation of the entity (find reference). Consequently, the NHQPQ has neither DBPS nor
DCPS liability for its staff members. Also, during 2016, one staff member was employed on
reimbursable basis with an agreement between NATO-IS and the United States. The individual was
paid and accrugs pension rights under a United States pension scheme.

The contributions for pensions paid are as follows.

6-19

2017 2016
amaounts in EUR Staff Employer Total Staff Employer Total
Provident Fund - - - - - -
Co-ordinated Pension Scheme 20,132.01 | 40,264.02] 60,396.03 | 18.007.89| 36,19578| 54,29367
Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 95,459,57 | 132,454.97 | 227,914.54 | 120,837.33 | 181,255.99 | 302,093.32
TOTAL 115,591.58 | 172,718,99 | 288,310.57 | 138,935.22 | 217,451.77 | 356,386.99
NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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FC{2018)0049-REV2

Paid leave is an employee benefit and as such part of overall personnel expenses. In accordance with
personnel regulations, the remaining balance at year end may be carried forward but must be taken
before 30 April of the following year. It can be exceptionally expanded to 31 October in accordance with
Civilian Personnel Regulations art. 42.3.5 and 42.3.6. After this date it lapses and is not paid to staff.
For these financial statements, untaken leave is specifically reported if its monetary value is more than
10% of the total annual leave entitlement. The cost of untaken leave days is usually absorbed during
the year through the monthly salaries; leave to be taken carried forward into the next year constitutes a
liability towards the future and would notionally require funding from Participating Nations.

NOTE 26: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Deputies Committee (DPRC) is responsible for the oversight of the New NATO HQ Project
management. The DPRC took over this responsibitity from the DPRHQB which was disbanded in 2010.
Members of the DPRC are nominated by their respective National Authorities. They are paid on the
basis of applicable national pay scales. They do not receive from NATO any additional remuneration
for their responsibilities or access to benefits.

For the purposes of [PSAS 20 implementation, Key Management Personnel of New NATO HQ Project
are the Director of the NHQPQO and his Deputy. They are remunerated in accordance with their
respective NATO grades, respectively A6 and AS5.

There are no other remuneration or benefits to key management personnel and their family members.
Key Management Persannel are entitled to receive loans which are also available to other members of
the NATOQ International Staff.

NOTE 27: RELATED PARTIES

NATO Bodies

For administrative purposes the NHQPOQ is attached to the NATO International Staff Defense
Investment Division and the Transition Team to Executive Management Division. The Assistant
Secretary General of the Defense Investment Division chairs the DPRC when it addresses issues
related to the Project.

In 2017, NATO International Staff charged the NHQPQO an amount of EUR 207,301 for administrative
support costs (EUR 187,474 in 2016). The specific operating costs related to the PMT (around EUR
4,000) are absorbed by the Civil Budget in exchange of the occupancy of the CDH building by the
International Staff

The NCI Agency is the Host Nation in charge of equipping the New NATO HQ with modern and cost
effective Information and Communication Technologies solutions, to include voice, video and data
management, processing and storage through the Active Network Infrastructure (ANWI) project, for an
authorized amount of MEUR 90,505 including contingencies. Additional MEUR 9,705 have been
authorised by DPRC to Host Nation NCIA up to 31 December 2017 from the 5% Host Nation
contingencies and 5% additional contingencies.

An amount of MEUR 18.090 is approved in the LTPB for NCIA Project Service Costs for ANWI
representing an increase of MEUR 5,974 from the previous LTPB. NCIA provided also some specific
consultancy services {(EUR 0.866 million approved in the LTPB).

The IS acts also as a Host Nation concerning the procurement of Furniture (MEUR 20.5 in the LTPB)
and the Business Data and Applications Migration Project (MEUR 4.105 in the LTPB). The IS receives
no related remuneration fees.

Member Nations

NATO Security Investment Programme (NSIP) procedures are the management process for the New
NATO HQ. Belgium is the Host Nation for the construction, the passive network infrastructure, the
building management system, the electronic security system and audio visual infrastructure. In
exchange for this service, Belgium receives fees (National Administrative Expense {NAE) equal to 3%
of works) the total amount of which is estimated EUR 22.434 million over the duration of the project.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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The DPRC agreed that Construction Surveillance Technician Team required to support the construction
project should be manned by personnel from Nations on a reimbursable basis.

Each delegation’s fit-out is the financial responsibility of the Nation concerned. Twenty four Nations
agreed to the have their delegations’ fit-out undertaken by the PMT. Specific advance contributions are
requested from the Nations concerned to cover the related costs (C-M{2006)0096). The other four
Nations have decided to have their fit-out done nationally without the intervention by the PMT.

o W W

List of Acronyms:

DPRC: Deputy Permanent Representatives Committee
HN: Host Nation.

IS; International Staff

LTPB: Long Term Program Budget

MOU: Memorandum of Understanding

NCIA: NATO Communication and Information Agency
NSIP: NATO Security Investment Programme

OFC: International Staff Office of Financial Control
PMT: Project Management Team

PPE: Property, Plant and Equipment
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NORTH ATLANTIC TREATY ORGANIZATION
ORGANISATION DU TRAITE DE L'ATLANTIQUE NORD
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COLLEGE INTERNATIONAL DES COMMISSAIRES AUX COMPTES
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OTAN IBA-A(2018)0008

9 February 2018

To: Secretary General
(Attn: Director of the Private Office)

Cc: Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division
Financial Controller, International Staff (IS)
Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board (RPPB)
Branch Head, Plans and Policy Branch, NATO Office of Resources (NOR)
Private Office Registry

Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) Auditor’s Report
and Letter of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the
New NATO Headquarters (NHQ) Restated Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 December 2016 - IBA-AR(2017)34

The Board submits herewith its approved Auditor's Report (Annex 2) and
Letter of Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for
distribution to the Council (Annex 1).

The Board’s report sets out a qualified opinion on the restated financial
statements of the New NATO Headquarters and a qualified opinion on compliance for
the financial year 2016.

Yours sincerely,

(Signed) Hervé-Adrien Metzger
Chairman

Attachments: As stated above.

Boulevard Léopold 111 - B-1110 Bruxelles - Belgique
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 41 11
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ANNEX 1

Summary Note for Council
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board)
on the audit of the Restated Financial Statements of the
New NATO Headquarters (NHQ)
for the year ended 31 December 2016

At the Washington Summit, in April 1999, the Heads of State and Government of NATO
countries formally decided to build a new NATO Headquarters in Brussels to meet the
Alliance’s needs in the twenty-first century. The North Atlantic Council, upon
recommendation of the Civil Budget Committee, approves the budget for the new NATO
Headquarters. It is funded from national contributions based on a specific cost-share
agreement among the NATO nations.

The total overall budget is EUR 1.124 billion

Budget authorisations for 2016 totaled EUR 268.6 million, of which EUR 133.9 million
relates to the 2016 budget and EUR 134.7 million relates to credits brought-forward from
prior year budgets.

The total valuation of the New NATO Headquarters under construction as of 31 December
2016 was recorded for an amount of EUR 932.2 million.

The Board issued a qualified opinion on the New NATO Headquarters Restated Financial
Statements and on compliance for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The reason for the qualified opinion is that the comparative information included in the
2016 restated financial statements is the same as was issued in the 2015 restated
financial statements, except for minor reclassifications. The Board issued a qualified
opinion on those 2015 restated financial statements and as a result, the audit opinion on
the 2016 restated financial statements is qualified due to the lack of reliability and
comparability of the 2015 comparative information.

The Board also qualified its opinion on compliance due to late issuance of the financial
statements and the lack of regular bank reconciliations.

The Board followed up on the status of observations from previous years’ audits and
noted that four observations remained outstanding and one observation was settled. Two
observations continued to impact the audit opinion on compliance.

The International Staff's formal comments are contained in the Appendix of Annex 3.
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REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS
FOR NATO TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL

Report on the Restated Financial Statements

The International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) was engaged to audit the
accompanying Restated Financial Statements of the New NATO Headquarters, which
comprised the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2016, and the
Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Changes in Net Assets and Cash Flow
Statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes. The Board was also engaged to also audit the Statements of
Budgetary Operations and Credit Transfers authorized by the Financial Controller for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework and the requirements
of the NATO Financial Regulations as authorized by the North Atlantic Council (NAC).

This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these restated Financial Statements based
on our audit, which is conducted in accordance with our Charter and international
standards on auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial
Statements, due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and presentation of Financial Statements is considered
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Restated Financial Statements

The comparative information included in the 2016 restated financial statements is the
same as was issued in the 2015 restated financial statements, except for minor
reclassifications. The Board issued a qualified opinion on those 2015 restated financial
statements and as a result, the audit opinion on the 2016 restated financial statements is
qualified due to the lack of reliability and comparability of the 2015 comparative
information

Qualified Opinion on the Restated Financial Statements

In our opinion, except for the effects and possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Restated Financial Statements the Restated Financial
Statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of the New NATO
Headquarters as of 31 December 2016, and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year ended and are in accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework.

Report on Compliance
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance

In addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, management is also responsible for ensuring that the
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel
Regulations as authorised by the North Atlantic Council (NAC).

Auditor’s Responsibility

In addition to the responsibility to express an opinion on the Restated Financial
Statements described above, our responsibility includes expressing an opinion on
whether the financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements
are, in all material respects, in compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the
NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. This responsibility includes performing procedures
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the funds have been used for the
settlement of authorized expenditure and whether their operations have been carried out
in compliance with the financial and personnel regulations in force. Such procedures
include the assessment of the risks of material non-compliance.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion on Compliance

The NATO Financial Regulations require the financial statements to be submitted for audit
to the Board by the Financial Controller no later than 31 March following the end of the
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financial year. The financial statements of the New NATO Headquarters for the year
ended 31 December 2016 were initially submitted on 19 May 2017 and the restated
Financial Statements, signed by the Secretary General and the Financial Controller, were
eventually issued on 4 December 2017.

The Board also found that bank balances were not being reconciled during 2016. This
represents a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting.

Qualified Opinion on Compliance
In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the matters described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion on Compliance in all material respects the financial transactions and

information reflected in the Restated Financial Statements are in compliance with the
NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations.

Brussels, 9 February 2018

(Signed) Hervé-Adrien Metzger
Chairman

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
2-4



NATO UNCLASSIFIED

ANNEX 3
IBA-AR(2017)34

9 February 2018

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
FOR THE NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

(NNHQ)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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Introduction

The International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) audited the New NATO
Headquarters (NNHQ) restated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December
2016, and issued a qualified opinion on those financial statements and on compliance.

Observations and Recommendations

During the audit, the Board identified material differences between the Budget Execution
Statement and balances presented in the Statement of Financial Position and
Performance that could not be explained by the IS. Further, the Statement of Cash Flow
was incorrect. Based on the Board findings, the IS issued restated financial statement
for 2016 on the 4" of December 2017 correcting some of the errors identified by the
Board.

The Board did not identify any current year observations other than those identified during
the follow-up of the prior year's observations. The Board found that four observations
remained outstanding and one observation was settled. Two observations continue to
impact the audit opinion on compliance.

The Board also issued a management letter (reference IBA-AML(2017)17) to the
International Staff (IS), Financial Controller.

The Board received factual and formal comments from the IS. Where deemed necessary,
the Board amended its draft report to take into account the factual comments. The IS’s
formal comments are contained in the Appendix to Annex 3.
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEAR’S OBSERVATIONS

The Board reviewed the status of the observation and recommendation arising from the
previous report. The observation and its status are summarised in the table below.

Status of previous year’s observations

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN STATUS
(1) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 1
INABILITY TO OBTAIN SUFFICIENT
APPROPRIATE AUDIT EVIDENCE
Board’s recommendation
The Board recommends using a trial balance, | Better details and information | Observation

generated by the ERP system, as a main
source for the preparation of the financial
statements. The preparer of the financial
statements should keep detailed supporting
working papers in order to be able to support
any balance presented or information disclosed
in the financial statements (e.g. EUR 280.7
million balance in Note 16 to the financial
statements). Moreover, the IS must be able to
provide for each asset / liability account in the
ERP system a breakdown of detail in order to
properly follow-up the balance.

The Board recommends improving the
transparency and availability of the accounting
data by recording all individual accounting
transactions in the ERP system and using
standard workflows for routine transactions. In
situations when aggregated data is entered in
the accounting program, underlying supporting
details (summaries, listings, calculations, etc.)
should be available within the ERP and should
be subject to proper verification and approval
within the system.

The Board recommends implementing the
multi-level financial statements review process
in order to ensure the overall quality of the

issued financial statements and their
compliance  with applicable reporting
frameworks.

have been provided for the
2016 Financial Statements.
Yet, a lack of full transparency
and availability of the
accounting data for all individual
accounting transactions in the
ERP system remain. The Board
found that there was no
documented multi-level review
process to ensure overall
quality of the financial
statements and their
compliance with  applicable
reporting frameworks.

Outstanding.
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION ACTION TAKEN STATUS
(2) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 2
LATE ISSUANCE OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Board’s recommendation
The Board recommends that, in future, the | The 2016 initial financial | Observation

financial statements be submitted by 31 March,
in accordance with the deadline in the NFR’s.

statements were again issued
late, this year on 19 May 2017.
Restated financial statements
were issued on 4 December
2017. This continues to be a
basis for qualification on
compliance.

Outstanding.

(3) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 3

NO STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL
WAS ISSUED

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends that the IS provide the
Board the signed Statement on Internal Control
along with the signed Financial Statements in
due time, as per the requirements of the NFRs.

A Statement of Internal Control
was issued

Observation
Settled.

(4) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 4

NO REGULAR RECONCILIATION ON BANK
BALANCES

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends performing and
documenting regular monthly cash
reconciliations, which will help to identify
misstatements (if any) on a timely basis. This
should include signatures of the preparer and
the reviewer.

Bank balances were not
regularly reconciled during
2016 and this continues to be a
basis for qualification on
compliance.

Observation
Outstanding.

(5) New NHQ FY 2015
IBA-AR(2017)28, paragraph 5

SIGNIFICANT DELAYS IN PROVIDING
INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR THE AUDIT

Board’s recommendation

The Board recommends that the IS Office of
Financial Control provide required information
to the Board in a timely manner. In order to meet
the Board’s deadlines, less flexibility will be

Some improvements were
noted, but some delays still
existed. With the issuance of
Restated Financial Statements

Observation
Outstanding.
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION

ACTION TAKEN

STATUS

provided in future audits.

on 4 December 2017 some
complementary information and
clarification was provided.
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APPENDIX
ANNEX 3
IBA-AR(2017)34

INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE
LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND THE
INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (BOARD) POSITIONS

Formal comment of the International Staff

The trial balance of the ERP is the main source for the preparation of the financial
statements. The recommendations are agreed.

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEAR'S OBSERVATIONS
Audit Report 2015 Financial Statements - IBA-AR(2017)28
Late Issuance of the Financial Statements

The recommendation is agreed. The issuance of the financial statements was
impacted by specific circumstances linked to difficulties encountered with the new
ERP and more generally understaffing of the IS OFC.
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NATO NEW HQ
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended
31 December 2016

Annexes
1 Statement of financial position
2 Statement of financial performance
3 Cash flow statement
4 Statement of changes in net assets
5 Budget execution statements
5} Explanatory notes to the financial statements
(Signed) Jens STOLTENBERG (Signed) Stephane CHAGNOT

Secretary General Financial Controller
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Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Short term investments
Receivables

Prepayments

Other current assets
Inventories

Non-current assets
Receivables

Property, plant & equipment
Intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total assets

Liahilities
Current liabilities
Payables
Deferred revenue
Advances

Short term provisions

Other current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables

Long term provisions
Deferred revenue

Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Capital assets
Reserves

Current year Surplus / (Deficits)

Accumulated surpluses / (deficits) prior year

Total net assets/ equity

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

NEW NATO HQ

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2016
{All amounts in EUR)

ANNEX 1 to

FC(2017)080-REV1

Current Year Prior Year Variance

Notes 2016 2015 CY-PY
384 47 467,999.34 200,271,271.33 -152,803,271.99
344 45,300,001.41 0.00 45,300,001.11
5 774,688.19 1,001,210.15 -226,321.96
6 64,008,770.31 28,178,260.60 35,830,509.71
7 9.368.142.14 662,251.67 8,705,880.47
2 0.00 0.00 0.00
166,919,801.09 230,112,993.75 -63,193,192.66
5 0.00 0.00 0.00
8 §32,220,757.26 747,557,608 23 184,663,149.03
8 0.00 0.00 0.00
8 0.00 0.00 0.00
932,220,757.26 747,557,608.23 184,663,149.03
1,099,140,558.35 977.670,601.98 121,469,956.37
<] -2,187,871.71 -2,796,042.92 608,171.21
10 -134,034,498.80 -179,0983,519.01 45,059,020.21
11 -20,266,158.50 47,712,936 61 27 446,778.11
0.00 0.00 0.00
-10,431,272.08 -510,495.21 -0920,776.87
-166,919,801.09 -230,112,993.75 63,193,192.66
12 0.00 0.00 0.00
13 0.00 -1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00
14 -932,220,757.26 -746,557,608.23 -185,663,149.03
0.00 0.00 0.00
-932,220,757.26 -747,557,608.23 -184,663,149.03
-1,099,140,558.35 -977,670,601.98 -121,469,956.37
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00
17 0.00 0.00 0.00
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Revenue
Non exchange revenue

Exchange revenue

Other revenue
Financial revenue

Total revenus

Expenses

Personnel

Contractual supplies and services
Deprecialion and amortization
Impaiment

Provisions

Other expenses

Finance costs

Total expenses

Surplus/{Deficit) for the period

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

NEW NATC HQ

Statement of financial performance

As at 31 December 2016
(Al amounts in EUR)

ANNEX 2 to

FC(2017)080-REV1

Cutrent Year Prior Year Variance
Notes 2016 2015 CY-PY

15

-3,5680,762.23 -1,450,902 .58 -2,109.859.687

0.00 000 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

0

-3,560,762.23 -1,450,902.56 -2,109,859.67
16

2,854,865 78 1.124,541.14 1730324 64

671.008 14 326,361.42 34464672

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

34,888 31 000 24,8881

3,560,762.23 1,450,902.56 2,109,853.67

ir 0.00 0.00 0.00
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NEW NATO HQ

Statement of cash flow

As at 31 December 2016
(ANl amounts in EUR)

ANNEX 3 to

FC(2017)080-REV1

Notes 2016 2015
18

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus/(Deficit) -
Non-cash movements
Depreciation/ Amortisation -
Impairment - .
Increase H{decrease) in payables (608.171.21) 748,717 18
Increase/ {decrease) in other current liabilities (62,585.021.45) (6,583,375 21)
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions - H
(Gains)fiosses on sale of property, plant and equipment -
Decreasef (increase) in other cumrent assets (44,536,.400.18) B.816.770 58
Decrease/ (Increase} in receivables 226,321.96 22,365,513 68
Increase/ (decrease) in other non-current liabilities 184,663,149.03 172.082.073.86
Net cash flow from operating activities 77,159,878.15 197,439,700.07

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of preperty plant and equipment / Intangible assets {184,663,149.03) (172092 073 87)
Proceads from sale of property plant and equipment - -
Net cash flow from investing activities {184,663,149.03) {172,092,073.87)

Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow from financing activities -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (107,503,270.88) 25,347,626.20
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period 200,271,271.33 174,923.645.13
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period 92,768,000 45 200,271,271.33
NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

ANNEX 4 to
FC(2017)080-REV1

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AS AT 31/12/2016

{in EUR}
Accumulated surpluses/{deficits)
Balance at 31 December 2014 0.00
Deficit on revaluation of property 0.00
Surplus on revaluation of investments (1) 0.00
Currency translation differences 0.00
Net gains and losses not recognized in the statement of financial performance 0.00
Net for the period 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2015 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2015 0.00
Deficit on revaluation of property 0.00
Surplus on revaluation of investments (1} 0.00
Currency transtation differences 0.00
Nel gains and losses not recognized in the statement of financial performance 0.00
Net for the period 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2016 0.00

(1) fixed assels in progress
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED

6-1 ANNEX 6 to
FC(2017)080-REV1

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS PROJECT
2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION

In 1999 Heads of State of the NATO member countries decided at the Washington Summit to build a
New NATO Headquarters (HQ) to meet Alliance requirements for the 215 century. For this New NATO
HQ Project a separate budget was established in 2000.

The budget for the common funded part is approved on an annual basis by the North Atlantic Council,
further to screening and recommendation by the Budget Committee and the Resource Policy and
Planning Board (RPPB). The project is managed following NSIP procedures.

The main construction project, the electronic security services and the audio-visual infrastructure
contracts are managed by the Belgian Ministry of Defence Host Nation Project Management Team
(PMT) under the provisions of the NATO/Belgium MOU, signed on 8 December 2004,

NCIA acts as Host Nation for the Active Network Infrastructure contract. NATO-International Staff (15)
is the Host Nation for the Furniture contract and for the Business Data and Applications Migration
Project (BDAM).

NATO is represented by the IS Defence Investment Division Headquarters Project Office (HQPO),
which is in charge of programme management; coordination, approval procedures and the definition of
requirements. HQPO also represents the interests of Nations in all dealings with the Host Nation.

A Transition Office, within the IS Executive Management Division, was created in 2011 to manage the
practical and organisational aspects of the transition from the current headquarters to the new one.

NATO member nations maintain oversight of the project through the Deputies Committee (DPRC), a
Board comprised of the Deputy Permanent Representatives. HQPO is responsible for financial
management and for ccordination with the DPRC, the Budget Committee, the RPPB, and the North
Atlantic Council.

The overall programme budget ceiling is EUR 1,124 million.
NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below.

Declaration of conformity

The New NATO Headquarters financia! statements have been prepared in accordance with the NATO
Accounting Framework as approved by nations under C-M(2013)0039 on 26 July, 2013 {which adapts
a small number of IPSAS standards to better suit the specific requirements of the Alliance) and with the
NATQ Financial Regulations (NFR), the Financial Rules and Procedures (FRP).

Basis of preparation

These statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the amounts shown in these
financial statements are presented in EUR. The New NATO Headquarters Project will continue in
operation for the foreseeable future.

The following IPSAS have no material effect on the 2016 financial statements of the New NATO
Headquarters Project Office:

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
6-1



NATO UNCLASSIFIED

ANNEX 6 to 6-2
FC(2017)080-REV1
IPSAS 5. Borrowing Costs.
IPSAS 6: Consclidated and Separate Financial
IPSAS 7: Investments in Associates.
IPSAS 8: Interests in Joint Ventures
IPSAS 10: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
IPSAS 11: Construction Cantracts
IPSAS 16: Investment Property
IPSAS 18: Segment reporting
IPSAS 21: Impairment of non-cash generating assets
IPSAS 26: Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets
IPSAS 27: Agriculture
IPSAS 32: Service Concession Arrangement: Grantor

The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.
Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which it is appropriate to separately
report financial information. No segments are identified in this project and are therefore not reported in
these financial statements.

Changes in Accounting Policy and Reclassification of financial statements of previous years
None to report.
Reclassification of financial statements of previcus years

Some items of the statement of financial position (mainly current liability accounts) have been
readjusted compared to 2015.

Use of estimates

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements include amounts
based on estimates and assumptions by management, according to the most reliable information
available, judgement and assumptions. Estimates include work in progress, provisions, accrued
revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are
reflected in the period in which they become known.

Foreign currency transactions

The New NATO Headquarters Project's budget is authorized and managed in EUR so contribution calls
are made in EUR. Foreign currency transactions as required are accounted for at the NATO parity
rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end which were
denominated in foreign currencies were converted into EUR using the NATO parity rates applicable at
31 December 2016.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the revaluation at the reporting dates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in Non-Current Liabilities.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED

6-3 ANNEX G to
FC(2017)080-REV1

Financial risks

The New NATO Headquarters Project Office uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part of
its normal operations. These financial elements include cash, bank accounts, deposit accounts,
accounts receivable and Funds Managed for Third Parties.

All the financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair value.

The New NATO Headquarters Project is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign
exchange risk, credit risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

Foreign currency exchange risk

The exposure to foreign currency risk is limited as the majority of the New NATO Headquarters Project's
expenditures are made in EUR, the currency of its Budget. All bank accounts are held in EUR.

Credit risk

The New NATO Headquarters Project incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks
and from receivables.

The maximum exposure as at 31 December 2016 is equal to the total amount of bank balances, short
term deposits and receivables. There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these
elements.

Concerning cash and cash equivalent the New NATO Headquarters Project credit risk is managed by
holding current bank accounts and short term highly liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash held with ING Bank (Belgium) which has the following short term credit ratings:

ING Bank Credit Ratings as at 07/02/2017
Fitch Moody's S&P
Short term F1 NA A2

The New NATO Headquarters Project’s outstanding accounts receivable are managed by maintaining
control procedures over receivables. Most cash receivables are due from NATO member nations, which
are considered credit worthy.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is based on the assessment as to whether the New
NATO Headquarters Project will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. A liquidity risk could arise from a short term liquidity requirement. There is a very limited
exposure to liquidity risk because of the funding mechanism which guarantees contributions in relation
to the approved New NATO Headquarters Project budget. Some limited risk could be due to the
accuracy of budget forecasts.

Interest rate risk
Except for certain cash and cash equivalent balances, the New NATO Headquarters’ financial assets
and liabilities do not have associated interest rates. The New NATQ Headquarters is restricted from
entering into borrowings and investments, and, therefore, there is an insignificant interest rate risk.
Interest earned is not a budgetary resource but contributes to the surplus owed to Nations.
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include cash in hand, deposits held
with banks, other short term highly liquid investments.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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ANNEX 6 to 6-4
FC(2017)080-REV1

Cash held on behalf of third parties corresponding to amounts called and received in relation to the
nationally funded elements and the fit-out of delegations, and amounts corresponding to anticipated
contributions are reported separately.

Receivables
Receivables are stated at net realisable value, after provision for doubtful and uncollectable debts.

Contributions receivable are recognised when a call for contribution, based on the approved budget,
has been issued to the funding Nations. These receivables represent the uncollected contributions from
Member Nations. The same policy applies for contributions related to the nationally funded elements
but not to the fit-out of delegations. No allowance for loss is recorded with respect to Member countries’
assessed contributions receivable.

Prepayments

A prepayment is a payment in advance of the period to which it pertains and is mainly in respect of
advance payments made to third parties. In the case of the New NATO Headquarters Project, advance
payments are essentially related to the pre-financing of PMT and NCIA expenses. The terms of the
MOU prevent Host Nation Belgium (PMT) from pre-financing any aspect of the project.

Inventories

NATO's adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
12 Inventories, It is described as follows:

Control of NATO Inventories was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of
control of an asset. A positive response on six of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalised in
the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold.

Criteria that may indicate control of an asset

The act of purchasing the asset carried out (or resulted from instructions given) by the NATO
Reporting Entity.

The legal title is in the name of the NATO Reporting Entity.

The asset is physically located on the premises or locations used by the NATO Reporting Entity.

The asset is physically used by staff employed by the NATO Reporting Entity or staff working under
the NATO Reporting Entity’s instructions.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide on an alternative use of the asset.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide to sell or to dispose the asset.

The faci that the NATO Reporting Entity, if it has to remove or destroy the asset, can take the decision
to replace it.

The fact that a representative of the NATO Reporting Entity regularly inspects the asset to determine
its current condition.

The fact that the asset is used in achieving the objectives of the NATO Reporting Entity.

The fact that the asset will be retained by the NATO Reporting Entity at the end of the activity.

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow:

Category Threshold Basis

Consumables €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Spare Parts €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Ammunition €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Strategic stocks €50,000 Per location/warehouse

Slow moving inventory — Assuming turnover of stock is over a 12 month period, any items not used

over a 36 month period will be deemed to be slow moving.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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6-5 ANNEX 6 to
FC(2017)080-REV1

Strategic stock — Some complex elements of siow moving stock can be identified as strategic if they
are deemed essential to the effective operation of an asset and cannot be readily replaced by
commercial off the shelf items or cannot be purchased due to market decisions to close production lines
of key inventory items due to the advanced age of the strategic asset to which the stock relates

The NNHQ Project will capitalise inventory which it controls in its financial statements. Where there is
a conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of inventory, only the end-
user entity will report the inventory in its financial statements, based on reliable information provided by
the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two entities.

The NNHQ Project will include transportation costs involved in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition in the initial valuation of inventory, These costs will be measured on the actual
cost of transportation per item of inventory or by using an apportionment of the global transportation
costs of bringing the inventories to their present location and condition across all inventory items in the
period. Transportation costs involved in the subsequent movement of inventory which brings them into
operational use will not be included in the value of inventory. The method of measuring these costs will
be disclosed.

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation shall apply. For the
remainder, IPSAS 12 shall apply.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 12 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented. The value of NNHQ inventories is immaterial both in value and in terms of the nature of
the items held. Consequently, inventory is fully expensed when goods are received.

Non-Current Assets (Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets)

2012 was the first year during which construction works related to the nationally funded elements were
performed. These works are recognized as non-current assets (PPE: Property, Plant and Equipment)
held on behalf of third parties, at least during the construction period. The reasoning stems from a
number of factors. The NHQ building constitutes a coherent and global building whose purpose is to
bring together member nations in order to enable an efficient and effective consultation process. This
situation whereby dedicated National Representations are present on site is very specific to NATO and
does not really exist in other comparable international organizations. The member nations are not
considered, from a legal perspective, as having direct property rights on the parts of the building
corresponding to their own delegation premises, but rather having an exclusive right of use. In this
respect the different funding cost shares cannot be deemed a factor justifying a specific accounting
treatment. The situation also carries certain restrictions, such as the inability to execute works affecting
or altering the basic structure of the building, and to sell their premises. Additionally, at this stage of
the project itis difficult to accurately distinguish the value between these common and nationally funded
components. However, their inclusion provides useful and clear information which contributes to
financial transparency.

This does not preclude that in the future, an ability to limit physical access will exist, which could then
justify an exclusion from NATO PPE. Until then, as currently, common funded and nationally funded
construction works will be managed as a single project. At this point, and from an accounting
standpoint, the fact remains that the economic benefit or the service potential is measured by the
contribution to consensus building and therefore it cannot be separated from NATO's
purpose. Therefore, this would not justify a separate accounting treatment until such a time as the
building is operational and the related building parts are handed over to the nations concerned. It
shoufd be noted that this approach does not apply to the national fit-out segment, for which four nations
have decided to act separately. The impact on previous years’ financial statements is not material as
no related works had been performed and therefore no fixed assets were recognised.

NATO’s adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)00389 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
17 Property Plant and Equipment. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO PPE was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of control
of an asset — they are the same as mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on six of the

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization

threshold.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow:

Category Threshold Depreciation life Method
Land €200,000 N/A N/A
Buildings £€200,000 40 years Straight line
Other infrastructure €200,000 40 years Straight line
Installed eguipment € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Machinery € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Vehicles € 10,000 5 years Straight line
Aircraft €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line
Vessels €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line
Missian equipment € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Furniture € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Communications € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Automated information € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Systems

In the case of the New NATO Headquarters Project to date PPE is work in progress. Depreciation will
start after acceptance of the completed work.

The principles of valuing and depreciating fixed assets are the following:

Buildings are shown at fair value based on internal valuations at the reporting date. Valuation is done
based on judgment using the best available information from relevant sources. With regard to land on
which the buildings are erected, see note on Leases.

All other non-current assets, Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) and intangible assets are recorded
at their historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 17 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented. Although the adaptation to IPSAS allows one to consider PPE acquired prior to 1
January 2013 as fully expensed, it was decided not to do so; amounts considered as PPE work in
progress prior to 1 January 2013 remain capitalized in the interest of disclosing relevant and complete
information regarding the value of the future NNHQ.

Intangible Assets:

NATO'’s adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
31 Intangible Assets. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO Intangible Assets was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level
of control of an asset — they are the same as mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on
six of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the
capitalization threshold. This is applied from January, 2013.

NATO Intangible Assets Capitalization Thresholds - the NNHQ Project will capitalize each intangible
asset item that is above the following agreed NATQ thresholds:

Category Threshold Depreciation life Method
Computer software {commercial €50,000 4 years Straight line
off the shelf)

Computer software (bespoke) €50,000 10 years Straight line
Computer database €50,000 4 years Straight line
Integrated system €50,000 4 years Straight line
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The NNHQ Project will capitalize all controlled intangible assets above the NATO Intangible Asset
Capitalization Threshold. For anything below the threshold, the NNHQ will have the flexibility to expense
specific items.

The NNHQ Project will capitalize integrated systems and include research, development,
implementation and can include both software and hardware elements. But the NNHQ Project will not
capitalise the following types of intangible assets in their financial statements:

rights of use(air, land and water);
landing rights;

airport gates and slots;

historical documents; and,
publications

The NNHQ Project will capitalize other types of intangible assets acquired after 1 January 2013
including:

= Copyright
+ Intellectual Property Rights
+ Software development

The NNHQ may consider Intangible Assets acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed.

The NNHQ Project will report controlled Intangible assets in its financial statements. Where there is a
conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of intangible assets, only the
end-use entity will capitalize the intangible asset in its financial statements based on reliable information

provided by the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two
entities.

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation will apply. For the
remainder, IPSAS 31 shall apply. This adaptation is effective for financial reporting periods beginning
on 1 January 2013.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 31 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented.

Impairment of fixed assets:

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes of circumstances
indicate that they may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the impairment loss. Any provision for impairment losses is
charged against the Statement of Financial Position (during the construction process) in the year
concerned.

Current liabilities
Payables

Payables are amounts due to Nations in relation with budget rules and services provided, or to third
parties based on goods received or services provided they remain unpaid. This includes an estimate of
accrued obligations to third parties for goods and services received but not yet invoiced.

Payables due to Nations include in particular the surplus as per the NATO Financial Regulations. In
authorizing the New NATO Headquarters Project budget, Nations agreed that it would be a special
budget extending over several years. Nations agreed that financial closure would take place only when
the Project has been fully realised. Consequently, it was agreed that credits and the refundable surplus
can be maintained with the entity until the Project's completion {C-M{2000)36). Amounts which would
have been normally returned to contributing Nations in the framework of the standard NATO Financial
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Regulations' provisions — such as net interest earned, miscellaneous receipts, lapsed credits,
accumulated surplus - remain on the entity’s accounts.

Funds Managed for Third Parties (National Funds)

Funds managed on behalf of third parties (National Funds) are held in cash or as a receivable if they
correspond to an unpaid non-budgetary contribution in relation to nationally funded elements. In case
of an anticipated/voluntary contribution, they are accounted for when cash is effectively received. The
corresponding amounts are presented as a current liability under funds managed for third parties
(national funds).

As a consequence of the recognition of the nationally funded elements as Project's non-current assets,
contributions called from the Nations with regard to the nationally funded elements are treated in a way
comparable to that of budgetary contributions. Amounts called and amounts not converted to unearned
revenue, which fund the related works, are included as liabilities under funds managed for third parties.
The uncollected amount appears as a receivable,

Advances and Unearned Revenue

Unearned Revenue represents participating Nations' contributions related to approved annual budgets
that have not yet been recognised as revenue in the absence of matching expenses, but which have
been called for current common funded budgets and for nationally funded construction works. Funds
are called in advance of requirements because the New NATO Headquarters Project has no capital
that would allow it to pre-finance any of its activities.

Advances are contributions called related to future years’ budgets. Voluntary advances made by
outside of the call for contributions process are accounted as funds managed for third parties.

Revenue and expense recognition

All the costs incurred under the New NATCO Headquarters Project since its inception, except those
related to the Transition Office, qualify to be capitalized as PPE Work in Progress. This includes
personnel and operating costs. The matching budget resources provided by Nations to fund these
Works in Progress are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position as Long Term
Unearned Revenue. No revenue is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance, except for
the part attributable to the Transition Office.

The task of the Transition Office is to plan and execute the transition from the current NATOQ HGQ to the
new NATO HQ. Its purpose is to transform the way NATO HQ operates to make best use of the facilities
and technologies in the new NATO HQ; to relocate staff, NATO agencies and national delegations; and
to return the current NATO HQ campus to Belgiurn. Transition Office related costs consist mainly in
salaries of its staff, and at this stage in consultancy services on best ways to conduct the operations in
the new building. It is therefore considered that they do not fulfil the criteria set by IPSAS 17 to qualify
as directly attributable costs of the asset under construction. As a consequence Transition Office costs
should be expended rather than capitalized.

In the future, after the transfer of the building to the NATO International Staff, earned revenue will be
progressively recognised from this long term unearned revenue, in an amount equal to annual
depreciation of the related PPE, Intangible Assets etc. of the building, as future economic benefits and
service potential will flow to the NATO International Staff when the building is operational.

Non-budgetary contributions called from Nations corresponding to the nationally funded construction
works are treated as Long Term Unearned Revenue in an amount equal to the estimation of works
completed.

Revenue from exchange and non-exchange transactions
There is no revenue from exchange transactions, as the contributions by Nations are based on a fixed

cost-share of reimbursable costs for the construction of the New NATO Headquarters Project. They are
considered as a liability for long term unearned revenue funding assets in progress.
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NOTE 3: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The current bank accounts are held in EUR. Deposits are held in interest-bearing bank current
accounts, immediately available.

Derogations to NATO Financial Regulations were approved by the Council (C-M(2000)36 and
BC-D(2000)20). In particular paragraphs 4.4 of the latter document introduce flexible arrangements for
national contributions to allow Nations to make anticipated contributions. No ceiling is applicable to the
amount of cash holdings other than what is needed for the project.

NOTE 4: CASH MANAGED FOR THIRD PARTIES

To meet the Project's payment for the fit-out and nationally funded elements under the NSIP rules and
procedures, the IS Office of Financial Control has opened bank accounts in the names of NATO
member Nations. Interest earned is credited to the specific bank account of the Nation concerned.
These are extra-budgetary funds belonging to the Nations concerned. Separate contribution calls are
made for the fit-out and for nationally funded parts of the Project. The planning foresees that the Nations
make payments in advance of the quarterly payment request. A matching liability is posted against the
amount of cash held on behalf of the Nations concerned and of the amount of uncollected related
contributions called for what concerns the nationally funded construction works.

These funds also includes amounts relating to anticipated contributions made by some nations.

There are also funds from Eurocontrol as their contribution to works for a secure pedestrian access
between their headquarters and the NNHQ site.

The total amount of cash held at the end of the year on the specific bank accounts of the nations or
entities concerned may not match the value of funds held on behalf of the third parties because of
voluntary advances made on the bank account for Common Funded operations, or of contributions not
received on the appropriate bank account, etc. The breakdown of these bank accounts by country and
entity is the following.
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FUNDS MANAGED FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THIRD PARTIES
Bank Balances at Year End

end 2016 end 2015
US MISSION FUNDS EUR 5,383,501.34( 16,703,274.17
ALBANIANEW SITE DEL EUR 94,314.04 326,598.85
BELGIUMNEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 6,172,041.15] 6,562,078.07
BULGARIANEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 440,728.08| €,562,078.07
CANADA NEW SITE DEL EUR 125,689.91 482,666.41
CROATIANEW SITE DEL EUR 262,501.77 774,089.01
CZECH REP.NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 489,298.35 501,452.99
DENMARK NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 152,731.59 797,539.87
ESTONIANEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 387910.74 338,762 .45
FRANCE NEW SITE DEL EUR 104,359.84 604,755.04
GERMANY NEW SITEDEL F.Q. EUR 637,079.49 942,255.68
GREECE NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 281,821.92 688,222.94
HUNGARY NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 435,708.99 494,411 .49
ICELAND NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 110,261.38 121,298.66
ITALY NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 4,438,305.18| 13,225,230.05
LATVIANEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 348,260.31| 1,034,361.61
LATVIANEWHQ EUR 655,260.79 654,997 42
LITHUANIANEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 525,972 .81 429,354.53
LUXEMBOURG NEW SITE DEL F.C. EUR 24761743 202,808.15
NETHERLANDS NEW SITE F.O. EUR 166,747.25 557,741.99
NORWAY NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 470,342.03 569,558.53
POLAND NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 436,797.30 629,628.30
PORTUGAL NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 418,170.79 538,558.66
ROMANIANEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 425,924.39 566,828.16
SLOVAKIA NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 399,730.25 499,545.92
SLOVENIANEWSITEDEL F.O. EUR 361,457.69 43543917
SPAIN NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 473,877.74 566,537.23
TURKEY NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 760,577.49 79597883
U.K. NEW SITE DEL EUR 54,997.08 481,330.35
U.5.A NEW SITE DEL EUR 1,745,326.86] 3,729,314.35
NHQ EUROCONTROL EUR 2,042.72 1,945.77
NEWHQ FIT-OUT EUR 3,797.98 3,718.12

MONTENEGRO NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 646,586.00

TOTAL EUR 27,660,940.68 | 60,822,370.84
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NOTE §: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Contributions receivable from member Nations are funds requested from the Nations to finance the
Common Funded Budget, the Nationally Funded component and the Fit-Out. Usually a single call is
issued at the beginning of the year for each component.

Other Receivables from Nations concern amounts due for other cases than contributions to the NNHQ
budget or nationally funded elements.

Other Receivables relate to miscellaneous amounts due to the Project (e.g. reimbursement of operating
costs, insurance claims, advances to staff for education allowances etc.).

NOTE 6: PREPAYMENTS

Receivables from the PMT relate to advance payments made to the PMT which are not regularised at
year end as they do not correspond to works completed. The terms of the MOU prevent the Host Nation
from prefinancing any aspect of the Project. On a cash basis, at year end 2016, PMT held
EUR 62,366,505 received from NHQPO as advance payments (EUR 20,569,321 at year end 2015).
On an accruals basis, including provisions, taking into account amounts due by PMT, the net advance
to be regularised amounted to EUR 47,843,960 (EUR 13,315,682.69 at year end 2015).

Similarly, at year end 2015, NHQPQ has advanced funds to the NCIA in an amount of
EUR 16,164,810.31 (EUR 14,848,460.61 at year end 2015) on an accruals basis.

Prepayments to suppliers (i.e. other than the two Host Nations mentioned above) amounted to EUR 0
(EUR 14,117.30 at year end 2015).

Prepayments 2016 2015 Variance
PMT Common Funded 45,176,187.00 9,382,131.00 | 35,794,056.00
PMT Nationally Funded 2,667,773.00 3,933,551.69 |- 1,265,778.69

NCIA 16,164,810.31 | 14,848,460.61 1,316,349.70
Sub-Total Host Nations 64,008,770.31 | 28,164,143.30 | 35,844,627.01
Suppliers - 14,117.30 |- 14,117.30
TOTAL 64,008,770.31 | 28,178,260.60 | 35,830,509.71

NOTE 7: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Corresponds essentially to reciprocal bank transactions between the New NATO HQ Project and NATO
International Staff accounts,

NOTE 8: NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Costs charged as PPE Work in Progress cover the common funded PPE and the nationally funded
construction works held on behalf of the member Nations which at this stage of the project are
considered not separable from the overall amount of fixed assets.

The following tables reconcile PPE amounts at the beginning and at the end of 2016 {and of 2015).
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. Carrying Amount . Other Carrying Amount
{amounts in EUR) end 2015 Additions | Disposals | Depreciation Changes end 2016

COMMON FUNDED

Personnel {chapter 1} 18,835,664 1,920,942 20,756,606

Operating Costs (chapter 2) 37,335,984 11,719,638 49,055,622

Professional fees (chapler 3) 116,949,744 9,877.952 126,827,695

Works {chapter 4) 465,517,971| 98,060,101 563,578,071

Special Equipment (chapter 5) 648,180 6,736,447 7,384,627

SUB-TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 639,287,542 128,315,080 0 0 0 767,602,622

NATIONALLY FUNDED 0

Works 77,666,447 18,174,146 95,840,593

SUB-TOTAL NATIONALLY FUNDED 77,666,447 18,174,146 0 0 0 95,840,593

TOTAL [ _716.953,989| 148,489,226| 1] 0 0] 863,443,215
Carmying Amount , ' Other | Carrying Amount

{amounts in EUR) end 2014 Additions Disposals | Depreciation Changes end 2015

COMMON FUNDED

Personnel {chapler 1} 16,735,689 2,098,975 18,835,664

Operating Costs (chapter 2) 27,162,632 10,173,352 37,335,984

Professional fees (chapter 3) 107,928,470 9,020,274 116,949,744

Works {chapter 4) 349.297,77ﬂ 116,220,194 465,517,971

Special Equipment {chapter 5) 161,928| 486,252 648,180

SUB-TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 501,287,496] 138,000,046 0 0 0 639,287,542

NATIONALLY FUNDED 1]

Works 55,718,218 21,948,229 77,666,447

SUB-TOTAL NATIONALLY FUNDED 55,718,218] 21,948,229} 0 0 [ 77,666,447

TOTAL | §57,005,714] 159,948,275| [ of 0| 716,953,989

The following table reconciles the ANWI Assets amounts at the beginning and at the end of 2016 (and

of 2015).
Canying Amount . A Other | Carrying Amount
{amounts in EUR) end 2015 Additions |Disposals | Depreciation Changes end 2016
COMMON FUNDED
Personnel (chapter 1) 0 0 0
Operating Costs (chapter 2) 0 0 0
Professional fees (chapler 3) 10,633,566 5,977,226 16,610,792
Works {chapter 4) 0 0 0
Special Equipment (chapler 5) 19,970,053| 32,196,698 52,166,751
TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 30,603,619 38,173,924 0 2] 0 68,777,543
Canying Amount - f Other | Carrying Amount
{amounts in EUR) end 2014 Additions | Disposals | Depreciation Changes end 2015
COMMON FUNDED
Personnel (chapter 1) 0 0 0
Operaling Costs (chapter 2} 0 0 0
Professional fees {chapter 3) 10,392,278 241,288 10,633,566
Works (chapter 4) 0 0 0
Special Equipment (chapter 5) 8,067,542 11,902,511 19,970,053
TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 18,459,820 12,143,799 0 0 0 30,603,619

A series of contracts have been entered into in relation to non-current assets, mainly by the PMT and
the NCIA as Host Nations, and for smaller amounts by NHQPQ. The main open contractual
commitments, excluding non-works related contracts with a short term (such as for security and guard

services), are the following.
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The main construction contract was let in June 2010, at the price set in January 2010 of approximately
MEUR 360 (MEUR 438 including National Funding). This base price does not include adjustments for
price revisions. Further to a claim introduced end 2013 and settled in 2014, an agreement was reached
to pay additional MEUR B5 and an extension of the construction period of 4.5 months.

The amounts below do not include any potential impact from the delay of the move date.

The Concept Design Team contract was transferred to the PMT and has an LTPB planned cost of
MEUR 89.045, with no impact by the claim.

The PMT awarded in 2013, the contract for the Electronic Security System in an amount of MEUR 14.9
{2013 value). The 4.5 month extension agreed with the general construction contractor implied an
estimated EUR 1.540 million additional cost. Regarding the contract for the Audio Visual Infrastructure
in an initial amount of MEUR 26.4 (2013 value), an estimated additional costs of MEUR 1.280 was
agreed to compensate the 4.5 months delay.

In 2013, NCIA awarded the contract for the Active Network Infrastructure in the amount of MEUR 79.766
and MEUR 2.010 for Independent Validation and Verification Services. In order to achieve savings a
reduction in scope of KEUR 500 was agreed by the DPRC and an estimated additional cost of MEUR
1.500 was agreed {o compensate the 4.5 manths delay.

Contracts were awarded by NHQPO for Furniture Supply (MEUR 8.9) and for Business Data and
Applications Migration (MEUR 4.1).

There are Project Support and Engineering Fees for NCIA in relation to the Active Network
Infrastructure, in an estimated amount of EUR 13.0 million.

The MOU between NATO and the Host Nation provides that management fees (National Administrative
Expenses, NAE) equal to 3% of the works will be paid (LTPB total amount:. MEUR 21.583).

NOTE 9: PAYABLES

Payables and accrued expenses may be to commercial suppliers, staff, Member Nations and other
NATO bodies.

Payable to suppliers

Payable to suppliers relates to goods and services for which an invoice has been received, checked,
and queued for payment but for which payment was still pending at year-end.

Payable to personnel

Payable to personnel relates to amounts due to staff in relation to remuneration of interns or temporary
staff, travel expenses and hospitalities.

Payable to Nations

An amount of EUR 80,105 (EUR 903,947 end 2015) was payable to Nations for the Construction
Surveillance Technical Team relating to reimbursement to those Nations who provided personnel to the
Team during financial year 2016 or before. Most of those Nations have opted for direct payment, one
has opted for deductions from its contributions.

A payable of EUR1,513,305.90 (EUR 1,437,652.07 end 2015) is in relation to the reimbursable salaries
due to the United States for a civilian staff member who is paid directly by the United States government.
This amount can be used by the United States by applying it against its annual Project contribution.
Payable to other NATO bodies

This includes amounts received from NATO bodies in support of projects funded by the Civil Budget.
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Accruals

Accrued expenses correspond to the estimated accrual obligation to third parties for goods and services
received but not yet invoiced

NOTE 10: DEFERRED REVENUE
Unearned Revenue from Budgetary Appropriations

Unearned Revenue from budgetary appropriations corresponds to contributions called in relation to
approved budgets up to 2016 but for which corresponding expenses will be incurred after the reporting
date of 31 December 2016. The Unearned Revenue includes principally those amounts of contributions
which will be spent in subsequent years on the New NATO Headquarters Project budget as credits
carried-forward resulting from the budget execution in accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations
(and the specific waiver thereto applicable to this project) and advances made to the PMT and the
NCIA,

Other Unearned Revenue

There are also National Funds corresponding to funds managed on behalf of Nations outside of the
standard call for Common Funded budgetary contributions process which are the counterpart of specific
contributions called from Nations to meet the Project's payment for the Fit-Out or for Nationally Funded
elements.

NOTE 11: ADVANCES
Advances Related to the Budgetary Process

Up to 2013 there were no such as advances received as there had not been calls for advance budgetary
contributions. However, when setting up the funding framework related to the settlement of the claim
introduced end 2013, it was agreed that Nations could opt for providing funding beyond what was
needed for the part corresponding to the 2014 budget. This has resulted in EUR 20,768,632 being
called. Further to the allocation of these amounts to the calls issued in 2018 and in 2015 and to
additional contributions, the open amount end 2016 was EUR 458,461.90 (end 2015. EUR
8,630,461.10).

Other Advances

Nations may, in addition, make ad hoc voluntary additional contributions (EUR 20,526,852.92) in
relation to the Common Funded budget, to their Nationally Funded component or to their Fit-Out.

NOTE 12: OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Other Current Liabilities linked to the budget process

Lapsed credits are budget funds for which no legal liability exists. They cannot be spent in subsequent
years. l.apsed credits are normally deducted from the contributions due from Nations in the call of the
following year.

Receipts linked to interest, foreign exchange difference gain and bank charges are normally deducted
from the contributions due by Nations in the following year.

The standard budgetary process provides that amounts corresponding to the current year budgetary
surplus (lapsed credits + net interests + miscellaneous income) are considered a liability towards the
contributing nations. The settlement does not follow the normal accounts payable process, since the
standard approach is to return them to contributing nations via a deduction of the following year's call
for budget contributions. Nations may also decide that part or all of the budgetary surplus is made
available for use in future years. In the case of the NNHQ Project member nations have decided that
this rule would not apply until completion of the project and that all available appropriations at the end
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of each year would be carried forward. Consequently calls for contributions are equal to the gross
amount of the approved budget with no deductions for any surplus.

Project Accumulated Surplus

Project Accumulated Surplus resulting from previous years' budget execution, which amounted to
EUR 13,339,622.00 end 2013, remained until then in the entity's accounts in accordance with the
specific budget funding rules approved by Nations, according to which surpluses are not returned to
contributing Nations before the completion of the project.

This amount can be broken down into the following components:

cumulative amounts since the beginning of the project until 2013}

lapsed credits (including frozen) 12,213,702.50
net overcall {minus = undercall) -4,588,528.69
interest earned 5,700,330.32
miscellaneous income 14,117.87
Total 13,339,622.00

When assessing. end 2014, the funding impact of the settlement of the claim with the contractor and
related additional costs, Nations decided to use the surplus as of end 2013 and to allecate it as a
resource in order fo reduce contributions to be called in this respect. As a consequence, end 2014, the
surplus available from previous years was nil.

Since then the surplus is limited to net financial revenue and miscellaneous revenue.
NOTE 13: NON CURRENT LIABILITIES : PROVISIONS
Provisions relate to design fees.

Concerning design fees, the provision relates to additional studies and/or modifications done by the
CDT in 2009, at the request of the PMT. An original estimate was made for EUR 2 million concerning
2008. Further to various settlements and minor adjustments the related provision was assessed at
EUR 1.000 million at year end 2015. The remaining settlement finally amounted to EUR 582,358.60

NOTE 14: LONG TERM UNEARNED REVENUE

This revenue corresponds to the contributions, budgetary and non-budgetary, that funded fixed assets
work in progress.

For common funded PPE and Intangible Assets, the amount originates from budget contributions.
Funding provided for the nationally funded elements maltching completed related works is also
considered long term unearned revenue during the construction period. A specific accounting treatment
may have to be determined when the related building parts are operational and the corresponding
assets are transferred to the national delegations.

NOTE 15: REVENUE

Budgetary revenue is matched to recognised expenses relating to the activities of the Transition Office.

Any interest gained is attributed to the funding of the construction itself and is therefore not recognised
in the statement of financial performance.

NOTE 16: EXPENSES
The only expenses recognised are those related to the Transition Office. They consist mainly of the

salaries of staff, administrative expenses and miscellaneous consultancy studies conducted in order to
optimize the use of the future building. Consultancy services) are included under the item “salaries” to
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be consistent with the budget breakdown, which explains the changes from year to year (Transition
Office staffing remaining almost unchanged).

Banking costs are not recognised as expenses but are deducted from interests earned.

NOTE 17: NET RESULT OF THE PERIOD

Given that revenue stemming from budgetary resources is recognised in an equal amount to expenses,
the result of the year is nil.

NOTE 18: CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement is presented following the indirect method.

NOTE 19: BUDGET INFORMATION AND RECONCILIATION WITH CASH FLOWS
Presently, NATO budgets are not publicly available.

Presentation of budget information in the financial statements

Besides NATO Financial Regulations and Financial Rules and Procedures as well as elements of the
NSIP procedure, the New Headquarters Project is governed by the following:

Project Authorization to Ministry of Defense BE: C-M{2007)0076-AS1,

MOU between Ministry of Defense BE and NATO: SG(2004)1220-REV4,

CDT Contract signed between Belgium and CDT in December 2004 (PMT responsibility),
Council derogation to NATO Financial Regulations (C-M(2000)36) and Budget Committee
derogation to NFR (BC-DS(2007)0005). The derogation concerns, in particular: committed, or
to be committed credits, which may be carried forward until the closure of the Project; the only
limitations to cash holdings being the actual funding requirements.

anoo

There are three types of funding:

- NATO Common Funding (CF) for Common Infrastructure requirements: based on an approved
Cost Sharing Formula specific to the New NATO HQ Project (SG(99)1707, C-M(2004)0061 and
BC-D(2009)0008-ADD1).

- National Funding (NF) for Construction of Private Space of Delegations: calculated on the basis
of actual ‘shell and core’ costs based an the number of gross square meters of cccupied space,

- National Funding for Fit-Out of Delegations: based on actual costs to fit-out the occupied space
of each Delegation.

The initial budgst in NATO corresponds to the credits that are initially authorised by the North Atlantic
Council annually at the end of the previous financial year. During the year the budget is adjusted as
required. The final authorisation is the credit situation as reported at the end of the financial year
including approved budgetary increases/decreases and transfers approved by the IS Financial
Controller (between Chapters of the New NATO HQ budget up to 5% of the credits initially granted for
the receiving chapter} or by the Budget Committee.

There are two types of credits: Cash Credits (CC) are approved credits against which payments can be
made during the budget year; Contract Authority Credits (CA) are approved credits to enter into a legal
obligation for multi-year contracts. No payment may be made against CA prior to its conversion into
CccC.

The New NATO Headquarters Project 2016 initial budget authorization, for the Common Funded part,
amounted to EUR 133,997,959, in addition, an amount of EUR 134,644,270.48 related to credits carried
over from the previous financial years. The National Funding component for 2016 was approved in the
amount of EUR 1,422,252, The Fit-Out programme was foreseen at EUR 5,255,097 to which changes
could be done depending on nation's involvement in the furniture programme.
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It should be noted that the credits approved for 2016, as for previous budget years, do not correspond
to the full extent of the annual costs, including for Salaries and Operations and Maintenance. Credits
carried forward from previous years were used, with the agreement of Nations, to fund 2016
commitments and expenses.

Budget execution statements for 2016 and 2015 are provided at Annex 4,

The LTPB 2017-2018 (DPRC-D{2016)0004-REVZ(INV))} is shown in Addendum 1 at the end of these
notes.

Reconciliation of the Budget Execution Statement and the Financial Performance Statement

The budget is prepared for the same period (1 January to 31 December) and encompasses the same
entity as these financial statements but the basis and the presentation format are different.

The New NATO HQ Project budget is prepared and executed on a commitment basis. The commitment
of credits is the advance acceptance and recording of the financial consequence resulting from a legal
obligation incurred during the financial year. Unliquidated commitments are carried forward and added
to the budget of the following financial year to the extent of existing legal liabilities or if a special
agreement is given by the Budget Committee. The balance of unused budgetary credits (not
committed) lapses but is not returned to nations at year-end, in accordance with the derogation agreed
by the NAC.

The budget classification is based on the economic nature of the expenses broken down into five
chapters as follows:

Chapter I Personnel Expenses
Chapter Il: Operating Expenses
Chapter Il Intellectual Services
Chapter IV: Demolition/Construction Works

Chapter V: Special Equipment

However, in these financial statements all costs, with the exception of those relating to the Transition
Office, are considered as investing activities.

The New NATO HQ budget, like all the other NATO budgets, contains budget chapters and items
corresponding to capital expenditure. The latter result in increases of non-current assets {(essentially
PPE) and in changes to the level of advances made to the Host Nations given the specific operating
model of the NNHQ Project concerning the construction of the building and its IT systems. All budget
expenses related to the Host Nations are, in practice, advances. Prepayments to suppliers, in the
context of the standard accounts payable process, are not taken into account for the purpose of this
reconciliation. Concerning the budget execution statement, it must be noted that the approved budget
concerns exclusively the Common Funded component of the building. The Nationally Funded
component is not strictly speaking a budget (see below) but, the execution of its expenses in a quasi-
budget context does result in increases of the related non-current assets and changes in related cash
advances to the Host Nations. Also, carried forward credits, in the case of the NNHQ Project,
correspond to unused funds (see Council derogation above); only budget expenses have a financial
impact. As a consequence the reconciliation of the budget execution statement should be made
between the budget expenses on one side, and, on the other side, the statement of financial
performance, changes in the fevel of non-current assets and of advances to Host Nations, taking into
account the distinction between the Common Funded and the Nationally Funded components. Such is
the purpose of the table below. It shows that an absolute reconciliation could not be made by an amount
of EUR 82,795 which corresponds to un-identified cut-off issues between 2015 and 2016 financial years
and to the impact of issues encountered in the context of the first years of implementation of the ERP.

The item "Other Elements” in the table below corresponds to adjustments that have to be made to take
into account the following cases: + EUR 695,124 of security services incurred during 2015 which were
capitalized in 2015 but wrongly allocated against the 2016 budget, and - EUR 1,624,927 which had
been properly recorded as 2014 budget transactions but had not been taken into account in the
valuation of PPE at that time and were regularized in 2016.
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The table below reconciles the budget execution with statement of financial performance.

Reconciliation of Budget Execution to Financial Performance

BUDGET EXECUTION Common Funded Nationally Funded Total

Total Budget {including carried-forward from previous year} (a) 268,642,229.48 16,908,366.00‘ 285,550,595.48
Credits Carried Forward in Following Year (b} 62,363,955.20 000 62,363,955.20
Budget Execution Expenses {c)=(a-b) 206.278,274.25 16,908,366.00 223,186,640.28
RECONCILIATION Common Funded Nationally Funded Total

Financial Performance Expenses {(excluding financial costs) (d) 3.525,873.92 3,525,873.92
Increase in Non-Current Assets {e) 166,489,003.03 18,174,146.00 184,663,149.03
Change Increase {Decrease) in Advances to Host Nations {f} 37,110,405.70 -1,265,778.69  35,844,627.01
Other Elements {e) -929,803.00 -929,803.00
Sub-Total {h)=(d+e+f+g)  206,195,479,65 16,908,367.31  223,103,846.96
Difference to Budget Expenses (c-h) 82,794.63 -1.31 82,793.32|

Nationally Funded Component

Although not considered as a common funded budget, specific amounts are approved for the nationally
funded component (excluding Fit-Out), Related expenses are apportioned using physical criteria (such
as surface, number of parking spaces) rather than the cost-shares applicable to the Common Funded
Component. The table below compares the cumulative approved amounts, related advances to the
PMT and accrued expenses.

(amounts in EUR}

Upto2012 | 2013 2014 2015 2016 Cumulative
Approved Amounts 37,790,467| 12,756,605] 25,327,510] 21,211,531 1,422,252 98,508,365
Cash advances 12,000,000| 27,009,999( 26,500,000 16,000,000| 16,908,366 98,508, 365
Expenses 11,423,370 22,126,329| 22,168,515 21,948,225 18,174,145 95,840,502
Fit-Out

Operations related to the Fit-Out of national delegations are not executed in the context of a budget
framework; they result in outflows of cash to the PMT for settlement of related invoices.

NOTE 20: WRITE-OFFS
Nothing to report.
NOTE 21: LEASES

Belgium has granted to NATO by way of concession a plot of land on which NATQ is authorized to erect
all necessary buildings and facilities related to the NATO New Headquarters Project. The annual fee is
EUR 250. NATO is the full owner of all constructions made. Belgium remains the sole and full owner
of the land, which is military public domain. The concession ends 180 days after NATO has left the
buildings and facilities. In such case, if Belgium would decide to use the building and facilities, it shall
pay a fair indemnity to NATO. If Belgium would decide to demolish them, it will not be obliged to pay
an indemnity to NATO neither will NATO have to contribute to demolition costs. At the end of the
concession, there would be no property rights transferred to NATO. As a consequence, given the
indefinite economic life of land and the specific nature of concessions, the use of the land is classified
as an operational lease.

The New NATO Headquariers Project does not have any financial leases.
NOTE 22: RESTRICTIONS ON FIXED ASSETS

There are no restrictions on fixed assets.
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NOTE 23: CONTINGENCY CREDITS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Iyl
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NOTE 24: CONTINGENT ASSETS
Nothing to report.

NOTE 25: EMPLOYEE DISCLOSURE

Accounting for employee benefits is accounting for any liability in refation to all forms of consideration
given by an entity in exchange of service rendered by employees.

At 31 December 2016, New NATO Headquarters Project Office had an approved Personnel
Establishment of 24 positions (24 for 2015) funded by its budget. Seven positions related to the
Transition Office. For administrative and project management purposes the post of Building Z Project
Manager is attached to the HQPO but has a specific funding mechanism with no impact on the New
NATO Headquarters project.

The NATO-IS centrally manages three pension programs, namely the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme
(DBPS), the Provident Fund and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS), as well as the
Retiree Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), covering staff employed by all NATO bodies. NATO wide
financial statements are issued by the NATO-IS Office of Financial Control for the three Pension
Schemes and the RMCF; therefore, no related assets or liabilities are recognised in these financial
statements.

Nineteen staff members participate in the DCPS administered by NATO. The DCPS provides that the
New NATO Headquarters Project budget makes a 12% monthly matching contribution to the staff
members’ contributions for current service. Four employees participate in the DBPS: a deduction of
9.5% of their salaries is made and contributed to the annual financing of this Plan, In addition, the New
NHQPO budget makes a monthly matching contribution to the DBPS equal to 19% of their basic
salaries, which in accordance with (BC-WP(83)3(Revised) and C-M(83)34) is deemed to provide the
necessary funds for the subsequent pensions liability of the NHQPO. These contributions are expensed
during the year in which the services are rendered and represent the total pension obligation of the
entity (find reference). Consequently, the NHQPO has neither DBPS nor DCPS liability for its staff
members. Also, one staff member is employed on reimbursable basis with an agreement between
NATO-IS and the United States. The individual is paid and accrues pension rights under a United States
pension scheme.

The contributions for pensions paid are as follows:

2016 2015
amounts in EUR Staff Employer Total Staff Employer Total
Provident Fund - - - - - -
Co-ordinated Pension Scheme 18,007.89 | 36,195.78 | 54,20367 | 3265766 6531532 | 97,972.98
Defined Contribution Pension Scheme | 120,837.33 | 181,255.99 | 302,093.32 | 129,342.12 | 167,226.41 | 296,568.53
TOTAL 138,935.22 | 217,451.77 | 356,386.99 | 161,999.78 | 232,541.73 | 394,541.51

Untaken leave by NHQPO staff is not considered material and is therefore not recognised.
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One staff member is employed on a reimbursable basis with an agreement between NATO-IS and the
United States. The salary is paid directly by the US using national salary scales and the US is
reimbursed the costs corresponding to the grade of the post occupied by the staff member. The
individual accrues pension rights under a United States pension scheme.

NOTE 26: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Deputies Committee (DPRC) is responsible for the oversight of the New NATO HQ Project
management. The DPRC took over this responsibility from the DPRHQB which was disbanded in 2010.
Members of the DPRC are nominated by their respective National Authorities. They are paid on the
basis of applicable national pay scales. They do not receive from NATO any additional remuneration
for their responsibilities or access to benefits.

For the purposes of IPSAS 20 implementation, Key Management Personnel of New NATO HQ Project
are the Director of the NHQPO and his Deputy. They are remunerated in accordance with their
respective NATO grades, respectively A6 and A5.

There are no other remuneration or benefits to key management personnel and their family members.
Key Management Personnel are entitled to receive loans which are also available to other members of
the NATO International Staff.

NOTE 27: RELATED PARTIES

NATO Bodies

For administrative purposes the NHQPO is attached to the NATO International Staff Defense
Investment Division and the Transition Team to Executive Management Division. The Assistant
Secretary General of the Defense Investment Division chairs the DPRC when it addresses issues
related to the Project.

In 2016, NATO International Staff charged the NHQPOQ an amount of EUR 187,474 for administrative
support costs (EUR 167,928.05 in 2015) and EUR 6,956.86 for common operating costs (EUR 7,015.19
in 2015). The specific operating costs related to the PMT (around EUR 4,000) are absorbed by the
Civil Budget in exchange of the occupancy of the CDH building by the international Staff

The NCI Agency is the Host Nation in charge of equipping the New NATO HQ with modern and cost
effective Information and Communication Technologies solutions, to include voice, video and data
management, processing and storage through the Active Network Infrastructure {ANWI) project, for an
estimated cost of MEUR 100.527 inciuding contingencies (5% Host Nation contingencies, 5% additional
contingencies and MEUR 10,7758 ICT Programme contingencies; the two last ones are subject to DPRC
approval).

An amount of EUR 12.116 million is approved in the LTPB for NCIA Project Service Costs for ANWI.
NCIA provided also some specific consultancy services (EUR 0.866 million approved in the LTPB).

At the end of financial year 2015, the position of the project towards NCIA was a net advance receivable
in an amount of MEUR 16.1 (MEUR 14.8 at year-end 2015).

The IS acts also as a Host Nation concerning the procurement of Furniture (MEUR 20.5 in the LTPB)
and the Business Data and Applications Migration Project (MEUR 4.105 in the LTPB). The IS receives
no related remuneration fees.

Member Nations

NATO Security Investment Programme (NSIP) procedures are the management process for the New
NATO HQ. Belgium is the Host Nation for the construction, the passive network infrastructure, the
building management system, the electronic security system and audio visual infrastructure. In
exchange for this service, Belgium receives fees (National Administrative Expense (NAE) equal to 3%
of works) the total amount of which is estimated EUR 21.583 million over the duration of the project.
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The DPRC agreed that Censtruction Surveillance Technician Team required to support the construction
project should be manned by perscnnel from Nations on a reimbursable basis.

Each delegation’s fit-out is the financial responsibility of the Nation concerned. Twenty four Nations
agreed to the have their delegations’ fit-out undertaken by the PMT. Specific advance contributions are
requested from the Nations concerned to cover the related costs (C-M(2006)0096). The other four
Nations have decided to have their fit-out done nationally without the intervention by the PMT.

L

List of Acronyms:

DPRC: Deputy Permanent Representatives Committee
HN: Host Nation.

IS: International Staff

LTPB: Long Term Program Budget

MOU:; Memorandum of Understanding

NCIA: NATO Communication and Information Agency
NSIP: NATO Security Investment Programme

OFC: International Staff Office of Financial Control
PMT: Project Management Team

PPE: Property, Plant and Equipment

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
6-22



£e-9

a31diSsSY1ONN OLVN

evs 6F&'FaL Lev'ast [] 2e¥'991L aLe 669'C 8zZe'Ll Le0'0PL nl I=|ci-gng
0 089 LR 0 980 ] 5] [1] 289 SBPUBbUNUO D IEUONIPPE UC S88) §JE38A0) 00-00-S0-€0
002 GyG .18 Svi'Ls [1] Gvi 28 BOL 0 L0V'S OEZT'ZE SUsUWpUBWY + 8867 (Sag 1dedund) DO-00-¥CrE0
[4] 0Lt L 0ZE' L 0 OZE L ] [£] 0 0ZE T SSNNILIE NON 5N0Od NOLLYSINWIAN DO-¥0-E0-E0
0 ) EH 0 L 5] 0 [1] 9zt SAHIVHONGH YN OO0-£0-€0-£0
0 c8 58 0 g [} 0 [1] 3 S 3IVHONOH AXNE DC-Z0-E0-E£0
[ G001 G00° L 0 8001 [ 0 1) g00 L oavl 0000 €0-€0
0 208 §08 [1] 998 1] 0 9% ote Se0RIes bupseu|Bus IMINY Lo e e
0 St el Sil el [1] oL ek 7] 16V 000 L SEO 0L 5003 VI9N IMNY - L0
€6 €8BS LT 9L9'LE 7] 9.9 L Z 0L LLS'2 0002 969 9k {3vN) 5e5U60%S UUPY (BUONEN LNd Ueibiog 00-00-Z20°E0
[ 8ELC SEC [ BEC 1] 0 [ BEZ BURSu0,) Wellabeue eoeds DO-8L-10-€0
0 09 09 [ 09 5] 0 [ 09 Apms sonsiboT 00-91-10-€0
0 SO SOt [1) ] ] [¢] 0 SOL BOnso] A0 E10qe | MeEid/aUs 00-G1-10-€0
DelL €S0 L1 EEC L [ £EC LI [1] LT 002 698'8 SHIOAA JO SOUBHIBANS 00-¥1-10-€E0
08 266 £ ZS0'¥P 7] ZS0't [ 294 00¥ [ i3 -wewabelew ewwerboid - LOI LO-€L-L0"€0
0 gLZ’L BLE’L 1] 8LZ’ L ] [#] 1] gLz L Aouensuod LD 00-EL-L0-E0
) 6 3 [i] +E [} 5] 0 13 1TWd - BupnsuoD peznefeeds T0-Z L0 €0
0 862 L BEE t [i] B6Z L [} ] 0 86 | GLYN - BUNsSUG) SNOBUE|BISHY 00-21-10°£0
i) 88 88 0 88 1) [+] 0 a8 ApMS 158 7 olpoebodol DO - LOEDQ
1] Z2 (44 [1) [44 [ 5] 0 [44 UG8 2115 QoMM 00-0L-LO-£0
0 (23 (3 [1] 73 [} =] [} (22 NV 8] ASUBINSU0) [BORR0D], 00-60-1 O-ED)|
05 o918 098 0 o8 [ 0 ED 198 WVION S{00] UCHEIOQE(0 Ly SI0IaAIDUS Z0-80-L0"£0
[i] TOE'L 10E ¢ 0 LOE L [ 68 53 LZE L WIGIEAS WeWabEUeN E1eQ 10-80-LO-EQ
0% SS6 ¥ S00°G [1] 500'S 1] [3) 862 10L'% WelWebBUBYY obUBUL) PUE 1500 0O0-80-L0-€0|
[1] 0S¥ OSP [i] OSP 1} 0 [1] <1 WSS EEUEN SUIUEIG0Id emjiung 00-20-10-E0|
[1] 699 669 0 699 [} [#] a [ JOU0D) AB)ES [BoIsAld § aild 00-90-10-CO
Gl OB5 L S09 L 0 509 L 1] [£] 0 909°1 janto D Anenp 2 Agqeis 00-S0-LO-EO0
aot- D052 DS 1 0 051 [ [{] 0 05k OLVN - Wepnsuoy jeba | IC-¥0-LO-EO
[i] ove DP9 [1] ov9 06 09 O6F TN - uepnsuoa jeba | DO-¥0-10°E0
[i] S0c 902 a B0 0 [ 1] 902 APNIS oediy IEUsALUG)Ine S OCE0-LO-EQ
1] 52 aze [1] LT43 [£] 1) E14 BNG JO AOADTS [BE0RRE D080 0C-Z0-LO-EO|
0 66 66 [i] 66 0 [0 0 66 BUrUE|d AUNoeS Uonongsuoy 00 10"} O EQ
SHDIAHIS TYNLDITTILNI N HILIVHD
208’y 989'Z9 LEP'LS 0 LE¥'LD 0 L 1:1 3 gIEYL Zet'ay Il '|9e3-qng
009 9ES L 9EZ'SP ] 9€Z'SPk 0 [:] S¥5 L L6D'LE nogqe| spiens APDes siis 00-00-90-20
a 601 801 5] 604 0 0 0 601 SRIEND 8IS 10) wewdnbg Aundes 0C-0L-50-20
13 BELL ESLZ 0 £S5l ¢ 0 DEY TZZL o HONNY 1 DH MBN - WLl DsusA UoN|SUBL) 00-¥0-50-20
06 BEB £ GIE L a 6L6 € 0 05L ¢ 68 OPE S} DH WWaiwo Jo [B50ds|( - MGWoEEUEIN UORISHET] 00E0-S0-20
[] (123 BPL [7] 602 0 [1] 0 123 B1{5 HORONRBLOD MBO UO 2 LW/ZV SBUIPING JO UoRenousy 00-20-G0-Z0
0 2€'8 viE'R 0 vriE'® [v] coo'y rIEY 4] S1500 depato "UBulE ¥ IRIad( - WeweGBURW UCISUBL] L0-1L0-50-20
0 EX44 gee 0 EI44 ] [1] v PaL S1 0) Poddng UNLpY - MeWebEuE N UGNSUeIL 0C-00-20-20
0 0L DL 4] 0Z 0 [ S S9 $1S00 [BAEJ] - WellebEuEAy UONISUEIL 16-00-10-20
00/ GS6 G 5599 [1] 55090 [3) [i] 00F 992’9 VB SUBIL] [ SYOM, 1EACUSY / Anoes oxe ax3J 1eiedO| al-¢0 01 10720
SISNISNI ONILYHIHO || HELdYHD
ZL9'L ogo'se zeg'st o Zeg9'at 9.2 oro'y 8.9'9 109'sz 1 190-qng
[1] Z09¢ Z09¢ ] 09T 0 0 Z6F A SWEINSUGL) - 3180 Hoddns UORISUBIL 00-20-20-+0
95 9ER ¢ L6892 ] 1692 0 0 6891 €0z t BUfEl] JElS - Waweheus|y UDMHSUBIL 1O-FO-LO-LO
[} 005’z 0052 1] 00S'C [¢] 005 L 000 L 0 onNsey Jels - Welsabeueyy UoRiSUBSL 00-90-10-10
185 255 ¥ YEL'S ] PEL'S 0 L¥9 022 TLILE SIS0d HE15 OLVN - e2Wwd yodong uopsuel) | £0-10 01V 1010
Gi8 §BS ce [ra 3] 0OP' EC SiIZ 668 L 9ir'C L1581 (IeWabDEUE N UORK|SURS] jJdooxe) S1500 [puucsiod| €0-L001 LO-10
S1SOD TANNOSHI | HELdYHD
MOT14
BLOZ Loz 9102 gLoZ (510) wa-qng
uvowosnbal jo uopduose
SADNYHD ¢ | quuno zw““....._u.“wﬂu._. 4N EEe) 3sEceioy posciddy sjemovy | -oooz siemoy = : e woyp regdeyn
~dN3M NI - HY3A ¥3d ANV ISID x3d {1N0-L1d ONIONT1DXA) (AN + J42) SINIWIHINDIY DNIGNND TYNOILYN ANV NOCWWOD 40 AMVIWWNS

LAIH-080(2102)0d

01 9 XINNV
0) XIONIddY

£e-9

a3ldISSYTONN OLVYN




ve-9

Q3a14ISSYIONN OLVYN

0 06L¥ZL'L 06L'¥Z4'L 520'66 |S91L'520'L |££E'Z Zs8'ss oz¥'sCE  |¥RG'0CE IYLOL GNVHO
g8y 00'8LL 6LS'2LL 0 61S'2LL |0 860°'6L L6L'EP $ZT'sS AlEorgng
00€- 00€ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Wawdnb3 paxi4-UoN 00-50-1.0-50
18V 009'1 180°2 0 180°C 0 000'L 280k [0 BINJILN) JO JUALISAOLE PUE S}S0 LOMEI0IY 00-#0-10-50
00Z- 002 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 wsiidinba [euoneasal 10 suods 00-£0-10-50
GLT- 5.9 00t 0 oov 0 0 [ A [V 24 dQ J3pun ANRUN UD SRUADUNLIDD
i 002+ 00z L 0 00z t 0 0 00z L 0 Slweibold amjrun uo Sapuabuuod 00-£0-10-G0
0 006'9 006'8 ] 006’8 0 0 006'9 0 (2500]) [PLUSXS JO [BWIBLY JAUH amjauny
00t oLy GOV v 0 SOF'v 0 0 €502 Z5e'2 ucneibiy uonedjiddy - 10 00-20-10-60
005- GiZ'LL SL2'0L 0 GLL'0L 0 000'Z | £0£') ZiY'L sapuabuguos awweibold -1 0f
0 886°E 886°C 0 886 € 0 005 082 80Z € OLVN Sepusbuiuo?) %6 -LJl
0 886 € 886E [ BE6E 0 0 08L g0z € NH Samuabunuo) %5 - L0l 00-10-10-S0|
0 0L0¢C 0102 0 0L0e 0 0 C6l 5181 UDNEPIE/\, § UDREIyLa A lispuadapy - Of
0 99276 99162 0 99762 0 BEGS ) 000°.2 89L°LE AMPNRSEI IOMISN 3AN9Y - 1O
LNIWAINDI TVID3dS A HILDVHD
L1289 69V'ESL Z60'L¥L 6z0'66 |Z90'8¥e  |089'L SER'LZ LOL'65 9.Z'va9 G
0 0S0°'L 0501 0 0S0'L 0 0 0 050"t (131em’sEB'D0j9"abemas) sajan jo uondaIoD 00-20-10-+0
0 [T GeE Ll 0 Gz Ll 0 0 00Z'9 GZL L S[Seq S|qesnquial uo (1§D Wea | SOUE{iang UoHINIISUDT) 00-90-10-+0
0 ZE0'L Zeo'L 0 2E0'L 0 0 08l 268 ustdnb3-aliueifald Qundag uoRINSUG) 00-50-10-+0|
0 00€ 00€ 0 00% 0 0 0 00E Sdn-3I0p JO UOHINNSUDD 00-b0-10-¥0|
0 ZIEL LIEL 0 ZIE'L BE 6E Ol 065 {AV) UDISIARI [enliuy
05z Z09'2 2582 0 2592 0 0 9202 9z8 {Av) sapuabumuod
0 Le¥'oz LEY'OZ 0 LEP'9E G8e 125 600'¥L g15'y1 wawdinb3 (Ay) iensnolpny 00-E0-1L0-+0
0 199 299 0 199 0 0 [T¥3 <13 (S53) voiswnai jenuuy
0sZ'L LI6'L 291'E 0 Lal'E 0 682 0ez'l 8baL {553) sepuabunuod
o o8Pl GOE Pl 0 LN 0 0 £169 2561 [EoT{S53) swaishs Ainosg ouandsg L0-Z0-4 00
. . . \ SVEINEI L ETETET
0 ¥ae'e $BE'T 0 ¥8€'2 0 0 PRE'Z 0 10} 859181 DNJ(] UO S3DUSBURLIOD SWWEIB0I] UORISURLL S0-Z0-10-%0
8v0't- S6¥'2 vl 0 Lvb'L 0 S60'L e |0 3SEBAl OHJQ U0 SIIUADUILOD SWLEIDOI LOTHISURI | ¥0-20-10-+0|
0 0.€ 01€ 0 0L€ 0 0 0 08 (ssE3j21 JHdQ U0) 2d0og jo sebueyd emualed|  £0-20-L0-¥0
: . ; . ; TasesE 3
626'9- £9€'6L YEP'OL 0 yEFOL 0 £6 0 LE'ol UO) VNG PUE SHI0M UOINLISUOD JO SAUSBUIIOD) (BLOMIPDY 20-2010-%0
jo ¥a9l ¥59'1 162 L9821 0 0 Izt LEGL UOISIal [ENUY
0 SZr'e sTr'e gL ole'g 0 (0] £52'1 819 SHIOM |MNd UD saruabuiuod
0 62 LL 6ev il Z62¢  |LEVGI 0 0 ey ZIZEL {3N+327 IMNJ) aNONUISElL) JICMSN anissed 00-20-L0-+0
0 69E°0F 69E0F Bcre 1¥6 LE 0 0 0 69E OF UOISIAG Jentkly
001'Z 956'891 950°'LLL av'ty  |0LE'8SL |0 509'p) 198'% 0t5'151 1N d 0} PASUOYINE S}IOAA UOANASUOD U0 S2DUabuiuod
o 858°0¢r g58°02F IvL'9L |0LLPPE  |i52) 6L5F £2aPL 86€ 00V IMNJ PXa{JN+J0) SHOAA UDIDNASUDD 00-Z0-1L0-+0
0 6956 65856 0 6856 0 0 0 6856 11077 - S)I0M UOROWAQJ 00-10-10-%0
S1S09 03LVIDOSSY ANV SHHOM NOLLONAULSNOD Al ¥3LdYHI
LA3N-080(2102)24
0} 9 XINNY
o} XIONIddV bZ-9

a314ISSYIONN OLVN



NORTH ATLANTIC TREATY ORGANIZATION
ORGANISATION DU TRAITE DE L'ATLANTIQUE NORD

]N IFERNATIONAL B().—\Rl) OF ."\l?l)l'l()Rs
COLLEGE INTERNATIONAL DES COMMISSAIRES AUX COMPTES

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

OTAN IBA-A(2018)0007

9 February 2018

To: Secretary General
(Attn: Director of the Private Office)

Cc: Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division
Financial Controller, International Staff (IS)
Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board (RPPB)
Branch Head, Plans and Policy Branch, NATO Office of Resources (NOR)
Private Office Registry

Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) Auditor’s Report
and Letter of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the
New NATO Headquarters (NHQ) Restated Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015 - IBA-AR(2017)28

The Board submits herewith its approved Auditor's Report (Annex 2) and
Letter of Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for
distribution to the Council (Annex 1).

The Board’s report sets out a qualified opinion on the restated financial
statements of the New NATO Headquarters and a qualified opinion on compliance for
the financial year 2015.

Yours sincerely,

(Signed) Hervé-Adrien Metzger
Chairman

Attachments: As stated above.

Boulevard Léopold 111 - B-1110 Bruxelles - Belgique
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 41 11
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ANNEX 1

Summary Note for Council
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board)
on the audit of the Restated Financial Statements of the
New NATO Headquarters (NHQ)
for the year ended 31 December 2015

At the Washington Summit, in April 1999, the Heads of State and Government of NATO
countries formally decided to build a new NATO Headquarters in Brussels to meet the
Alliance’s needs in the twenty-first century. The North Atlantic Council, upon
recommendation of the Civil Budget Committee, approves the budget for the new NATO
Headquarters. It is funded from national contributions based on a specific cost-share
agreement among the NATO nations.

The total overall budget is EUR 1.124 billion

Budget authorisations for 2015 totaled EUR 282.2 million, of which EUR 153.5 million
relates to the 2015 budget and EUR 128.7 million relates to credits brought-forward from
prior year budgets.

The total valuation of the New NATO Headquarters under construction as of 31 December
2015 was recorded for an amount of EUR 747.5 million.

During the audit, the Board identified five observations. One observation impacts the audit
opinion on both the financial statements and on compliance:

1. Inability to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence.
Three observations impact the audit opinion on compliance:

2. Late issuance of the financial statements,

3. No statement on Internal Control was issued,

4. No regular reconciliation of bank balances.
One observation does not impact the audit opinion:

5. Significant delays in providing information required for the audit.

These findings are summarised in the Letter of Observations and recommendations
(Annex 3).

The International Staff's formal comments are contained in the Appendix of Annex 3.
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ANNEX 2
IBA-AR(2017)28

9 February 2018

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE RESTATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF

THE NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS
(NNHQ)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS
FOR NATO TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL

Report on the Restated Financial Statements

The International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) was engaged to audit the
accompanying restated Financial Statements of the New NATO Headquarters, which
comprised the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2015, and the
Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Changes in Net Assets and Cash Flow
Statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes. The Board was also engaged to audit the Statements of
Budgetary Operations and Credit Transfers authorized by the Financial Controller for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Financial
Statements in accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework and the requirements
of the NATO Financial Regulations as authorized by the North Atlantic Council (NAC).

This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these restated Financial Statements based
on our audit, which is conducted in accordance with our Charter and international
standards on auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial
Statements, due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and presentation of Financial Statements is considered
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Restated Financial Statements

The Board made multiple attempts to obtain supporting data necessary for the
performance of audit procedures. However, some of the data was not provided and
therefore the Board was unable to perform part of the planned audit procedures. The
Board did not receive the requested supporting details for the following items of the
Statement of Financial Position:

Other current assets (EUR 0.6 million);
Payables (EUR 1.3 million);

Unearned revenues (EUR 180.5 million);
Other current liabilities (EUR 0.5 million).

Therefore, sufficient and appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained to conclude
that the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Financial Performance are
free from material misstatement. Accordingly, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments might have been found necessary in those statements.

Further, the Board found material differences between the financial statements and
balances reported in the new Enterprise Resource Planning system.

Qualified Opinion on the Restated Financial Statements

In our opinion, except for the effects and possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Restated Financial Statements the restated Financial
Statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of the New NATO
Headquarters as of 31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework.

Report on Compliance
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance

In addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, management is also responsible for ensuring that the
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel
Regulations as authorized by the North Atlantic Council (NAC).

Auditor’s Responsibility

In addition to the responsibility to express an opinion on the Restated Financial
Statements described above, our responsibility includes expressing an opinion on
whether the financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements
are, in all material respects, in compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the
NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. This responsibility includes performing procedures

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the funds have been used for the
settlement of authorized expenditure and whether their operations have been carried out
in compliance with the financial and personnel regulations in force. Such procedures
include the assessment of the risks of material non-compliance.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion on Compliance

The matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion on the Revised Financial
Statements also provide the Basis for Qualified Opinion on Compliance.

The NATO Financial Regulations require the financial statements to be submitted for audit
to the Board by the Financial Controller no later than 31 March following the end of the
financial year. The Financial Statements of the New NATO Headquarters for the year
ended 31 December 2015, though, were only submitted on 15 July 2016 with restated
Financial Statements issued on 4 December 2017. The initial Financial Statements were
not signed by the NATO Secretary General.

The NATO Financial Regulations also require the Statement on Internal Control to be
signed annually by the NATO Secretary General and the Financial Controller. However,
no Statement on Internal Control was issued for 2015.

The Board also found that bank balances were not being reconciled during 2015. This
represents a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting.

Qualified Opinion on Compliance
In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the matters described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion on Compliance in all material respects the financial transactions and
information reflected in the restated Financial Statements are in compliance with the
NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations.

Brussels, 9 February 2018

(Signed) Herveé-Adrien Metzger
Chairman
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9 February 2018

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
FOR THE NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

(NNHQ)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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Introduction

The International Board of Auditors for NATO (Board) audited the New NATO Headquarters
(NNHQ) restated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, and issued
a qualified opinion on those financial statements and on compliance.

Observations and Recommendations

The Board identified material differences between the Budget Execution Statement and
balances presented in the Statement of Financial Position and Performance that could not
be explained by the IS. Further, the Statement of Cash Flow was broadly incorrect. Based
on the Board findings, the IS issued restated financial statement on the 4™ of December
2017 correcting some of the errors identified by the Board.

During the audit, the Board identified five observations. One observation impacts the audit
opinion on both the financial statements and on compliance:

1. Inability to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence.
Three observations impact the audit opinion on compliance:
2. Late issuance of the financial statements,
3. No statement on Internal Control was issued,
4. No regular reconciliation of bank balances.
One observation does not impact the audit opinion:
5. Significant delays in providing information required for the audit.
The Board also issued a management letter (reference IBA-AML(2017)15) to the
International Staff (IS) Financial Controller.
The Board received factual and formal comments from the IS. Where deemed necessary,

the Board amended its draft report to take into account the factual comments. The IS’s
formal comments are contained in the Appendix to Annex 3.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
1. INABILITY TO OBTAIN SUFFICIENT AND APPROPRIATE AUDIT EVIDENCE

Reasoning

1.1 Article 12 of the NFRs requires that the Secretary General ensures the necessary
internal management functions are in place in the NATO International Staff (IS) to support
effective internal control, designed to provide reasonable assurance that the NATO body will
achieve its objectives. These include the following: verify the accuracy and reliability of
accounting data and records, establish and maintain comprehensive accounting records of
all assets and liabilities, and adequate audit trails and data confidentiality, integrity and
availability in information systems.

1.2 The Board’s Charter states that it shall undertake its audits in accordance with the
auditing standards of the International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions. These
auditing standards require the Board to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to
support its opinions.

1.3 Disclosure notes are included in the financial statements to provide additional
information for the reader to better understand the balances presented in the Statement of
Financial Position, Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Change in Net
Assets/Equity and the Budget Execution Statement.

Observations

1.4 The Board made multiple attempts to obtain supporting detail from the IS necessary
for the performance of its audit procedures. However, some detail was not provided by the
IS and therefore the Board was unable to perform planned audit procedures on these areas.
The Board did not receive the requested supporting details for the following items of the
Statement of Financial Position:

Other current assets (EUR 0.6 million);
Payables (EUR 1.3 million);

Unearned revenues (EUR 180.5 million);
Other current liabilities (EUR 0.5 million).

15 The Board also found that the year-end balance of EUR 180.5 million for unearned
revenues is incorrectly calculated. Unearned revenues should have included budget carried
forward to the next year, i.e., EUR 134.6 million as stated in the Budget Execution
Statement. However, the IS calculation has taken EUR 136.6 million as the amount carried
forward. An amount of EUR 1.4 million for United States Refundable Staff was wrongly
recorded as unearned revenues instead of payables. In addition to the above, an amount of
EUR 14.2 million was incorrectly recorded as unearned revenues instead of advances.
Furthermore, the Board could not reconcile the amount of EUR 14.2 million of advances.

1.6 In general, the financial statements did not match to the balances in the new
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system. There were variances of EUR 13.3 million for

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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receivables, EUR 0.66 million for other current assets, EUR 0.68 million for payables, EUR
3 million for unearned revenue, EUR 2.6 million for Advances, and EUR 0.21 million for other
current liabilities. These variances were offset by maintaining suspense and balancing
accounts in the system for an amount of EUR 13.5 million and an internal bank transfer
account of EUR 0.9 million that the Board was unable to audit. Support for such variances
was generally lacking, making it very difficult and time-consuming to audit.

1.7  To further complicate the accounting, a significant number of transactions during the
year were not captured within the ERP system on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Rather, the account transactions were aggregated outside of the system and subsequently
manually entered into the ERP. Keeping accounting records outside the ERP system
significantly deteriorated the availability and transparency of the accounting data and
underlying supporting documentation. This significantly increased the risk over the integrity
of the accounting records and the financial statements. In addition, not following standard
ERP workflows for individual routine transactions increases the risk of insufficient
segregation of duties and as a result, the risk of errors and fraud.

Recommendation

1.8 The Board recommends using a trial balance, generated by the ERP system, as a
main source for the preparation of the financial statements. The preparer of the financial
statements should keep detailed supporting working papers in order to be able to support
any balance presented or information disclosed in the financial statements. Moreover, the
IS must be able to provide for each asset / liability account in the ERP system a breakdown
of detail in order to properly follow-up the balance.

1.9 The Board also recommends improving the transparency and availability of the
accounting data by recording all individual accounting transactions in the ERP system and
using standard workflows for routine transactions. In situations when aggregated data is
entered in the accounting program, underlying supporting details (summaries, listings,
calculations, etc.) should be available within the ERP and should be subject to proper
verification and approval within the system.

1.10 Lastly, the Board recommends implementing the multi-level financial statements
review process in order to ensure the overall quality of the issued financial statements and
their compliance with applicable reporting frameworks.

2. LATE ISSUANCE OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Reasoning

2.1 For the 2015 financial statements, Article 35 of the NATO Financial Regulations
(NFRs) states that: “An annual financial statement for each NATO body, consolidated where
applicable and appropriate, shall be submitted for audit to the International Board of Auditors
for NATO by the financial controller not later than 31st March following the end of the
financial year.”

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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Observation

2.2 The financial statements of the New NATO HQ were received by the Board on 15
July 2016, more than three months later than the requirements of the NFR’s. Furthermore,
the financial statements were not signed by the Secretary General. This does not enable
the Board to properly plan and carry out its financial statement audits and to report its results
to the Council on a timely basis. This limits, in part, the usefulness of the financial
statements.

2.3 Restated financial statements were issued by the IS on the 4" of December 2017
correcting material errors in the note disclosure and the Cash Flow Statement identified by
the Board during its audit.

Recommendation

2.4 The Board recommends that, in future, the financial statements be submitted by 31
March, in accordance with the deadline in the NFRs.

3. NO STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL WAS ISSUED
Reasoning

3.1 According to NFR paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2, the Secretary General is responsible and
accountable for sound financial management and shall put in place the necessary
governance arrangements to ensure and maintain this. This shall include, but is not limited
to, the establishment and maintenance of financial governance, resource management
practices, internal controls and financial information systems to achieve the efficient and
effective use of resources. The adherence to the above is confirmed annually by signature
of the Financial Statements, and the Statement on Internal Control. Both documents should
be signed by the Head of the NATO body and the financial controller.

Observation

3.2 No signed Statement on Internal Control was issued to the Board for the New NATO
Headquarters’ 2015 Financial Statements.

Recommendation
3.3 The Board recommends that the IS provide the Board the signed Statement on

Internal Control along with the signed Financial Statements, as per the requirements of the
NFRs.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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4. NO REGULAR RECONCILIATION OF BANK BALANCES
Reasoning

4.1 According to paragraph VI 4) (c) of the NATO Financial Rules and Procedures, the
Financial Controller shall ensure that all accounts are reconciled and verified on a regular
basis, and all activities with financial implications, including multinational and non-
appropriated fund activities, be controlled by periodic inspection.

Observation

4.2 The Board found that the IS did not perform monthly reconciliations of cash balances
between the accounting system and bank statements for 2015. Monthly reconciliations can
only be performed after all bank transactions have been recorded and reconciled in the ERP.
This did not happen because there were a significant amount of unreconciled and
unprocessed bank transactions in the ERP in 2015.

Recommendation
4.3 The Board recommends performing and documenting regular monthly cash

reconciliations, which will help to identify misstatements (if any) on a timely basis. This
should include signatures of the preparer and the reviewer.

5. SIGNIFICANT DELAYS IN PROVIDING INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR THE
AUDIT
Reasoning

5.1 The Board follows the International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions
(ISSAIs). ISSAI 1260, Communications with those Charged with Governance, requires the
auditor to communicate significant difficulties encountered during the audit.

Observation

5.2 During the audit of the 2015 financial statements, there were significant delays in
the IS Office of Financial Control providing required information for the audit. Furthermore,
some of the information requested was never received. This does not enable the Board to
properly carry out its audit and resulted in significant delays reporting the results to the
Council. This limits the usefulness of the financial statements.

Recommendation

5.3 The Board recommends that the IS Office of Financial Control provide required
information to the Board in a timely manner.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS ON THE

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND THE
INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (BOARD) POSITIONS

OBSERVATION 1:

INABILITY TO OBTAIN SUFFICIENT AND APPROPRIATE AUDIT EVIDENCE

Formal comment of the International Staff
The recommendations are agreed. The issues mentioned on the 1.4 -1.8 were
adjusted during 2016 and taken into account in the 2016 financial statements.
These were largely due to the issues encountered during the first months of use

of the ERP.

OBSERVATION 2:
LATE ISSUANCE OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Formal comment of the International Staff
The recommendation is agreed. The issuance of the financial statements was
impacted by specific circumstances linked to difficulties encountered with the new

ERP and more generally understaffing of the IS OFC.

OBSERVATION 3:
NO STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL WAS ISSUED

Formal comment of the International Staff

Agreed. A Statement of Internal Control was issued with the 2016 financial
statements.

OBSERVATION 4:
NO REGULAR RECONCILIATION OF BANK BALANCES

Formal comment of the International Staff
Agreed.

OBSERVATION 5:
SIGNIFICANT DELAYS IN PROVIDING INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR THE AUDIT

Formal comment of the International Staff

Agreed.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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FC(2018)076-REV1

NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A1 31/12/2015
FINANCIAL YEAR 2015

Annexes

1 Statement of financial position

2 Statemenit of financial performance
3 Cash flow statement

4 Statement of changes in net assets
5 Budgetary operations 2015

6 Budgetary operations 2014

7 Explanatory notes to the financial statements

{Signed} Jens STOLTENBERG (Signed) Stephane CHAGNOT
Secretary General Financial Contraller
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NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PCSITION

As at 31 December 2015

ANNEX 1 to

FC{2016)076-REV1

{All amounts in Eurg)

Notes Current Year Prior Year Variance
2015 2014 CY - PY
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 3 953.28 299.06 654.22
Current bank accounts &4 200,270,318.05 174,923,346.07 25,346,971.98
Cash equivalents 3 - - -
Receivables 5 1,001,210.15 23,366,723.83  -22,365,513.68
Prepayments [ 28,178,260.60 37,425,165.25 -9,246,904 65
Other Current Assets 6 662,251.67 232,117.60 430,134.07
inventories 2 - - -
Total Current Assets 230,112,993.75 235,947,651.81 -5,834,658.06
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 5 . - -
Property, Plant and Equipment 7 747,557,608.23 575,465,534.36 172,092,073.87
Land and buildings 18 - - -
Intangible assets 7 - - -
Total Non Current Assats 747,557,608.23 575,465,534.36 172,092,073.87
TOTAL ASSETS 977,670,601.98 811,413,186.17 166,257,415.81
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 8 1,358,390.85 609,673.69 748,717.16
Unearned Revenue 9 180,531,172.08  181,669,143.92 -1,137,972.84
Advances 9 47,712,936.61 53,439,125.71 -5,726,185.10
Shert Term Provisions 10 - - -
Other Current Liabilities 9 510,495.21 229,708.48 230,786.73
Total Current Liabilities 230,112,993.75 235,947,651.80 -5,834,658.05
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Lang Term Provisions 10 1,000,000.00 1,073,000.00 -73,000.00
Non Current Deferred Revenue 11 746,557,608.23 574,392,534,37 172,165,073.86
Other Non Current Liabilities 11 -

Total Non Current Assets

747,557,608.23

575,465,534.37

172,092,073.86

TOTAL LIABILITIES

877,670,601.98

811,413,186.17

166,257,415.81

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(All amounts in EUR)

Notes Current Year Prior Year Variance
2015 2014 CY - PY

Revenue 12

Revenue from non exchange transactions 1,450,902.56 1,670,036.89 -219,134.33
Financial Revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total Revenue 1,450,902.56 1,670,036.89 -219,134.33
Expenses 13

Wages, salaries and employee benefits 1,124,541.14 1,571,880.89 -447,339.75
Services, supplies and consumables used 326,361.42  98,156.00 228,205.42
Financial Costs 0.00 0.00
Other expenses 0.00 0.00
Total Expenses 1,450,902.56 1,670,036.89 -219,134.33
Surplus/Deficit for the period 14 0.00 0.00 0.00

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS
Statement of cash flow

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus/{Deficit)
Non-cash movements
Depreciation/ Amortisation
Impairment
Increase /{decrease) in payables
Increase/ {decrease) in other current liabilities
Increase/ {decrease) in provisions
{Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and equipment
Decrease/ {increase) in other current assets
Decrease/ {Increase) in receivables
Increase/ {decrease) in other non current liabilities
Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property plant and equipment / Intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment
Net cash flow from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow from financing activities

Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period

ANNEX 3 to

FC(2016)076-REV1

{All amounts in Euro)

2015 2014
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
748,717.16 -36,815,856.96
-6,583,375.21 88,477,899.74
0.00 700.36
0.00 0.00
8,816,770.58 9,910,477.95
22,365,513.68 -12,831,712.07
172,092,073.86 197,245,203.28
197,439,700.07 245,986,712.30
-172,092,073.87 -197,245,203.28
0.00 0.00

-172,092,073.87

0.00

-197,245,203.28

0.00

25,347,626.20

48,741,509.02

174,923,645.13

126,182,136.11

200,271,271.33

174,923,645.13

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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ANNEX 4 to
FC(2016)078-REV1

NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AS AT 31/12/2015

(in EUR)

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits]
Balance at 31 December 2014 0.00
Deficit on revaluation of property 0.00
Surplus on revaluation of investments (1) 0.00
Currency translation differences 0.00
Net gains and losses not recognized in the statement of financial performa 0.00
Net for the period 0.00
Balance at 31 December 2015 0.00

(1) fixed assels in progress
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NATO UNCLASSIFIED

7-1 ANNEX 7 to
FC(2016)076-REV1

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS PROJECT
2015 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION

In 1999 Heads of State of the NATO member countries decided at the Washington Summit to build a
New NATO Headquarters (HQ) to meet Alliance requirements for the 213t century. For this New NATO
HQ Project a separate budget was established in 2000.

The budget for the common funded part is approved on an annual basis by the North Atlantic Council,
further to screening and recommendation by the Budget Committee and the Resource Policy and
Planning Board (RPPB). The project is managed following NSIP procedures.

The main construction project, the electronic security services and the audio-visual infrastructure
contracts are managed by the Belgian Ministry of Defence Host Nation Project Management Team
(PMT) under the provisions of the NATO/Belgium MOU, signed on 8 December 2004,

NCIA acts as Host Nation for the Active Network Infrastructure contract. NATO-International Staff (1S)
is the Host Nation for the Furniture contract and for the Business Data and Applications Migration
Project (BDAM).

NATO is represented by the |S Defence Investment Division Headquarters Project Office (HQPO),
which is in charge of programme management; coordination, approval procedures and the definition of
requirements. HQPO also represents the interests of Nations in all dealings with the Host Nation.

A Transition Office, within the IS Executive Management Division, was created in 2011 to manage the
practical and organisational aspects of the transition from the current headquarters to the new one.

NATO member nations maintain oversight of the project through the Deputies Committee (DPRC), a
Board comprised of the Deputy Permanent Representatives. HQPO is responsible for financial
management and for coordination with the DPRC, the Budget Committee, the RPPB, and the North
Atlantic Council.

The overall programme budget ceiling is EUR 1,124 million.

NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below.

Declaration of conformity

The financial statements of the New NATO Headquarters Project have been prepared on the basis of
the NATO Financial Regulations, of the IPSAS (International Public Sector Accounting Standards)
specifications, which the North Aflantic Council approved for adoption on 17 July 2002, and of the NATO
Accounting Framewaork approved under C-M(2013)0039 on 26 July, 2013, which adapts a small number
of IPSAS standards to better suit the specific requirements of the Alliance.

Implementation of IPSAS

Up to 2014, the accounting system used by New NATO Headquarters Project was a budgetary driven
accounting system. It can be deemed as a hybrid system which is essentially budget and cash based.

In the financial system, commitments are recorded for budget execution and control purposes, in
accordance with NATO Financial Regulations. Commitment of credits is defined as the advance
acceptance and recording of the financial consequence resulting from a legal obligation incurred during
the financial year, Payments linked to those commitments are recorded when the settlement of invoices

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
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is due. The unexpended balances of commitied credits may be carried forward to the following financial
years. Transformational entries for accruals were made based on an analysis of the commitments
carried-forward at year-end, and on information provided by the Host Nations, in particular in order to
determine the value of fixed assets work in progress. Contributions are registered as unearned revenue
on the date they are called and revenue is recognized afterwards on the basis of expenditure.

The New NATO Headquarters Project financial statements are currently compliant with IPSAS, and its
NATO approved adaptations, using the transformational method described above. The New NATO
Headquarters Project is transitioning to full transactional accrual accounting with the implementation of
an integrated Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) as from 2015. These financial statements still rely
on information provided by the Host Nations, in particular in order to determine the value of fixed assets
waork in progress

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting requirements of the
NATO Financial Regulations (NFR) and the Financial Rules and Procedures (FRP) including the
specific changes approved for this project by the North Atlantic Council.

These statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the amounts shown in these
financial statements are presented in EUR. The New NATO Headquarters Project will continue in
operation for the foreseeable future.

The following IPSAS have no material effect on the 2015 financial statements of the New NATO
Headquarters Project Office:

IPSAS §: Borrowing Costs.

IPSAS 6: Consolidated and Separate Financial

IPSAS 7: Investments in Associates.

IPSAS 8: Interests in Joint Ventures

IPSAS 10: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
IPSAS 11: Construction Contracts

IPSAS 16: Investment Property

IPSAS 18: Segment reporting

IPSAS 21: Impairment of non-cash generating assets

IPSAS 26 Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets

IPSAS 27: Agriculture

IPSAS 32: Service Concession Arrangement: Grantor

The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.

Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which it is appropriate to separately
report financial information. No segments are identified in this project and are therefore not reported in
these financial statements.

Changes in Accounting Policy and Reclassification of financial statements of previous years

The cash-flow statement is presented using the indirect method when in the past it was done using the
direct method.
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Use of estimates

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements include amounts
based on estimates and assumptions by management, according to the most reliable information
available, judgement and assumptions. Estimates include work in progress, provisions, accrued
revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are
reflected in the period in which they become known.

Foreign currency transactions

The New NATO Headquarters Project's budget is authorized and managed in EUR so contribution calls
are made in EUR. Foreign currency transactions as required are accounted for at the NATO parity
rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities at year-end which were
denominated in foreign currencies were converted into EUR using the NATO parity rates applicable at
31 December 2015.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the revaluation at the reporting dates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in Non-Current Liabilities.

Financial risks

The New NATQ Headquarters Project Office uses only non-derivative financial instruments as part of
its normal operations. These financial elements include cash, bank accounts, deposit accounts,
accounts receivable and Funds Managed for Third Parties.

All the financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position at their fair value.

The New NATO Headquarters Project is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign
exchange risk, cradit risk, currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

Foreign currency exchange risk

The exposure to foreign currency risk is limited as the majority of the New NATO Headquarters Project’s
expenditures are made in EUR, the currency of its Budget. All bank accounts are held in EUR.

Credit risk

The New NATO Headquarters Project incurs credit risks from cash and cash equivalent held with banks
and from receivables.

The maximum exposure as at 31 December 2014 is equal to the total amount of bank balances, short
term deposits and receivables. There is very limited credit risk associated with the realization of these
elements.

Concerning cash and cash equivalent the New NATO Headquarters Project credit risk is managed by
holding current bank accounts and short term highly liquid deposits that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash held with ING Bank (Belgium) which has the following short term credit ratings:

ING Bank Credit Ratings as at 29/03/2016
Fitch Moody's S&pP
Short term F1 P1 Al

The New NATO Headquarters Project's outstanding accounts receivable are managed by maintaining
control procedures over receivables. Most cash receivables are due from NATO member nations, which
are considered credit worthy.
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Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is based on the assessment as to whether the New
NATO Headquarters Project will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. A liquidity risk could arise from a short term liguidity requirement. There is a very limited
exposure to liquidity risk because of the funding mechanism which guarantees contributions in relation
to the approved New NATO Headquariers Project budget. Some limited risk could be due to the
accuracy of budget forecasts.

Interest rate risk

Except for certain cash and cash equivalent balances, the New NATQO Headquarters' financial assets
and liabilities do not have associated interest rates. The New NATO Headquarters is restricted from
entering into borrowings and investments, and, therefore, there is an insignificant interest rate risk.
Interest earned is not a budgetary resource but contributes to the surplus owed to Nations.

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term assets. They include cash in hand, deposits held
with banks, other short term highly liquid investments.

Cash held on behalf of third parties corresponding to amounts called and received in relation to the
nationally funded elements and the fit-out of delegations, and amounts corresponding to anticipated
contributions are reported separately.

Receivables
Receivables are stated at net realisable value, after provision for doubtful and uncollectable debits.

Contributions receivable are recognised when a call for contribution, based on the approved budget,
has been issued to the funding Nations. These receivables represent the uncollected contributions from
Member Nations. The same policy applies for contributions related to the nationally funded elements
but not to the fit-out of delegations. No allowance for loss is recorded with respect to Member countries’
assessed contributions receivable.

Prepayments

A prepayment is a payment in advance of the period to which it pertains and is mainly in respect of
advance payments made to third parties. In the case of the New NATO Headquarters Project, advance
payments are essentially related to the pre-financing of PMT and NCIA expenses. The terms of the
MOU prevent Host Nation Belgium (PMT) from pre-financing any aspect of the project.

Inventories

NATO’s adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M({2013}00389 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
12 Inventories. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO Inventories was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of
contro! of an asset. A positive response on six of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalised in
the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization threshold.
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Criteria that may indicate control of an asset

The act of purchasing the asset carried out (or resulted from instructions given) by the NATO
Reporting Entity.

The legal title is in the name of the NATO Reporting Entity.

The asset is physically located on the premises or locations used by the NATO Reporting Entity.

The asset is physically used by staff employed by the NATO Reporting Entity or staff working under
the NATO Reporting Entity's instructions.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide on an alternative use of the asset.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity can decide to sell or to dispose the asset.

The fact that the NATO Reporting Entity, if it has to remove or destroy the asset, can take the decision
to replace it.

The fact that a representative of the NATO Reporting Entity regularly inspects the asset to determine
its current condition.

The fact that the asset is used in achieving the objectives of the NATO Reporting Entity.

The fact that the asset will be retained by the NATO Reporting Entity at the end of the activity.

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow:

Category Threshold Basis

Consumables €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Spare Parts €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Ammunition €50,000 Per location/warehouse
Strategic stocks €50,000 Per location/warehouse

Slow moving inventory — Assuming turnover of stock is over a 12 month period, any items not used
over a 36 month period will be deemed to be slow moving.

Strategic stock — Some complex elements of slow moving stock can be identified as strategic if they
are deemed essential to the effective operation of an asset and cannot be readily replaced by
commercial off the shelf items or cannot be purchased due to market decisions to close production lines
of key inventory items due to the advanced age of the strategic asset to which the stock relates

The NNHQ Project will capitalise inventory which it controls in its financial statements. Where there is
a conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of inventory, only the end-
user entity will report the inventory in its financial statements, based on reliable information provided by
the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two entities.

The NNHQ Project will include transportation costs involved in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition in the initial valuation of inventory. These costs will be measured on the actual
cost of transportation per item of inventory or by using an apportionment of the global transportation
costs of bringing the inventories to their present location and condition across all inventory items in the
period. Transportation costs involved in the subsequent movement of inventory which brings them into
operational use will not be included in the value of inventory. The method of measuring these costs will
be disclosed.

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation shall apply. For the
remainder, IPSAS 12 shall apply.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 12 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented. The value of NNHQ inventories is immaterial both in value and in terms of the nature of
the items held. Consequently, inventory is fully expensed when goods are received.

Non-Current Assets (Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangible Assets)

2012 was the first year during which construction works related to the nationally funded elements were
performed. These works are recognized as non-current assets (PPE: Property, Plant and Equipment)
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held on behalf of third parties, at least during the construction period. The reasoning stems from a
number of factors. The NHQ building constitutes a coherent and global building whose purpose is to
bring together member nations in order to enable an efficient and effective consultation process. This
situation whereby dedicated National Representations are present on site is very specific to NATO and
does not really exist in other comparable international organizations. The member nations are not
considered, from a legal perspective, as having direct property rights on the parts of the building
corresponding to their own delegation premises, but rather having an exclusive right of use. In this
respect the different funding cost shares cannot be deemed a factor justifying a specific accounting
treatment. The situation also carries certain restrictions, such as the inability to execute works affecting
or altering the basic structure of the building, and to sell their premises. Additionally, at this stage of
the project it is difficult to accurately distinguish the value between these common and nationally funded
components. However, their inclusion provides useful and clear information which contributes to
financial transparency.

This does not preclude that in the future, an ability to limit physical access will exist, which could then
justify an exclusion from NATO PPE. Until then, as currently, commaon funded and nationally funded
construction works will be managed as a single project. At this point, and from an accounting
standpoint, the fact remains that the economic benefit or the service potential is measured by the
contribution to consensus building and therefore it cannot be separated from NATO's
purpose. Therefore, this would not justify a separate accounting treatment until such a time as the
building is operational and the related building parts are handed over to the nations concerned. It
should be noted that this approach does not apply to the national fit-out segment, for which four nations
have decided to act separately. The impact on previous years' financial statements is not material as
no related works had been performed and therefore no fixed assets were recognised.

NATO's adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
17 Property Plant and Equipment. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO PPE was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level of control
of an asset — they are the same as mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on six of the
criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the capitalization
threshold.

Capitalization thresholds relevant to the financial statement are as follow:

Category Threshold Depreciation life Method
Land €200,000 N/A N/A
Buildings €200,000 40 years Straight line
Other infrastructure €200,000 40 years Straight line
Installed equipment € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Machinery € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Vehicles € 10,000 5 years Straight line
Aircraft €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line
Vessels €200,000 Dependent on type Straight line
Mission equipment € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Furniture € 30,000 10 years Straight line
Communications € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Automated information € 50,000 3 years Straight line
Systems

In the case of the New NATO Headquarters Project to date PPE is work in progress. Depreciation will
start after acceptance of the completed work.

The principles of valuing and depreciating fixed assets are the following:
Buildings are shown at fair value based on internal valuations at the reporting date. Valuation is done

based on judgment using the best available information from relevant sources. With regard to land on
which the buildings are erected, see note on Leases.
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All other non-current assets, Property, Plant and Equipment {PPE) and intangible assets are recorded
at their historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 17 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented. Although the adaptation to IPSAS allows one to consider PPE acquired prior to 1
January 2013 as fully expensed, it was decided not to do so. amounts considered as PPE work in
progress prior to 1 January 2013 remain capitalized in the interest of disclosing relevant and complete
infermation regarding the value of the future NNHQ.

Intangible Assets:

NATQ's adaptations of IPSAS were spelled out in C-M(2013)0039 of July 2013, which included IPSAS
31 Intangible Assets. It is described as follows:

Control of NATO Intangible Assets was refined with a set of 10 criteria to be used in assessing the level
of control of an asset — they are the same as mentioned above under Inventory. A positive response on
six of the criteria will lead to the asset being capitalized in the Financial Statements if it is above the
capitalization thresheld. This is applied from January, 2013.

NATO Intangible Assets Capitalization Thresholds - the NNHQ Project will capitalize each intangible
asset item that is above the following agreed NATO thresholds:

Category Threshold Depreciation life Method
Computer software (commercial €50,000 4 years Straight line
off the shelf)

Computer software (bespoke) €50,000 10 years Straight line
Computer database €50,000 4 years Straight line
Integrated system €50,000 4 years Straight line

The NNHQ Project will capitalize all controlled intangible assets above the NATO Intangible Asset
Capitalization Threshold. For anything below the threshold, the NNHQ will have the flexibility to expense
specific items.

The NNHQ Project will capitalize integrated systems and include research, development,
implementation and can include both software and hardware elements. But the NNHQ Project will not
capitalise the following types of intangible assets in their financial statements:

rights of use(air, land and water);
tanding rights;

airport gates and slots;

historical documents; and,
publications

The NNHQ Project will capitalize other types of intangible assets acquired after 1 January 2013
including:

o Copyright
» Intellectual Property Rights
» Software development

The NNHQ may consider Intangible Assets acquired prior to 1 January 2013 as fully expensed.
The NNHQ Project will report controlled Intangible assets in its financial statements. Where there is a

conflict between more than one NATO Reporting Entity as to the control of intangible assets, only the
end-use entity will capitalize the intangible asset in its financial statements based on reliable information
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provided by the NATO services provider entity as defined in individual agreements between the two
entities.

Where this adaptation conflicts with another requirement of IPSAS this adaptation will apply. For the
remainder, IPSAS 31 shall apply. This adaptation is effective for financial reporting periods beginning
on 1 January 2013.

The introduction of this adaptation to IPSAS 31 has no impact on the way these financial statements
are presented.

Impairment of fixed assets:

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are reviewed forimpairment if events or changes of circumstances
indicate that they may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the impairment loss. Any provision for impairment losses is
charged against the Statement of Financial Position {during the construction process) in the year
concerned.

Current liabilities
Payables

Payables are amounts due to Nations in relation with budget rules and services provided, or to third
parties based on goods received or services provided they remain unpaid. This includes an estimate of
accrued obligations to third parties for goods and services received but not yet invoiced.

Payables due to Nations include in particular the surplus as per the NATO Financial Regulations. In
authorizing the New NATO Headquarters Project budget, Nations agreed that it would be a special
budget extending over several years. Nations agreed that financial closure would take place only when
the Project has been fully realised. Consequently, it was agreed that credits and the refundable surplus
can be maintained with the entity until the Project's completion {C-M(2000)36). Amounts which would
have been normally returned to contributing Nations in the framework of the standard NATO Financial
Regulations’ provisions — such as net interest earned, miscellaneous receipts, lapsed credits,
accumulated surplus - remain on the entity's accounts.

Funds Managed for Third Parties (National Funds)

Funds managed on behalf of third parties (National Funds) are held in cash or as a receivable if they
correspond to an unpaid non-budgetary contribution in relation to nationally funded elements. In case
of an anticipated/voluntary contribution, they are accounted for when cash is effectively received. The
corresponding amounts are presented as a current liability under funds managed for third parties
{national funds).

As a consequence of the recognition of the nationally funded elements as Project's non-current assets,
contributions called from the Nations with regard to the nationally funded elements are treated in a way
comparable to that of budgetary contributions. Amounts called and amounts not converted to unearned
revenue, which fund the related works, are included as liabilities under funds managed for third parties.
The uncollected amount appears as a receivable.

Advances and Unearned Revenue

Unearned Revenue represents participating Nations' contributions related to approved annual budgets
that have not yet been recognised as revenue in the absence of matching expenses, but which have
been called for current common funded budgets and for nationally funded construction works. Funds
are called in advance of requirements because the New NATO Headquarters Project has no capital
that would allow it to pre-finance any of its activities.

Advances are contributions called related to future years' budgets. Voluntary advances made by
outside of the call for contributions process are accounted as funds managed for third parties.
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Revenue and expense recognition

All the costs incurred under the New NATO Headquarters Project since its inception, except those
related to the Transition Office, qualify to be capitalized as PPE Work in Progress. This includes
personnel and operating costs. The matching budget resources provided by Nations to fund these
Works in Progress are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position as Long Term
Unearned Revenue. No revenue is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance, except for
the part attributable to the Transition Office.

The task of the Transition Office is to plan and execute the transition from the current NATO HQ to the
new NATO HQ. Its purpose is to transform the way NATO HQ operates to make best use of the facilities
and technologies in the new NATO HQ; to relocate staff, NATO agencies and national delegations; and
to return the current NATO HQ campus to Belgium. Transition Office related costs consist mainly in
salaries of its staff, and at this stage in consultancy services on best ways to conduct the operations in
the new building. It is therefore considered that they do not fulfil the criteria set by IPSAS 17 to qualify
as directly attributable costs of the asset under construction. As a consequence Transition Office costs
should be expended rather than capitalized.

in the future, after the transfer of the building to the NATO International Staff, earned revenue will be
progressively recognised from this long term unearned revenue, in an amount equal to annual
depreciation of the related PPE, Intangible Assets etc. of the building, as future economic benefits and
service potential will flow to the NATO International Staff when the building is operational.

Non-budgetary contributions called from Nations corresponding to the nationally funded construction
works are treated as Long Term Unearned Revenue in an amount equal to the estimation of works
completed.

Revenue from exchange and non-exchange transactions

There is no revenue from exchange transactions, as the contributions by Nations are based on a fixed
cost-share of reimbursable costs for the construction of the New NATO Headquarters Project. They are
considered as a liability for long term unearned revenue funding assets in progress.

NOTE 3: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The current bank accounts are held in EUR. Deposits are held in interest-bearing bank current
accounts, immediately available.

Derogations to NATO Financial Regulations were approved by the Council (C-M(2000)36 and
BC-D(2000)20). In particular paragraphs 4.4 of the latter document introduce flexible arrangements for
national contributions to allow Nations to make anticipated contributions. No ceiling is applicable to the
amount of cash holdings other than what is needed for the project.

NOTE 4: CASH MANAGED FOR THIRD PARTIES

To meet the Project's payment for the fit-out and nationally funded elements under the NSIP rules and
procedures, the IS Office of Financial Control has opened bank accounts in the names of NATO
member Nations. Interest earned is credited to the specific bank account of the Nation concerned.
These are extra-budgetary funds belonging to the Nations concerned. Separate contribution calls are
made for the fit-out and for nationally funded parts of the Project. The planning foresees that the Nations
make payments in advance of the quarterly payment request. A matching liability is posted against the
amount of cash held on behalf of the Nations concerned and of the amount of uncollected related
contributions called for what concerns the nationally funded construction works.

These funds also include an amount of EUR 29,358,271.59 (EUR 31,232,576.91 end 2014) relating to
anticipated contributions made by two nations.

There are also funds from Eurocontrol as their contribution to works for a secure pedestrian access
between their headquarters and the NNHQ site EUR 1,845.77 (EUR 236,019.68 end 2014).
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The total amount of cash held at the end of the year on the specific bank accounts of the nations or
entities concerned may not match the value of funds held on behalf of the third parties because of
voluntary advances made on the bank account for Common Funded operations, or of contributions not
received on the appropriate bank account, etc. The breakdown of these bank accounts by country and
entity is the following.

FUNDS MANAGED FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THIRD PARTIES
Bank Balances at Year End

end 2015 end 2014
US MISSION FUNDS EUR 16,703,274.17 | 30,579,230.39
ALBANIANEW SITE DEL EUR 326,598.85 218,106.00
BELGIUMNEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 6,562,078.07 401,561.40
BULGARIANEW SITE DELL F.Q. EUR 556,988.92 667,847.72
CANADANEW SITE DEL EUR 482,666.41 329,588.43
CROATIANEW SITE DEL EUR 774,099.01 291,810.28
CZECH REP.NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 501,452.99 536,977.84
DENMARK NEW SITEDEL F.O. EUR 797,539.87 227,125.59
ESTONIANEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 338,762.45 395,850.75
FRANCE NEW SITE DEL EUR 604,755.04 329,176.36
GERMANY NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 042,255.68 637,150.91
GREECE NEWSITE DEL F.O. EUR 688,222.94 459,567.30
HUNGARY NEW SITE DEL. F.O. EUR 494 411.49 535,232.59
ICELAND NEWSITEDEL F.O. EUR 121,298.66 97,819.33
ITALY NEW SITE DEL F.Q. EUR 13,225,230.05 630,859.47
LATVIANEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 1,034,361.61 1,676,742.76
LATVANEWHQ EUR 654,997.42 653,346.52
LITHUANIANEW SITE DEL. F.O. EUR 429,354.53 482,050.06
LUXEMBOURG NEWSITE DEL F.O, EUR 202,808.15 218,976.45
NETHERLANDS NEW SITE F.O. EUR 557,741.99 375,267.57
NORWAY NEW SITE DEL F.Q. EUR 569,558.53 610,049.98
POLAND NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 629,628.30 422,762.24
PORTUGAL NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 538,558.66|  343,438.59
ROMANIA NEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 566,828.16 525,106.57
SLOVAKIA NEW SITE DEL. F.O. EUR 49954592 399,638.26
SLOVENIANEW SITE DEL F.O. EUR 43543917 189,677.97
SPAIN NEWSITEDEL F.O. EUR 566,537.23 379,293.39
TURKEY NEW SITE DEL F.Q. EUR 795,978.83 715,109.76
U.K. NEW SITE DEL EUR 481,330.35 323,216.19
U.S.A. NEW SITE DEL EUR 3,729,314.35 2,781,367.49
NHQ EUROCONTROL EUR 1,945.77 236,019.68
NEWHQ FIT-OUT EUR 3,718.12 2,280.00

TOTAL EUR 54,817,281.69| 46,672,248.04
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NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Contributions receivable from member Nations amount to EUR 1,001,210.15 (EUR 23,366,723.83 end
2014) are funds requested from the Nations to finance the Common Funded Budget, the Nationally
Funded component and the Fit-Out. One Call was issued in January 2015 (FC(CC)(2015)0001(NHQ-
CF-NF-01} conceming the Common Funded component in a total amount of EUR 153,489,938.
Another call was issued in January 2015 (FC(CC)(2015)0001{NHQ-CF-NF-01) in a total amount of EUR
36,474,265 (EUR 21,211,531 for construction and EUR 15,033,790 for Fit-Out 2015 and a revision to
Fit-Qut 2014 of EUR 228,944).

Other Receivables from Nations concern amounts due for other cases than contributions to the NNHQ
budget or nationally funded elements.

Other Receivables relate to miscellaneous amounts due to the Project (e.g. reimbursement of operating
costs, insurance claims, advances to staff for education allowances etc.).

NOTE 6: PREPAYMENTS

Receivables from the PMT relate to advance payments made to the PMT which are not reguiarised at
year end as they do not correspond to works completed. The terms of the MOU prevent the Host Nation
from prefinancing any aspect of the Project. On a cash basis, at year end 2015, PMT held
EUR 20,569,321 received from NHQPO as advance payments (EUR 40,082,085 at year end 2014).
On an accruals basis, including provisions, taking into account amounts due by PMT, the net advance
to be regularised amounted to EUR 13,315,682.69 (EUR 36,143,185.27 at year end 2014).

Similarly, at year end 2015, NHQPO has advanced funds to the NCIA in an amount of
EUR 14,848,460.61 (EUR 1,281,979.98 at year end 2014) on an accruals basis.

Prepayments to suppliers (i.e. other than the two Host Nations mentioned above) amounted to
EUR 14,117.30 at year end 2015.

Prepayments 2015 2014 Variance
PMT Common Funded 9,382,131.00 | 26,261,404.58 |- 16,879,273.58
PMT Nationally Funded 3,9323,551.69 9,881,780.69 |- 5,948,229.00

NCIA 14,848,460.61 1,281,979.98 | 13,566,480.63
Sub-Total Host Nations | 28,164,143.30 | 37,425,165.25 |- 9,261,021.95
Suppliers 14,117.30 - 14,117.30
TOTAL 28,178,260.60 | 37,425,165.25 |- 9,246,904.65

NOTE 7: NON-CURRENT ASSETS

As of 31 December 2015, the costs charged as PPE Work in Progress amounted to EUR 716,953,989.
This overall amount covers the common funded PPE, and the nationally funded construction works held
on behalf of the member Nations which at this stage of the project are considered not separable from
the overall amount of fixed assets.

The following table reconciles PPE amounts at the beginning and at the end of 2015.
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. Carrying Amount . X Other |Camying Amount
{amounts in EUR) and 2014 Additions Disposals | Depreciation Changes end 2015

[ COMMON FUNDED
Personnel (chapler 1} 16,735,689 2,099,975 18,835,664
Qperating Costs (chapter 2) 27,162,632 10,173,352 37,335,984
Professional fees {chapter 3) 107,928,470 9,020,274 116,949,744
Works (chapler 4) 349,297,777| 116,220,184 465,517,971
Special Equipment {chapter 5) 161,928 486,252 648,180
SUB-TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 501,287,496| 138,000,046 1] 0 04 639,287,542
NATIONALLY FUNDED 0
Works 55,718,218] 21,948,229 77,666,447
SUB-TCTAL NATIONALLY FUNDED 55,718,218| 21,948,229 0 0 0 77,666,447
TOTAL i 557,005,714] 159,948,275| 0| 1] ol 716,953,989

The following table reconciles the ANWI Assets amounts at the beginning and at the end of 2015 (and

of 2014).

A Carrying Amount - . . Other |Camying Amount

(amounts in EUR} end 2014 Additions Disposals | Depreciation Changes end 2015

COMMON FUNDED
Personnel (chapter 1) 0 0 0
Operating Costs (chapter 2) 0 0 0
Professional fees (chapter 3) 10,392,278 241,288 10,633,566
Works (chapter 4) 0 0 0
Special Equipment (chapter 5) 8,067,542 11,902,511 19,970,053
TOTAL COMMON FUNDED 18,459,820 12,143,799 0 0 0 30,603,619

A series of contracts have been entered into in relation to non-current assets, mainly by the PMT and
the NCIA as Host Nations, and for smaller amounts by NHQPO. The main open contractual
commitments, excluding non-works related contracts with a short term (such as for security and guard
services), are the following.

The main construction contract was let in June 2010, at the price set in January 2010 of approximately
MEUR 360 (MEUR 438 including National Funding). This base price does not include adjustments for
price revisions. Further to a claim introduced end 2013 and settled in 2014, an agreement was reached
to pay additional MEUR 85 and an extension of the construction period of 4.5 months.

The Concept Design Team contract was transferred to the PMT and has an LTPB planned cost of
MEUR 89.045, with no impact by the claim.

The PMT awarded in 2013, the contract for the Electronic Security System in an amount of MEUR 14.9
(2013 value). The 4.5 month extension agreed with the general construction contractor implied an
estimated EUR 1.540 million additional cost. Regarding the contract for the Audio Visual Infrastructure
in an initial amount of MEUR 26.4 (2013 value), an estimated additional costs of MEUR 1.280 was
agreed o compensate the 4.5 months delay.

In 2013, NCIA awarded the contract for the Active Netwark Infrastructure in the amount of MEUR 79.766
and MEUR 2.010 for Independent Validation and Verification Services. In order to achieve savings a
reduction in scope of KEUR 500 was agreed by the DPRC and an estimated additional cost of MEUR
1.500 was agreed to compensate the 4.5 months delay.

Contracts were awarded by NHQPO for Furniture Supply (MEUR 8.9) and for Business Data and
Applications Migration (MEUR 4.1).

The MOU between NATO and the Host Nation provides that management fees (National Administrative
Expenses, NAE) equal to 3% of the works will be paid (LTFPB total amount: MEUR 21.271}.
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NOTE 8: PAYABLES

Project Accumulated Surplus resulting from previous years’ budget execution, which amounted to
EUR 13,339,622.00 end 2013, remained until then in the entity's accounts in accordance with the
specific budget funding rules approved by Nations, according to which surpluses are not returned to
contributing Nations before the completion of the project.

This amount can be broken down into the following components:

cumulative amounts since the beginning of the project until 2013)

lapsed credits (including frozen) 12,213,702.50
net overcall (minus = undercall) -4,588,528.69
interest earned 5,700,330.32
miscellaneous income 14,117.87
Total 13,339,622.00

When assessing the funding impact of the settlement of the claim with the contractor and related
additional costs, Nations decided to use the surplus as of end 2013 and to allocate it as a resource in
order to reduce contributions to be called in this respect. As a consequence, end 2014, the surplus
available from previous years was nil.

The table below summarizes the evolution of unused funds since the inception of the Project:

{amounts in EUR}

Budgrt Called Ure ofrevious Undercilled Lapsed credits | #rozen credits ST Interests earned | Misezllanecus | TOTAL SURPLUS
Autharipatlan wesdi’ surplus uhuted funds

{a} (b} (3] {dsfa)-to}-{c} {e} { {gl={d}+ e)efi} {h] {i} {)=fgi+in)ofl)-f e}

2000 643,783 70, 43,283 70 a.00 .00 204,307.89 0.00] 204,307.89 a.q0 42.00| 04,30789
2001 3,933,128.24 3,719,85555 0.00 -303,172.69 1,265,094 73 .00 1,061,322.04 25,126.17 0.00 1,086,94821
2002 8,300,600.00 7,009,344.00 .00 =1,791,156.00 1,696,187 11 4,013,000.00 4,417,931.11 13351275 21161 4,551,655.47
2003 2,932,000.00; 2,932,000.00 0.00) 1.402526.02 a.00 140251602 186,678.5% 1,468.05 1,550,67266
2004 3,237,600.00]  3,237,600.00 0.00 §51,271.08 0.00 851,273.08 161,479.13 ooo|  1,002,75220
2005 9,453,000.00)  5,359,000.00 -3,004,000.00 486,836.12 000 -2.607,163.68 111,371.00 ooo| -2,38579168
2006 19,297,936.00 19,297 936.00 0.00) 155,186.50 0.00 155,186 50 146,486.45 7,167.96 30882091
2007 | ao,716097.00] a0,716097.00 0.00 654.15 0.00 65415 616,481.57 0.00 §17,137.72
008 15,833,500.00] 15,833,%00.00 0.00 5853298 0.00 5553298 1,556,979.64 .00 161551262
2009 12,104,500.00] 12,104,500.00 .00 270,459.93 0.00 270,459.93 11192235 it 483,419.38
2010 38,701,000.00 38,701,000.00 0.00) 62,314.59 .00 62,314,589 197,105.21 5,233.15 364,65295
2011 72,013,000.00 72,023,000.00 oo 1,747,329.20 0.00 1,747,319.20 84454756 0.00) 159187676
2012 | 107,052,000.00| 107,052,000.00 .00 0.00 0.00 0.00 930,772 14 0.00 930,722.14
2013 [ ¥18,421,373.00| 118421,323.00 1.00) 0.00 0.00 0.00 361,915 77 adao 36191537
2014 | 235572.717.00] 226.233095.00 .00 0.0a 0.00 D00/ 128,391.68 1,172.04] -11,110,053.28
TOTAL| B92,222,00494)| 674,193934.25) 13,339.622.00|- 4,58852859 8,200,702.50 4,013,000.00| 7,625,173.81 $,928,722.00 1528991 219,563.72

The National Funds item corresponds to funds managed on behalf of Nations outside of the standard
call for Common Funded budgetary contributions process. They are the counterpart of specific
contributions from Nations to meet the Project's payment for the fit-out, for nationally funded elements,
and of voluntary advances towards future common funded budgets. They are matched with cash held
on specific bank accounts, cash held for common funding when voluntary advances were made and
with receivables related to nationally funded elements.

An amount of EUR 903,947 (EUR 556,685.00 end 2014) was payable to Nations for the Construction
Surveillance Technical Team relating to reimbursement to those Nations who provided personnel to the
Team during financial year 2014 or before. Most of those Nations have opted for direct payment, one
has opted for deductions from its contributions.

A payable of EUR 1,437,652.07 (EUR 1,310,942.00 end 2014} is in relation to the reimbursable salaries
due to the United States for a civilian staff member who is paid directly by the United States government.
This amount is partially used by the United States by applying it against its annual Project contribution.

Other Payables include EUR 1,347 .68 left form an initial EUR 235,000 contribution made by Eurocontrol
for works between their headquarters and the NNHQ and related interest as per agreement.
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NOTE 9: UNEARNED REVENUE AND ADVANCES RELATED TO THE BUDGETARY PROCESS
Unearned Revenue from Budgetary Credits

Unearned Revenue from budgetary credits corresponds to contributions called in relation to approved
budgets up to 2015 but for which corresponding expenses will be incurred after the reporting date of 31
December 2015. The Unearned Revenue includes principally those amounts of contributions which will
be spentin subsequent years on the New NATO Headquarters Project budget as credits carried-forward
resulting from the budget execution in accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations and advances
made to the PMT and the NCIA.

Advances Related to the Budgetary Process

Up to 2013 there were no such as advances received as there had not been calls for advance budgetary
contributions. However, when setting up the funding framework related to the settlement of the claim
introduced end 2013, it was agreed that Nations could opt for providing funding beyond what was
needed for the part corresponding to the 2014 budget. This has resulted in EUR 20,768,632 being
called. Further to the allocation of these amounts to the call issued in 2015 and to an additional
contribution, the open amount end 2015 was EUR 8,378,587.20.

NOTE 10: PROVISIONS
Provisions relate to design fees.

Concerning design fees, the provision relates to additional studies andfor modifications done by the
CDT in 2009, at the request of the PMT. An original estimate was made for EUR 2 million concerning
2009. Further to various settlements and minor adjustments the related provision is currently assessed
at EUR 1.000 million.

A provision was booked in 2013, in relation to the claim introduced by the general construction
contractor end 2013. The claim was settled end 2014 and related provision is no longer required. The
negotiations conducted by PMT resulted in an overall agreement of EUR 87,253,982 - covering past
and future expenses - which was funded by Nations through an adjustment of the Long Term
Programme Budget requiring a specific call for contributions issued end 2014.

NOTE 11: LONG TERM UNEARNED REVENUE

This revenue corresponds to the contributions, budgetary and non-budgetary, that funded fixed assets
work in progress.

For common funded PPE and Intangible Assets, the amount originates from budget contributions.
Funding provided for the nationally funded elements matching completed related works is also
considered long term unearned revenue during the construction period. A specific accounting treatment
may have to be determined when the related building parts are operational and the corresponding
assets are transferred to the national delegations.

NOTE 12: REVENUE

Budgetary revenue is matched to recognised expenses relating to the activities of the Transition Office.

Any interest gained is attributed to the funding of the construction itself and is therefore not recognised
in the statement of financial performance.

NOTE 13: EXPENSES

The only expenses recognised are those related to the Transition Office. They consist mainly of the
salaries of staff, administrative expenses and miscellaneous consultancy studies conducted in order to
optimize the use of the future building. Consultancy services KEUR 204 (KEUR 946 in 2014) are

NATO UNCLASSIFIED
7-14



NATO UNCLASSIFIED

7-18 ANNEX 7 to
FC(2016)076-REV1

included under the item “salaries” to be consistent with the budget breakdown, which explains the
decrease from 2014 to 2015 (Transition Office staffing remaining almost unchanged).

Banking costs are not recognised as expenses but are deducted from interests earned.
NOTE 14: NET RESULT OF THE PERIOD

Given that revenue stemming from budgetary resources is recognised in an equal amount to expenses,
the result of the year is nil.

NOTE 15: CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement is presented following the indirect method.

NOTE 16: BUDGET INFORMATION AND RECONCILIATION WITH CASH FL.OWS
Presently, NATO budgets are not publicly available.

Presentation of budget information in the financial statements

Besides NATO Financial Regulations and Financial Rules and Procedures as well as elements of the
NSIP procedure, the New NATO Headquarters Project is governed by the following:

Project Authorization to Ministry of Defense BE: C-M(2007)0076-AS1,

MOU between Ministry of Defense BE and NATO: SG(2004)1220-REV4,

CDT Contract signed between Belgium and CDT in December 2004 (PMT responsibility),
Council derogation to NATO Financial Regulations {C-M(2000)36) and Budget Committee
derogation to NFR (BC-DS(2007)0005). The derogation concerns, in particular, committed, or
to be committed credits, which may be carried forward until the closure of the Project; the only
limitations to cash holdings being the actual funding requirements.

cooop

There are three types of funding:

- NATO Common Funding (CF) for Commeon Infrastructure requirements: based on an approved
Cost Sharing Formula specific to the New NATO HQ Project (SG(99)1707, C-M(2004)0061 and
BC-D(2008)0008-ADDH1).

- National Funding (NF) for Construction of Private Space of Delegations: calculated on the basis
of actual ‘'shell and core’ costs based on the number of gross square meters of occupied space,

- National Funding for Fit-Out of Delegations: based on actual costs to fit-out the occupied space
of each Delegation.

The initial budget in NATO corresponds to the credits that are initially authorised by the North Atlantic
Council annually at the end of the previous financial year. During the year the budget is adjusted as
required. The final authorisation is the credit situation as reported at the end of the financial year
including approved budgetary increases/decreases and transfers approved by the IS Financial
Controller (between Chapters of the New NATO HQ budget up to 5% of the credits initially granted for
the receiving chapter) or by the Budget Committee.

There are two types of credits: Cash Credits (CC) are approved credits against which payments can be
made during the budget year; Contract Authority Credits (CA) are approved credits to enter into a legal
obligation for multi-year contracts. No payment may be made against CA prior to its conversion into
cC.

The New NATO Headquarters Project 2015 initial budget authorization, for the Common Funded part,
amounted to EUR 153,489,938, in addition, an amount of EUR 128,727,524.35 related to credits carried
over from the previous financial years. The National Funding component for 2015 was approved in the
amount of EUR 21,211,531, The Fit-Out programme was established at EUR 15,033,790,
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It should be noted that the credits approved for 2015, as for previous budget years, do not correspond
to the full extent of the annual costs, including for Salaries and Operations and Maintenance. Credits
carried forward from previous years were used, with the agreement of Nations, to fund 2015
commitments and expenses.

Budget execution statements for 2015 and 2014 are provided at Annex 5 and Annex 6.
The LTPB 2016-2018 (DPRC-D(2015)0001) is shown in Addendum 1 at the end of these notes.
Reconciliation of the Budget Execution Statement and the Cash Flow Statement

The budget is prepared for the same period (1 January to 31 December) and encompasses the same
entity as these financial statements but the basis and the presentation format are different.

The New NATO HQ Project budget is prepared and executed on a commitment basis. The commitment
of credits is the advance acceptance and recording of the financial consequence resulting from a legal
cbligation incurred during the financial year. Unliquidated commitments are carried forward and added
to the budget of the following financial year to the extent of existing legal liabilities or if a special
agreement is given by the Budget Committee. The balance of unused budgetary credits (not
committed) lapses but is not returned to nations at year-end, in accordance with the derogation agreed
by the NAC.

The budget classification is based on the economic nature of the expenses broken down into five
chapters as follows:

Chapter I Personnel Expenses
Chapter Il Operating Expenses
Chapter Il intellectual Services
Chapter IV: Pemolition/Construction Works

Chapter V. Special Equipment

However, in these financial statements all costs, with the exception of those relating to the Transition
Office, are considered as investing activities.

The New NATO HQ budget, like all the other NATO budgets, contains budget chapters and items
corresponding to capital expenditure. The latter result in increases of non-current assets (essentially
PPE) and in changes to the level of advances made to the Host Nations given the specific operating
model of the NNHQ Project concerning the construction of the building and its IT systems. All budget
expenses related to the Host Nations are, in practice, advances. Prepayments to suppliers, in the
context of the standard accounts payable process, are not taken into account for the purpose of this
reconciliation. Concerning the budget execution statement, it must be noted that the approved budget
concerns exclusively the Common Funded component of the building. The Nationally Funded
component is not strictly speaking a budget (see below) but the execution of its expenses in a quasi-
budget context does result in increases of the related non-current assets and changes in related cash
advances to the Host Nations. Also, carried forward credits, in the case of the NNHQ Project,
correspond to unused funds (see Council derogation above); only budget expenses have a financial
impact. As a consequence the reconciliation of the budget execution statement should be made
between the budget expenses on one side, and, on the other side, the statement of financial
performance, changes in the level of non-current assets and of advances to Host Nations, taking into
account the distinction between the Common Funded and the Nationally Funded components. Such is
the purpose of the table below. It shows that an absolute reconciliation could not be made by an amount
of EUR 13,639 which corresponds to un-identified cut-off issues between 2014, 2015 and 2016 financial
years and to the impact of issues encountered in the context of the first year of implementation of the
ERP.

The item “Other Elements” corresponds to adjustments that have to be made to take into account the
following cases: - EUR 695,124 of security services incurred during 2015 were capitalized in 2015 but
wrongly allocated against the 2016 budget.

The table below reconciles the budget execution with statement of financial performance,
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Reconciliation of Budget Execution to Financial Performance

BUDGET EXECUTION Common funded Nationally Funded Total

Total Budget {including carried-forward from previous year) {a) 282,217,462.35 16,000,000.06 298,217,462.35
Credits Carried Forward in Following Year {b} 134,644,270.48 0.00 134,644,270.48
Budget Execution Expenses {c} =(a-b) 147,573,191.87 16,000,000.00. 163,573,191.87
RECONCILIATION Common Funded Nationally Funded Total

Financial Performance Expenses (excluding financial costs) (d} 1,450,902.56 1,450,502.56
Increase in Non-Current Assets {e) 150,143,845.00 21,948,22900 172,092,074.00
Change Increase (Decrease] in Advances to Host Mations (f -3,312,792.95 -5,948,229.00  -9,261,021.95
Other Eiements (g -695,124.00 -695,124.00
Sub-Total {h)}={d+e+f+g) 147,586,830.61 16,000,000.00 163,586,830.61!
Difference to Budget Expenses {c-h) -13,638.74 0.00 -13,638.7d|

Nationally Funded Component

Although not considered as a common funded budget, specific amounts are approved for the nationally
funded component (excluding Fit-Out). Related expenses are apportioned using physical criteria (such
as surface, number of parking spaces) rather than the cost-shares applicable to the Common Funded
Component. The table below compares the cumulative approved amounts, related advances to the
PMT and accrued expenses.

Nationally Funded component
{amounts in EUR})

Upto2012| 2013 2014 J 2015 | Cumulative
Approved Amounts | 37,790,467 12,756,605 25,327,510] 21,211,531] 97,086,113
Cash advances 12,000,000( 27,099,999( 26,500,000] 16,000,000] 81,599,999
Expenses 11,423,370( 22,126,329( 22,168,519] 21,948,229| 77,666,447

Operations related to the Fit-Out of national delegations are not executed in the context of a budget
framework; they result in outflows of cash to the PMT for settlement of related invoices.

NOTE 17: WRITE-OFFS
Nothing to report.
NOTE 18: LEASES

Belgium has granted to NATO by way of concession a plot of land on which NATO is authorized to erect
all necessary buildings and facilities related to the NATO New Headquarters Project. The annual fee is
EUR 250. NATO is the full owner of all constructions made. Belgium remains the sole and full owner
of the land, which is military public domain. The concession ends 180 days after NATQO has left the
buildings and facilities. In such case, if Belgium would decide to use the building and facilities, it shall
pay a fair indemnity to NATO. If Belgium would decide to demolish them, it will not be obliged to pay
an indemnity to NATO neither will NATO have to contribute to demolition costs. At the end of the
concession, there would be no property rights transferred to NATO. As a consequence, given the
indefinite economic fife of land and the specific nature of concessions, the use of the land is classified
as an operational lease.

The New NATO Headquarters Project does not have any financial leases.
NOTE 19: RESTRICTIONS ON FIXED ASSETS

There are no restrictions on fixed assets.
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NOTE 20: CONTINGENCY CREDITS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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NOTE 21: CONTINGENT ASSETS
Nothing to report.
NOTE 22: EMPLOYEE DISCLOSURE

Accounting for employee benefits is accounting for any liability in relation to all forms of consideration
given by an entity in exchange of service rendered by employees.

At 31 December 2015, New NATO Headquarters Project Office had an approved Personnel
Establishment of 24 positions (23 for 2014) funded by its budget, of which one was vacant end 2015.
Seven positions related to the Transition Office. For administrative and project management purposes
the post of Building Z Project Manager is attached to the HQPO but has a specific funding mechanism
with no impact on the New NATO Headquarters project.

The NATO-IS centrally manages three pension programs, namely the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme
{DBPS), the Provident Fund and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme {DCPS), as well as the
Retiree Medical Claims Fund (RMCF)}, covering staff employed by all NATO bodies. NATO wide
financial statements are issued by the NATO-IS Office of Financial Control for the three Pension
Schemes and the RMCF; therefore, no related assets or liabilities are recognised in these financial
statements.

Nineteen staff members participate in the DCPS administered by NATQ. The DCPS provides that the
New NATO Headquarters Project budget makes a 12% monthly matching contribution to the staff
members’ contributions for current service. Four employees participate in the DBPS: a deduction of
9.5% of their salaries is made and contributed to the annual financing of this Plan. In addition, the New
NHQPO budget makes a monthly matching contribution to the DBPS equal to 19% of their basic
salaries, which in accordance with (BC-WP(83)3(Revised) and C-M(83)34) is deemed to provide the
necessary funds for the subsequent pensions liability of the NHQPO. These contributions are expensed
during the year in which the services are rendered and represent the total pension obligation of the
entity (find reference). Consequently, the NHQPO has neither DBPS nor DCPS liability for its staff
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members. Also, one staff member is employed on reimbursable basis with an agreement between
NATO-IS and the United States. The individual is paid and accrues pension rights under a United States

pension scheme.

The contributions for pensions paid are as follows:

2015 2014
amounts in EUR Staff Employar Total Staff Employer Total
Provident Fund - - - - - -
Co-ordinated Pension Scheme 32,657.66 | 6531532 9797298 | 34,342.93 | 68,68596 | 103,028.94
Defined Contribution Pension Scheme | 129,342.12 | 167.226.41 | 296,568.53 | 91,810.39 | 137,715.88 | 229,526.27
TOTAL 161,999.78 | 232,541.73 | 394,541,51 | 126,153.37 | 206,401.84 | 332,555.2%

Untaken leave by NHQPO staff is not considered material and is therefore not recognised.

One staff member is employed on a reimbursable basis with an agreement between NATO-IS and the
United States. The salary is paid directly by the US using national salary scales and the US is
reimbursed the costs corresponding to the grade of the post occupied by the staff member. The
individual accrues pension rights under a United States pension scheme.

NOTE 23: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Deputies Committee (DPRC) is responsible for the oversight of the New NATO HQ Project
management. The DPRC took over this responsibility from the DPRHQB which was disbanded in 2010.
Members of the DPRC are nominated by their respective Nationa! Authorities. They are paid on the
basis of applicable national pay scales. They do not receive from NATO any additional remuneration
for their responsibilities or access to benefits.

For the purposes of IPSAS 20 implementation, Key Management Personnel of New NATO HQ Project
are the Director of the NHQPO and his Deputy. They are remunerated in accordance with their
respective NATO grades, respectively A6 and A5.

There are no other remuneration or benefits to key management personnel and their family members.
Key Management Personnel are entitied to receive loans which are also available to other members of
the NATO International Staff.

NOTE 24: RELATED PARTIES

NATO Bodies

For administrative purposes the NHQPO is attached to the NATO International Staff Defense
Investment Division and the Transition Team to Executive Management Division. The Assistant
Secretary General of the Defense Investment Division chairs the DPRC when it addresses issues
related to the Project.

In 2015, NATO International Staff charged the NHQPO an amount of EUR 167,928.05 for administrative
support costs (EUR 113,290 in 2014} and EUR 7,015.19 for common operating costs (EUR 6,797.10
in 2014). The specific operating costs related to the PMT (around EUR 4,000) are absorbed by the
Civil Budget in exchange of the occupancy of the CDH building by the International Staff

The NCI Agency is the Host Nation in charge of equipping the New NATO HQ with modern and cost
effective Information and Communication Technologies solutions, to include voice, video and data
management, processing and storage through the Active Network Infrastructure (ANWI) project, for an
estimated cost of MEUR 101.027 including contingencies (5% Host Nation contingencies, 5% additional
contingencies and MEUR 11.275 ICT Programme contingencies; the two last ones are subject to DPRC
approval}.

An amount of EUR 12.116 million is approved in the LTPB for NCIA Project Service Costs for ANWI.
NCIA provided also some specific consultancy services (EUR 0.866 million approved in the LTPB).

Atthe end of financial year 2015, the position of the project towards NCIA was a net advance receivable
in an amount of MEUR 14.8 (MEUR 1.3 at year-end 2013).
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The IS acts also as a Host Nation concerning the procurement of Furniture (MEUR 20.5 in the LTPB)
and the Business Data and Applications Migration Project (MEUR 4.105 in the LTPB). The IS receives
no related remuneration fees.

Member Nations

NATO Security Investment Programme (NSIP) procedures are the management process for the New
NATO HQ. Belgium is the Host Nation for the construction, the passive network infrastructure, the
building management system, the electronic security system and audio visual infrastructure. In
exchange for this service, Belgium receives fees (National Administrative Expense (NAE) equal to 3%
of works) the total amount of which is estimated EUR 21.272 million over the duration of the project.

The DPRC agreed that Construction Surveillance Technician Team required to support the construction
project should be manned by personnel from Nations on a reimbursable basis,

Each delegation’s fit-out is the financial responsibility of the Nation concerned. Twenty four Nations
agreed to the have their delegations’ fit-out undertaken by the PMT. Specific advance contributions are
requested from the Nations concerned to cover the related costs (C-M{2006)0096). The other four
Nations have decided to have their fit-out done nationally without the intervention by the PMT.

LEE RN

List of Acronyms:

DPRC: Deputy Permanent Representatives Committee
HN: Host Nation.

IS: International Staff

LTPB: Long Term Program Budget

MOU: Memorandum of Understanding

NCIA: NATO Communication and Information Agency
NSIP: NATO Security Investment Programme

OFC: International Staff Office of Financial Control
PMT: Project Management Team

PPE: Property, Plant and Equipment
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